Role of Slitrk Family Members in Neurodevelopment

François Beaubien

Integrated Program in Neuroscience Montreal Neurological Institute McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

April 2012

A thesis dissertation submitted to the Department of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies of McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Neurological Sciences

© François Beaubien, 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	5
Résumé	6
List of figures	7
List of abbreviations	9
Acknowledgements	
Author contributions	14

Chapter 1: Literature Review

1.	General introduction	. 15
2.	Synaptogenesis	
	2.1. Historical perspective	. 16
	2.2. Example of the neuromuscular junction	. 18
	2.2.1. Comparison between nerve terminals of neuromuscular junctions and	
	central synapses	. 21
	2.3. CNS synaptogenesis	
	2.3.1. Introduction	. 22
	2.3.2. The four steps of synaptogenesis	. 24
	2.3.3. Synaptogenic proteins	. 25
	2.3.3.1. Secreted factors	
	2.3.3.1.1. Neuronally derived priming factors	. 27
	2.3.3.1.1.1. Wnt	. 27
	2.3.3.1.1.2. FGF	. 28
	2.3.3.1.2. Glial-derived priming factors	. 29
	2.3.3.1.3. Neuronal pentraxin family	. 30
	2.3.3.2. Synaptic adhesion complexes	
	2.3.3.2.1. Cadherins	. 32
	2.3.3.2.2. Nectins	. 33
	2.3.3.2.3. NCAM	. 34
	2.3.3.2.4. Neurexins and Neuroligins	. 35
	2.3.3.2.5. Tripartite complexe neurexin/Cbln1/GluRδ2	. 39
	2.3.3.2.6. Neurexins and Dystroglycans	. 40
	2.3.3.2.7. Neurexins and Neurexophilins	. 40
	2.3.3.2.8. Neurexins and LRRTMs	. 41
	2.3.3.2.9. SALMs	. 42
	2.3.3.2.10. SynCAMs	. 43
	2.3.3.2.11. NGLs	. 44
	2.3.3.2.12. Ephrins and Eph Receptors	. 46
	2.3.3.2.13. FLRTs	. 47
	2.3.3.2.14. IL1RAPL1 and IL-1RAcP	. 48
	2.3.4. Role of Leucine-Rich Repeat proteins in synaptogenesis	. 48

3.	The Slitrk family	
	3.1. Identification	9
	3.2. Genomic organization of the mouse and human Slitrks	0
	3.3. Phylogeny analysis for Slitrk1	0
	3.4. Slitrks protein structure	2
	3.5. Expression of Slitrks in the nervous system	4
	3.6. Relationship to Slits and Trks proteins	5
	3.7. Functions of the Slitrks	
	3.7.1. Slitrks and neuropsychiatric disorders	
	3.7.1.1. Tourette's syndrome	6
	3.7.1.2. Other potential implications in neuropsychiatric disorders	8
	3.7.2. Slitrks and their CNS functions	
	3.7.2.1. Early experiments with cell lines and primary neurons	0
	3.7.2.2. Interaction between Slitrk1 and the 14-3-3 proteins	0
	3.7.2.3. Characterization of Slitrks knockout mice	1
4.	Rationale and objectives	3

Chapter 2: Differential Expression of Slitrk Family Members in the Mouse

Nervous System

1.	Preface	64
2.	Abstract	
3.	Introduction	
4.	Experimental Procedures	
5.	Results	
	5.1. Specificity of the cRNA probes used in this study	
	5.2. Slitrks expression in the olfactory system	72
	5.3. Slitrks expression in the developing cerebral cortex	74
	5.4. Slitrks expression in the hippocampal region	76
	5.5. Expression of <i>Slitrk6</i> in the diencephalon	
	5.6. Slitrks expression in the cerebellum	79
	5.7. Slitrks expression in the embryonic spinal cord	
	5.8. Slitrks expression in the trigeminal ganglion	85
	5.9. Slitrks expression during eye development	
6.	Discussion	89

Chapter 3: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 Promote Excitatory Synapse Development

1.	Preface	. 91
2.	Abstract	. 92
3.	Introduction	. 92

4.	Experimental Procedures
5.	Results
	5.1. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are enriched in synaptosomal and postsynaptic density
	fractions
	5.2. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 induce presynaptic differentiation in a mixed-culture assay100
	5.3. Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in neurons induces excitatory presynaptic
	differentiation
	5.4. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 do not induce postsynaptic differentiation in a mixed-culture
	assay
	5.5. Application of Slitrk1 antibodies reduces synapse number in hippocampal
	neuron cultures110
6.	Discussion

Chapter 4: General Discussion

1.	Original contributions	
2.	Slitrks as synaptogenic proteins	
3.	Cooperativity or redundancy at the synapse	
4.	Slitrks in the molecular organization of the synapse	
5.	Mechanism of action of Slitrks at the synapse	
6.	Towards a dual function for Slitrks	
7.	Synaptic cell adhesion molecules and disorders of the nervous system	
8.	Conclusion	

References	26)
------------	----	---

ABSTRACT

The development of the nervous system is an extremely complex process where gene expression is tightly regulated, both spatially and temporally. Any gene disruption during neurodevelopment, from the complete non-transcription of the gene to a single nucleotide mutation, has the potential to lead to severe consequences in the organism. This situation is particularly well illustrated by the whole spectrum of neurological disorders affecting humans. Thanks to basic research at the gene and protein levels, some genetic causes for certain mental illness have been identified.

This thesis focuses on a novel family of proteins termed the Slitrks. Initial characterization of the Slitrk family genes revealed that their expression is enriched in the central nervous system. Herein, I have performed a detailed analysis of the patterns of expression of the six members of the family in the mouse nervous system. I demonstrate that, despite some overlapping expression, several key brain regions express different combinations of Slitrks suggesting that the different family members may have distinct functions during nervous system development. I further demonstrate that members of the Slitrk family can regulate synapse formation in hippocampal neurons. More precisely, Slitrk1 is required for the formation of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Taken together, the results presented in my thesis indicate that Slitrks play an important role in the developing nervous system.

RÉSUMÉ

Le développement du système nerveux est un processus extrêmement complexe pendant lequel l'expression des gènes est contrôlée de façon précise temporellement et localement. Durant le neurodéveloppement, chaque dérégulation génétique, de l'arrêt complet de la transcription d'un gène jusqu'à la mutation d'un seul nucléotide, a le potentiel de mener à de graves conséquences pour l'organisme. Cette situation est particulièrement bien illustrée par l'ensemble des troubles neurologiques qui affectent l'humain.

Cette thèse se concentre sur une nouvelle famille de protéines nommées Slitrks. La description préliminaire de cette famille a révélé que leur expression est enrichie dans le système nerveux central. Par conséquent, j'ai réalisé une analyse détaillée du patron d'expression des six membres de la famille dans le système nerveux de la souris. J'ai ainsi pu démontrer que malgré certains chevauchements d'expression, plusieurs régions du cerveau expriment différentes combinaisons de Slitrks. Cela laisse présager que certains membres de la famille Slitrks peuvent avoir des fonctions distinctes durant la formation du système nerveux. Au cours de mes travaux, j'ai aussi pu démontrer que les Slitrks peuvent réguler la formation des synapses dans les neurones de l'hippocampe. Plus précisément, Slitrk1 est requis à la fois pour la formation des synapses excitatrices et inhibitrices. Dans l'ensemble, les résultats présentés dans cette thèse indiquent que les Slitrks jouent un rôle important dans le développement du système nerveux.

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1

- Figure 1: The molecular organization of the synapse.
- Figure 2: An inventory of synaptogenic molecules.
- Figure 3: Phylogenetic tree for Slitrk1.
- Figure 4: Structure of the Slitrk proteins.
- Figure 5: Amino acid sequence alignment of Slitrks/Slits and Slitrks/Trks.

Chapter 2

- Figure 1: mRNA expression of Slitrk family members in the developing brain.
- Figure 2: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing olfactory bulb (OB) at E18 and P10.
- Figure 3: Slitrks mRNA expression during development of the cerebral cortex at E18 and P10.
- Figure 4: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing hippocampal region at E18 and P10.
- Figure 5: *Slitrk6* mRNA expression in thalamic regions at E18.
- Figure 6: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing cerebellum at E18.
- Figure 7: Slitrks mRNA expression in the cerebellum at P10.
- Figure 8: Slitrks mRNA expression during spinal cord development at E18.
- Figure 9: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing trigeminal ganglion (TG) at E18.
- Figure 10: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing eye at E18.

Chapter 3

- Figure 1: Localization of the Slitrks at the synapse and their capacity to dimerize.
- Figure 2: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 expressed in nonneural cells induce presynaptic differentiation in contacting dendrites.
- Figure 3: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 induce the uptake of synaptotagmin I luminal domain antibodies in contacting axons of cocultured neurons.

- Figure 4: Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in cultured neurons increases the amount of presynaptic contacts.
- Figure 5: Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in cultured neurons increases the amount of excitatory presynaptic but not inhibitory contacts.
- Figure 6: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 expressed in nonneural cells do not induce clustering of the excitatory postsynaptic protein PSD-95 in contacting axons.
- Figure 7: Treatment of hippocampal neurons with Slitrk1 antibodies reduces synapse density.
- Figure 8: Treatment of hippocampal neurons with Slitrk1 recombinant protein reduces synapse density.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aa: amino acid	DEPC: diethylpyrocarbonate
Ach: acetylcholine	DG: dentate gyrus
AChR: ACh receptor	DIG: digoxigenin
ADAM: a disintegrin and	dLG: dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus
metalloproteinase	DLS: dorsolateral septum
ADHD: attention deficit hyperactivity disorder	DN: deep cerebellar nuclei
AM: anteromedial thalamic nuclei	DRG: dorsal root ganglion
AMPA: α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-	Dvl1: dishevelled-1
methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid	E: embryonic day
AMPAR: AMPA receptor	ECD: extracellular domain
ApoE: apolipoprotein E	EGF: epidermal growth factor
Aq: aqueduct	FGF: fibroblast growth factor
AS: antisense	Fig: figure
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule Cbln1: cerebellin 1 precursor protein	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer GluR: glutamate receptor
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule Cbln1: cerebellin 1 precursor protein CK2: casein kinase II	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer GluR: glutamate receptor GPCR: G protein-coupled receptor
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule Cbln1: cerebellin 1 precursor protein CK2: casein kinase II CM: centromedial thalamic nuclei	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer GluR: glutamate receptor GPCR: G protein-coupled receptor GPI: glycosylphosphatidylinositol
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule Cbln1: cerebellin 1 precursor protein CK2: casein kinase II CM: centromedial thalamic nuclei CNS: central nervous system	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer GluR: glutamate receptor GPCR: G protein-coupled receptor GPI: glycosylphosphatidylinositol H: hippocampus
AS: antisense ASD: autism spectrum disorder Au: arbitrary units AV: anteroventral thalamic nuclei BD: bipolar disorder CAM: cell adhesion molecule Cbln1: cerebellin 1 precursor protein CK2: casein kinase II CM: centromedial thalamic nuclei CNS: central nervous system CxP: cortical plate	Fig: figure FLRT: fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane protein Fr: fasciculus retroflexus GCL: granule cell layer of the OB GL: glomerular layer GluR: glutamate receptor GPCR: G protein-coupled receptor GPI: glycosylphosphatidylinositol H: hippocampus Jg: immunoglobulin

IL-1: interleukin-1 INL: inner nuclear retinal layer kDa: kilodalton KO mice: knockout mice LAR: leukocyte common antigen-related Lat: lateral cerebellar nucleus LD: laterodorsal thalamic nucleus LNS: laminin/neurexin/sex hormonebinding globulin LP: lateral posterior thalamic nuclei LTD: long-term depression LRR: leucine-rich repeat LRRTM: leucine-rich repeat transmembrane MCL: mitral cell layer MD: mediodorsal thalamic nuclei miRNA: microRNA mGluR: metabotropic glutamate receptor Mo: molecular layer of the cerebellum MuSK: muscle-specific kinase Narp: neuronal activity-regulated pentraxin NBL: neuroblastic layer of the retina Ncad: neural (N-) cadherin NCAM: neural cell adhesion molecule

NMJ: neuromuscular junction NP1: neuronal pentraxin 1 NPR: neuronal pentraxin receptor OB: olfactory bulb OCD: obsessive-compulsive disorder ONL: olfactory nerve layer ORN olfactory receptor neurons OV: olfactory ventricule PBS: phosphate-buffered isotonic saline PF: parafascicular thalamic nuclei Pk: Purkinje cell layer PKA: protein kinase A PKC: protein kinase C PNET: supratentorial primitive neuroectodermal tumor PNS: peripheral nervous system Po: posterior complex thalamic nuclei PSA: polysialic acid PSD-95: postsynaptic density protein-95 PTP: protein-tyrosine-phosphatase PSD: postsynaptic density PT: paratenial thalamic nuclei PV: paraventricular thalamic nuclei RGC: retinal ganglion cell RGCL: retinal ganglion cell layer

RT: room temperature SSC: standard saline citrate TG: trigeminal ganglia S: sense SALM: synaptic adhesion-like molecule Trk: tropomyosin-related kinase TSP: thrombospondin protein SC: superior colliculi UTR: untranslated region siRNA: small interfering RNA VL: ventrolateral thalamic nuclei SS: splice site VNO: vomeronasal organ SynCAM: synaptic cell adhesion molecule VP: ventroposterior thalamic nuclei SCZ: schizophrenia VZ: ventricular zone SP: subplate

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr Jean-François Cloutier. Throughout the years, I often had the question, "how is my relationship with my supervisor?". I do not think that my answer ever changed: "We have good communication, and the rest came naturally". From my first interview in the lab, to the preparation of my thesis, and through all the hockey games we played together, I deeply appreciate our way of interacting. Dr Cloutier gave me a scientific freedom that I used to keep my motivation high. The relationship between supervisor and student is unique in the sense that both grow together. I strongly believe that my time in Dr Cloutier's lab made me a better person forever. Thank you, boss!

To all Cloutier lab members, past and present, including Dr David Mendes DaSilva, Dr Jin Hyung Cho, Janet Prince, Joseph Kam, Émilie Dumontier, Vesselina Deleva, Manon Lépine, Reesha Raja and Dr Pavel Gris, thank you for all of your helpful advice, constructive comments, technical assistance, and for your genuine friendship. I want to thank especially Vesselina and Reesha for their help in the preparation of this thesis.

To my committee members, Drs Don Van Meyel and Phil Barker, thank you for being so supportive and constructive throughout my doctoral studies. Your spirit of mentorship and your excitement to see the progress of my work is something that I will always remember. It is a great privilege for a graduate student to feel the profound desire of his committee for the success of his project. I must also acknowledge Drs Van Meyel and Barker for their profound support regarding my career path-switching.

I would like to thank the administrators at the MNI who have assisted me in meeting the demands of graduate studies. To the student affairs office, Monique Ledermann and Tom Hein, thank you so much for your kind assistance throughout my PhD.

I want to also thank NARSAD (National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression, the former name of the Brain & Behavior Research Foundation) and the MNI returning student award program for funding the research.

Over the past several years, I have been lucky to become friends with many people at the MNI. I thank L-p Bernier, Chris Kent, Emad, Dave S., Laurent, Simon Moore, Vincent, Pat Allaire, Pat McCamphil, Sathy, Steph, Karl, Gary, Martin & Miguel for all the fun times and endless laughs. A special thank for all my teammates in the Lobotomizers Hockey and Soccer team. And there are Mohammed & Gino...

I need to mention my friends from Drummondville, Jo, Po, Phil, GB, Lp L, Marcotte, Pips, Peel, Simon, JF, Pete, Bou, James, DC, Vois, who understood that I always had less time to spend with them as time passed. I wish to directly say thank you to Sean, for his words of wisdom and for Sébastien, who is now officially a McGill alumnus with me.

To all the members of my family, and to my father-in-law, Pierre, and my mother-in-law, Lyse, who showed continuous interest in my project.

To my aunt Claire, thank you for dragging me to Montreal in the first place.

To my sister Isabelle, I wish we could have been together more often during my PhD.

To my parents Lisette and Bernard Beaubien, I owe the deepest gratitude. I am not the only one who made sacrifices during all these years, and I recognize that. Merci pour votre support sincère dans tous mes projets de vie. Vous avez été des parents sans égal!

To my cherished wife Émilie, I would like to express my sincere recognition. Only you were able to make me smile after the bad days at the lab. Only you found the words that made me go forward when I was in doubt. Merci à toi la femme de ma vie!

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS

Chapter 1: Literature review

François Beaubien: Wrote all material and prepared all figures.

Chapter 2: Differential expression of Slitrk family members in the mouse nervous system

François Beaubien: Developed rationale, performed all experiments, assembled all figures and co-wrote manuscript.

Jean-François Cloutier: Developed rationale and co-wrote manuscript.

Chapter 3: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 promote excitatory synapse development

François Beaubien: Developed rationale, performed all experiments, assembled all figures and co-wrote manuscript.

Jean-François Cloutier: Developed rationale and co-wrote manuscript.

Katherine E. Horn and Timothy E. Kennedy: Provided the synaptic fractions that François Beaubien used to perform Western Blots and comments on the manuscript.

Chapter 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

1. General introduction

"The problem of neurology," Wilder Penfield once wrote, "is to understand man himself." The road toward this long-time goal has been filled with amazing discoveries made by scientists of various disciplines, from psychiatry to neurobiology. Recently, developments of techniques in molecular biology and advances in genetics were able to shed some light on the basic principles involved in the development of our human mind. The progress made in our understanding of brain development, from the initial closure of the neural tube to the discovery of adult neurogenesis, is now a central aspect of the brain theory. Importantly, the biology of some neurological diseases is now better understood with easy access to the human genome. In this literature review, I will emphasise on another remarkable feature of the brain: the extreme precision with which synaptic connections are formed during development and maintained throughout the entire lifespan. Synaptic plasticity is perhaps the pillar on which the brain's amazing malleability rests. Thus, the study of synaptogenesis is at the leading edge of research "to understand man himself".

Before describing the details of synapse formation, it is worth placing this process in a bigger picture. Indeed, synaptogenesis only occurs after axon extension, which comes after the birth of neural stem cells and their differentiation into neurons. Initially, the generation of postmitotic neurons from dividing progenitor cells occurs by a process of signaling between adjacent cells in the proneural region of the ectoderm that is regulated by the delta and notch transmembrane proteins. The differentiation of each generated neural precursor cell depends on diverse signals present in their environment. The final

step toward the establishment of synaptic connections is the growth and extension of the neuron's axon to its target site. The tip of the axon, called the growth cone, allows the axon to detect and respond to cues in the environment that guide its growth in the proper direction. Once axons reach their targets, synaptogenesis can begin.

The present literature review will focus on two major topics. First, the question of complex synapse formation will be covered in detail. In addition to explaining the classical model of the formation of neuromuscular junction, synaptogenesis in the more complex peripheral and central nervous systems will be discussed. In the second section of this review, I will present a new family of molecules that I hypothesize plays a critical role in the formation of synapses in the central nervous system (CNS). The section will conclude with the rationale and objectives of this thesis.

2. Synaptogenesis

2.1. Historical perspective

The term synapse was adopted by Charles Sherrington in 1897, but the concept of synapses emerged from multiple hypotheses dating back as far as the pre-Socratic era of the fifth century BC. In terms of duration of influence, Aristotle's (384-322 B.C.) theory of "vital pneuma" dominated history for the longest period. Indeed, Aristotle's great contribution to neural science is the introduction of the concept that a substance (the vital pneuma) has to travel to an organ to allow it to function (Everson, 1995). A few hundred years later, Galen (131-200) proposed a refined version of Aristotle's theory in which a delicate substance called "psychic pneuma" is passed from the brain to the spinal cord and then to the nerves to induce movement (Major, 1961). For the next 1300 years, scientists continued to build on Galen's theory. However, with René Descartes (1596-1650) came a new revolution. Based on his new mechanistic philosophy, Descartes proposed that nerve conduction involves the passage of small particles derived from the heart. Here, the novelty resides in the idea that transmission relies on particles passing from the brain to different target locations (Bennett, 1999). It was only with advances in the field of physiology, more specifically, the discovery of the biological applications of electricity, that the formulation and consolidation of the cellular theory emerged, a theory

that recognizes the cell as the fundamental unit of structure, function and organization in all living organisms (Kölliker, 1863). Due to their more complex morphology, it took the work of several people to extend the cellular theory to nerve cells. For a long time, it was believed that neurons must be fused with their targets cells in order to communicate. The "reticular theory" stated that central nerve endings would not end freely, but would have protoplasmic extensions that constitute a fine nerve fibre network (Gerlach, 1871). It was not until the work of Santiago Ramon y Cajal (1852-1934) that the neuron doctrine, namely that each neuron is an independent cell that does not connect with surrounding cells, was adopted. Using a staining method developed by Camillo Golgi (1842-1926), Cajal developed his theory based on the observation that the ends of neurons showed no signs of continuity with other neurons in the cerebellum of birds (Cajal, 1888). Cajal was the first to conclude that discontinuity between neurons represents the true nature of their connectivity. Based on his observations, Cajal also speculated that action potentials flowed only from terminal bulb to dendrite or soma between cells, and then from soma to axon within a cell. However, it was the experimental findings of a physiologist, namely Charles Sherrington (1858-1952), which proved Cajal's doctrine of the polarisation of the neuron. It is while working on spinal reflexes that Sherrington imagined a 'valve-like function' for the end of the nerve:

By observing the effect of adrenaline on the peripheral nervous system (PNS), Thomas Renton Elliott (1877-1961) came out with the concept of chemical neurotransmission by postulating that the action potential could cross the synapse through chemical substances, which took the name of "chemical mediators" (Elliott, 1904; Lopez-Munoz and Alamo, 2009). The discovery of multiple neurotransmitters over subsequent years consolidates this theory. Noteworthy, there was a delay of about a decade between the acceptance of the notion of chemical transmission in the PNS and of that in the CNS. Any remaining doubts regarding the synapse as the critical site for neural communication were dispelled with the advent of electron microscopy. By way of conclusion, while it is

[&]quot;So far as our present knowledge goes, we are led to think that the tip of a twig of the arborescence is not continuous with but merely in contact with the substance of the dendrite or cell-body on which it impinges. Such a special connection of one nerve cell with another might be called a <u>synapse</u>" (Sherrington and Foster, 1897)

here relevant to briefly cover the history behind the current theory of neurotransmission, this story is also a great example of the evolution of scientific progress.

2.2. Example of the neuromuscular junction

In a classical review paper of 1993, Zach Hall and Joshua Sanes wrote that "virtually all of our current understanding of synaptogenesis derives from the study of just one synapse, the vertebrate skeletal neuromuscular junction."(Hall and Sanes, 1993). Our current knowledge about the formation of synapses is indeed much more elaborate than twenty years ago, however some fundamental characteristics of the vertebrate skeletal neuromuscular junction (NMJ) are still highly relevant today for research in synaptogenesis. The synapses between spinal motor neurons and skeletal muscle fibers represent a good research model as they are simple, relatively large, and accessible for dissection compared to the highly complex CNS synapses. Three types of cells are present at the NMJ: a motor neuron, a muscle fiber, and a few Schwann cells. Each motor neuron has its cell body in the spinal cord or brain stem, and it sends an axon to innervate one single muscle, but several muscle fibers. The nerve terminals contain multiple 50 nm diameter synaptic vesicles that are full of the transmitter, acetylcholine (ACh). The synaptic vesicle-rich region facing the muscle fibers is named the active zone. With neuronal depolarization, the action potential travels into the terminal and causes exocytotic release of ACh. However, the active zone is also the site of endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. The region of the muscle fiber opposite the active zone is also a specialised region within the muscle fibre with junctional folds, which are shallow gutters in the membrane filled with ACh receptors (AChRs). A layer of extracellular material called basal lamina traverses the 50 nm-wide synaptic cleft and extends into these junctional folds. The basal lamina continuously encircles the muscle fiber and fuses with the Schwann cell's basal lamina (Hall and Sanes, 1993). Only at the synaptic cleft, this extracellular layer contains the important enzyme, acetylcholinesterase, which terminates transmitter action.

The question of how a mature neuromuscular junction further develops from the initial contact between a motor axon and a myotube is particularly interesting. In rodent, this

entire process occurs over a surprisingly long period of about three weeks and normally begins at embryonic day (E) 13. Synapse formation can start anywhere on the muscle fiber since there is no predetermined synaptic site. The intrinsic development of synaptic machinery in the motor neuron and in the myotube occurs independently. Motor axons can form synaptic vesicles filled with neurotransmitter without any contact with muscle fiber while uninnervated myotubes can synthesize functional ACh receptors when cultured in the absence of neurons (Fischbach and Cohen, 1973; Hartzell and Fambrough, 1973). It is the initial contact between the growth cone and the myotube that alters the nerve morphology and initiates a series of changes in the muscle cell. The growth cone begins its transformation into a nerve terminal by accumulating synaptic vesicles that lead to membrane thickening. The motor neurons also synthesize and release from their nerve terminals a proteoglycan named agrin. This basal laminaassociated protein has a key role in synapse formation by inducing the clustering on the muscle of existing AChRs and several other proteins including muscle agrin, acetylcholinesterase, rapsyn and a heparan sulphate proteoglycan that are distributed throughout the membrane at a low density (McMahan, 1990). In muscles of agrindeficient mutant mice, postsynaptic AChR clusters are markedly reduced in number, size, and density after having initially developed normally (Gautam et al., 1996). Though several molecules that interact with agrin are present in myotube membrane and could have physiological functions, it is now established that agrin most likely acts via a receptor-like tyrosine kinase termed MuSK, for muscle-specific kinase which is part of an agrin receptor complex (Valenzuela et al., 1995; Glass et al., 1996). Mice lacking MuSK die at birth, owing to an inability to breathe resulting from the fact that these mice lack NMJs (DeChiara et al., 1996). However, even if agrin induces prominent and rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of MuSK, isolated MuSK receptor is not sufficient to bind agrin suggesting that MuSK requires additional components for it to bind to agrin (Glass et al., 1996). This long-sought receptor for agrin was simultaneously identified by two groups as Lrp4, a low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (Kim et al., 2008b; Zhang et al., 2008a). Lrp4 was already know to play a role in NMJ formation, based on *lrp4* mutant mice that display defects in presynaptic and postsynaptic differentiation that are strikingly similar to those found in MuSK mutant mice, but its exact function was

unclear (Weatherbee et al., 2006). Hence agrin, secreted by motor neurons, binds to the lipoprotein receptor, Lrp4, which induces aggregation and activation of the MuSK receptor complex and its downstream signaling. The cytoplasmic protein rapsyn is recruited and will link the receptors to the cytoskeleton of the muscle. Indeed, agrin signaling triggers activation of Rac, Pak, and Src, which are required to cluster more AChR. (Gautam et al., 1995). Taken together, the actual model suggests a two-steps process of NMJ formation: A MuSK-dependent, agrin-independent mechanism of AChR aggregation is followed by nerve-derived, agrin-dependent elaboration and maintenance of clusters (Song et al., 2006).

Classically, a protein, called neuregulin, that was purified from brain extracts on the basis of its ability to stimulate the synthesis of AChRs in cultured myotubes was believed to be the most likely candidate to mediate the transcription of AChR genes on motor endplates (Falls et al., 1993). Neuregulin is expressed by both motor neurons and muscles, but its receptors, the tyrosine kinases erbB2, erbB3, and erbB4, are expressed by the muscle only. Mice lacking neuregulin, erbB2, or erbB4 die during development which prevent analysis of their function in synapse development (Gassmann et al., 1995; Lee et al., 1995; Meyer and Birchmeier, 1995), but a 50% decrease in the density of AChRs is observed in neuregulin heterozygotes mice (Sandrock et al., 1997). While expecting a decrease in the density of AChRs in mice lacking ErbB2/4 in skeletal muscle or neuregulin in motor neurons and muscle fibers, only modest or no phenotypes were detected in these mice, suggesting that neuregulin might not in fact be essential for synapse-specific transcription of AChR subunit genes (Escher et al., 2005; Jaworski and Burden, 2006). Alternatively, neuregulin is known to act on the phosphorylation of α dystrobrevin1, a component of the postsynaptic apparatus involved in the anchoring of the AChRs in the synaptic membrane, for the maintenance of the NMJ (Schmidt et al., 2011). Neuregulin also potentiates AChR clustering when injected into muscles of embryonic mice by increasing the tyrosine phosphorylation of MuSK in the ongoing presence of agrin (Ngo et al., 2012). To date, there is no other motor neuron molecule suggested to increase the synthesis of AChRs.

Another surprising property of NMJ maturation is the transition of the organisation of the AChR clusters from having a small oval-like shape with uniform receptor density to having multiperforated elaborate branches with a pretzel-like shape (Balice-Gordon and Lichtman, 1993; Marques et al., 2000). This topological maturation of the postsynaptic apparatus seems to occur in a nerve-independent manner by a still poorly understood mechanism (Kummer et al., 2004). The AChR clusters do not form a mature pretzel-like structure in mice that are mutant for the Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor, ephexin1 (Shi et al., 2010). It was already known that key regulators of actin dynamics regulate agrin-induced clustering of AChRs in cultured myotubes (Weston et al., 2003). Adult *ephexin1-/-* mice display muscle weakness and impaired neuromuscular transmission associated with NMJ abnormalities, including an imprecise synaptic apposition of the presynaptic and postsynaptic sides (Shi et al., 2010). Overall, this suggests that ephexin1 affects the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton in muscle cell.

In conclusion, research on how NMJs form and function remains a good paradigm for gaining insight about general synaptogenesis, but it is also critical for our understanding of neurological disorders affecting the NMJ like congenital myasthenic syndromes (Engel and Sine, 2005).

2.2.1. Comparison between nerve terminals of neuromuscular junctions and central synapses

The vertebrate skeletal neuromuscular synapse lies outside of the brain and does not have a neuron as its postsynaptic element, but it is still remarkably quite similar to the central synapse. This resemblance is true, at least for the major protein components of synaptic vesicles, for the mechanism of transmitter release, and for the clustering of neurotransmitter receptors in the postsynaptic membrane. However, certain major differences exist between central and peripheral synapses. First, there is the absence of a basal lamina-like structure ensheathing the central synaptic clefts. Instead, the adhesion between the pre- and postsynaptic membranes relies on the interaction of matched adhesion molecules (Sanes and Jessel, 2000). Second, while the NMJ is restricted to have only one active zone per synapse, CNS synapses can include multiple active zones at each synapse. Finally, another major difference is the ratio between the number of presynaptic axons and postsynaptic targets at each synapse, which is one-to-one for the NMJ, but 1000 to 1 on average in the CNS.

Despite its clear benefits, research on the NMJ has certain limitations with respect to providing specific details about how central nervous system synapses form. For example, the NMJ model is not helpful when studying differences between excitatory and inhibitory synapse formation or when characterizing postsynaptic machinery. As our knowledge of the formation of individual synapse advances, neuroscientists are becoming increasingly interested in more complex questions related to the dynamics of synapse formation. For this purpose, NMJ model is unlikely to suffice.

2.3. CNS synaptogenesis

2.3.1. Introduction

One of the remarkable features of synaptogenesis in the CNS is the fact that it occurs throughout the entire life of the organism. Synapse formation first occurs in the embryo during the initial development of the nervous system, and it is now known to continue into adulthood where it plays a role in the process of learning and memory. The establishment of mature synapses between neurons is fundamental, and a considerable machinery must be put in place to ensure that axons connect to their correct targets (Fig. 1).

After performing his ground-breaking experiments using the retino-tectal circuit of adult frogs, Roger Sperry proposed that each neuron has its own molecular marker that is recognized by a specific synaptic partner (Sperry, 1963). However, knowing the enormous number of neurons in the brain, and therefore the gigantic number of synapses, it was unlikely that so many different recognition molecules would exist. Instead, target recognition cues may direct growth cones to specific regions or layers of tissue, rather than specific cells. Thus, the current hypothesis proposes that target selection occurs at the level of groups of identical neurons, rather than single cells (Munno and Syed, 2003). Nevertheless, the task of understanding synaptogenesis remains immense.



Figure 1: The molecular organization of the synapse.

The various molecules illustrated here regulate synapse function, morphology, trafficking and localization of adhesion molecules and neurotransmitter receptors. Neurexins are anchored to the presynaptic cytomatrix via a trimeric protein complex of CASK, Mint, and Veli, which in turn links to Ca²⁺ channels and liprins. Liprin also directly interacts with RIM active zone proteins that regulate neurotransmitter release, and is indirectly linked to the active zone protein Piccolo which, with Bassoon, is a very large multidomain scaffolding molecule. RIM forms a tripartite complex with Munc 13 and Rab3 that controls priming of synaptic vesicles for the upcoming synaptotagmin/snaresmediated vesicle fusion. Prior to exocytosis, the vesicles are first loaded with a specific neurotransmitter depending on the vesicular transporter and directed to the active zone via the binding of synaptic cleft, synaptic vesicles are recycled via a clathrinmediated pathway. The postsynaptic compartments of excitatory and inhibitory synapses differ in their composition and structure. For simplicity's sake, all major players are represented together in this cartoon. PSD-95 is a major scaffolding molecule localized in excitatory glutamatergic synapses. PSD-95 modulates trafficking of AMPA receptors via stargazin. The PDZ domains of PSD-95 also bind to other postsynaptic membrane proteins, including potassium channels, tyrosine kinases ErbB4 (not shown) and the cell adhesion molecule, neuroligin. PSD-95 is linked to actin filaments through GKAP, Shank and cortactin complex. Shank also binds to Homer, which interacts directly with the cytoplasmic tail of the metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) and with the guanine nucleotide exchange factors beta-pix. Gephyrin, a tubulin-binding protein, is at the core of inhibitory postsynaptic scaffolds stabilizing glycine receptors and/or GABAA receptors (not shown). Finally, the cytoskeletal protein, spectrin, lines the intracellular side of the pre- and post-membranes, playing a role in maintenance of plasma membrane.

2.3.2. The four steps of synaptogenesis

During development, many axons travel long distances to reach their target zones even before forming any synapses. Thus, the transition between axon growth and synaptogenesis must be highly regulated. While synapse formation is generally categorized into four steps, readers need to bear in mind that the entire process is a fluid succession of events rather than discrete steps (Missler et al., 2012). In order to form the correct neuronal connections, axons and dendrites first start by establishing initial, often transient, contacts. This step relies on interactions between sets of cell adhesion molecules that are involved in cell-cell recognition, but also on secreted factors, receptors, and signaling molecules that make neurons receptive to synapse formation. This initial establishment of synaptic contacts is followed by the assembly of pre- and postsynaptic molecular machinery. This second step of synapse formation includes the recruitment of synaptic vesicles, the formation of the active zone, and the development of postsynaptic density structures. However, synapses are still not functional at this point. The third step of the process is the functional specification of the synapses, during which the organization of the molecular components of the synapse leads to the acquisition of distinct physiological properties. The second and third steps are dependent on synaptogenic proteins, often different from the ones implicated in step one, which specialized in the recruitment of synaptic proteins. In the final step of synaptogenesis, synaptic activity determines whether these synapses will be stabilized or eliminated.

2.3.3. Synaptogenic proteins

Synaptic organizing proteins exist in two main classes: secreted factors and synaptic adhesion complexes (Fig. 2). Significant progress has been made over the last ten years in identifying factors derived from either the target neurons or the surrounding glia that accelerate and guide synaptogenesis. Indeed, prior to the initial contact, certain factors transform axons and dendrites into competent pre- and postsynaptic structures to undergo synaptogenesis. These molecules will be referred to as "priming factors" (Waites et al., 2005). During maturation of the synapse, other secreted factors from the presynaptic and postsynaptic terminal participate in receptor clustering. On the other hand, the synaptogenic adhesion complexes are composed of transmembrane presynaptic and postsynaptic partners that bind *in trans* across the cleft. The knowledge about these synaptic proteins has also increased tremendously over the last two decades. Many more families of molecules are now known to serve the process of synaptogenesis. Here will be reviewed the major players in this continuously growing field.



postsynaptic sites, as discussed in this thesis. Protein-protein interactions between molecules are shown by dotted lines.

2.3.3.1. Secreted factors

2.3.3.1.1. Neuronally derived priming factors

Classically, priming factors derived from the target neurons include members of two families of proteins: the Wnt and the fibroblast growth factors (FGF) (Scheiffele, 2003).

2.3.3.1.1.1. Wnt

Since its discovery almost 20 years ago, the Wnt family of secreted signaling molecules has been implicated in various developmental functions such as embryonic induction, the generation of cell polarity, and the specification of cell fate (Sylvie et al., 2011). Wnts can signal through different receptors including Frizzled, Ryk and Ror2. Thus far, two Wnt family members have been shown to play a role in early steps of the formation of neuronal connections: WNT-7a and WNT-3. WNT-7a induces growth cone enlargement, axonal spreading, and increases the clustering of presynaptic markers in their presynaptic partners potentially through the Dishevelled-1 (Dvl1) pathway (Lucas and Salinas, 1997). More precisely, Wnt7a preferentially stimulates excitatory synapse formation (Ciani et al., 2011). A lack of Wnt7a in mice causes a delay in the morphological maturation of the synapse and accumulation of synaptic proteins while the double Wnt-7a/Dvl1 mutant mice exhibit even more severe defects (Hall et al., 2000; Ahmad-Annuar et al., 2006). Similar to the effect of Wnt7a, inhibition of Gsk3ß, a serine/threonine kinase known to be a signaling molecule in Wnt pathways, leads to axonal remodelling and clustering of synapsin I in developing neurons (Hall et al., 2000; Hall et al., 2002). These effects are likely to be due to the binding of Wnt7a to Frizzled-5 (Fz5) which is expressed during the peak of synaptogenesis. Expression of Fz5 during early stages of synaptogenesis increases the number of presynaptic sites in hippocampal neurons. Conversely, Fz5 knockdown blocks the ability of Wnt7a to stimulate synaptogenesis (Sahores et al., 2010). These findings demonstrate that Wnt7a acts as a retrograde signal to regulate presynaptic assembly through the binding of Fz5 and through Dvl- and Gsk3b-mediated signalling pathways. Interestingly, Wnts also play roles in synaptogenesis by inhibiting synapse formation. The balance between the synapse-promoting effects of Wnt7a and Wnt7b and synapse-inhibiting effects of Wnt5a proteins are related to the activation of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signalling pathways, respectively (Davis et al., 2008). In the formation of specific sensory-motor neuron synapses, WNT-3, secreted by motor neuron dendrites, inhibits axonal extension, increases growth cone size and the clustering of the presynaptic marker, synapsin I, in the innervating sensory axons (Krylova et al., 2002). Because of the embryonic lethally of the *WNT-3-/-* mice, a conditional knockout mouse will be required to better address the implication in synapse formation of WNT-3 *in vivo* (Liu et al., 1999). Nevertheless, existing data suggest that the WNTs could act as a retrograde signal from postsynaptic neurons to regulate axonal remodeling and expression of synaptic proteins on presynaptic terminals.

2.3.3.1.1.2. FGF

The ability to cluster presynaptic vesicles in cultured neurons was used to identify FGF22 as a target-derived molecule that promotes differentiation of growth cones into presynaptic nerve terminals (Umemori et al., 2004). FGFs make up a family of polypeptide growth factors of 22 members with functions in a wide range of processes, including cell proliferation, migration, differentiation, tissue repair, and response to injury (Ornitz and Itoh, 2001). FGF22 and its closest relatives, FGF7 and FGF10, that are expressed by other subpopulations of neurons promote vesicle clustering and neurite branching but have no detectable effect on the length of neurites (Umemori et al., 2004). None of the other FGFs have these effects. Using blocking reagents and mice deficient in their main FGF receptor, FGFR2, these FGFs were confirmed to be involved in presynaptic differentiation in the cerebellum (Umemori et al., 2004). Recently it was shown that FGF22 and FGF7 specifically promote the organization of excitatory and inhibitory presynaptic terminals, respectively, as target-derived presynaptic organizers (Terauchi et al., 2010). FGF22 and FGF7 overexpression in cultured hippocampal neurons results in an increase in the clustering of vGlut1 and VGAT puncta, respectively. Strikingly, FGF22-deficient mice are resistant to epileptic seizures while FGF7-deficient mice are prone to them (Terauchi et al., 2010). This observation is consistent with the hypothesis that an alteration in the number of excitatory or inhibitory synapses or a change in the balance of these synapses is related to epilepsy-like behavior.

Overall, these results demonstrate a selective differentiation of glutamatergic and GABAergic presynaptic terminals by these target-derived molecules.

2.3.3.1.2. Glial-derived priming factors

Until recently, the function of astrocytes, that constitute nearly half of the cells in the brain, was a neurobiological mystery. The evidence that astrocytes directly enhance synapse formation has been obtained from a number of studies in different neuronal cell lines (van den Pol and Spencer, 2000; Nagler et al., 2001; Song et al., 2002) and supported by the fact that in many regions of the CNS, most synapses are formed after the differentiation of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Pfrieger and Barres, 1996; Ullian et al., 2004a). It has been shown that astrocyte membrane-bound factors promote synaptogenesis. Indeed, local contact of neurons with astrocytes promotes global synaptogenesis, with PKC signaling responsible for signal propagation (Hama et al., 2004). However, the first direct demonstration that astrocytes enhance the formation of new synapses or stabilize existing synapses through secreted factors was done by coculturing purified retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) with a feeder layer of astrocytes. The removal of the astrocytes resulted in the disappearance of the majority of synapses potentially due to the lack of release of soluble factors that prime neurons to undergo synaptogenesis (Ullian et al., 2001). Cholesterol complexed to apolipoprotein E (ApoE) was initially proposed to be one of these factors promoting synaptogenesis (Mauch et al., 2001). In the CNS, cholesterol is synthesized in situ rather than imported from blood (Kabara, 1973; Dietschy and Turley, 2001). Based on these evidences, it was proposed that the large amount of cholesterol needed for synaptogenesis is dependent on its production by glial cells and its delivery via ApoE-containing lipoproteins. However, another group found that treatment of neurons with either ApoE or cholesterol had no effect on synapse number while confirming that cholesterol enhanced synaptic efficacy (Ullian et al., 2004b; Christopherson et al., 2005). Thrombospondin family members (TSPs) were identified as another glial-derived factor family while comparing the ability of astrocyte-conditioned medium and astrocyte feeding layers to induce synapses in rat RGCs (Christopherson et al., 2005). The five TSPs are large oligomeric extracellular matrix proteins that mediate cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions by binding an array of

membrane receptors, other extracellular matrix proteins, and cytokines (Adams, 2001; Bornstein, 2001). Interestingly, TSP1 and TSP2 double null showed a reduced density of immunohistochemically identified synapses in the cortex (Christopherson et al., 2005). TSP1 and TSP2, as astrocyte-secreted proteins, are sufficient to induce the formation of ultrastructurally normal CNS synapses. The induced synapses are presynaptically active, but lack functional α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA) receptors, or so called postsynaptically silent, suggesting the existence of an unidentified astrocyte-derived signal necessary for postsynaptic development (Christopherson et al., 2005). Finally, glypican 4 and glypican 6 were identified as astrocyte-secreted signals sufficient to induce functional synapses between neurons, and it was shown that depletion of these molecules from astrocyte-conditioned medium significantly reduces their ability to induce postsynaptic activity (Allen et al., 2012). Another molecule, estrogen, synthesized and secreted by astrocytes was found to regulate synapse formation and synaptic transmission (Hu et al., 2007). The effect of estrogen in the promotion of synaptogenesis was already known (Brake et al., 2001; Yankova et al., 2001; Kretz et al., 2004), but the origin of estrogen was uncertain. The effect of astrocyte-conditioned medium on synaptic formation and transmission is blocked by an estrogen receptor antagonist, tamoxifen, in culture. Finally, two other astrocyte-derived factors, hevin and SPARC, have been characterized for their role in synapse development. Hevin induces the formation of synapses between cultured rat retinal ganglion cells while SPARC specifically antagonizes the synaptogenic function of hevin (Kucukdereli et al., 2011). Interestingly, Hevin null mice have fewer excitatory synapses; conversely, SPARC null mice have increased excitatory connections (Jones et al., 2011; Kucukdereli et al., 2011). Moreover, the loss of SPARC increases surface AMPA receptors levels at the excitatory synapses through its interaction with β -integrins (Jones et al., 2011). This study suggests that SPARC inhibits glutamate responsiveness of synapses by decreasing surface levels of AMPA glutamate receptors.

2.3.3.1.3. Neuronal pentraxin family

The neuronal pentraxin family consists of two secreted proteins, neuronal pentraxin (NP) 1 and NP2 (also known as neuronal-activity-regulated pentraxin (Narp)), and of the

neuronal pentraxin receptor (NPR), a presynaptic integral membrane protein. NP1 and NP2, which are expressed in both the developing and adult CNS, are homologous to the serum pentraxins, which are molecules involved in acute immunological responses (Schlimgen et al., 1995; Tsui et al., 1996; Dodds et al., 1997). NP2 was shown initially to induce neuronal migration and neurite outgrowth (Tsui et al., 1996) and later, to be secreted from both pre and postsynaptic neurons and selectively enriched at excitatory synapses (O'Brien et al., 1999). In an overexpression paradigm, NP2 can induce the aggregation of AMPA receptor subunits which is a major characteristic of excitatory synapse formation (O'Brien et al., 1999). Accordingly, a dominant-negative NP2 mutant that blocks the secretion of endogenous NP2 has a decreased ability to induce AMPA receptor (AMPAR) subunit clusters on contacted dendrites of spinal neurons (O'Brien et al., 2002). Moreover, NP1 and NP2 interact with AMPAR more precisely, with the Nterminal extracellular domain of the AMPAR subunit, GlurR4 (Xu et al., 2003; Sia et al., 2007). Furthermore, the membrane bound NPR also binds AMPAR and contributes to synapse formation. Mechanistically, NPR is cleaved and consequently released as a soluble form by the extracellular protease TACE (Cho et al., 2008b). Soluble NPR turns out to be essential for the internalization of AMPAR and for mGluR1/5-dependent long-term depression (LTD) in both the hippocampus and the cerebellum (Cho et al., 2008b). Knockdown of NP1 by siRNA or genetic knockout of all three neuronal pentraxins abolishes GluR4 clustering at reconstituted and neuronal synapses (Sia et al., 2007). At the systems level, studies using mice lacking NP1 and NP2 reveal defects in the segregation of eye-specific RGC projections to the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus (Bjartmar et al., 2006). It was also shown that the presynaptic secretion of Narp from excitatory synapses increases synaptic strength by regulating levels of GluR4-containing AMPARs (Chang et al., 2010). More specifically, Narp prominently accumulated at excitatory synapses on parvalbumin-expressing interneurons. Increasing network activity resulted in a homeostatic increase of excitatory synaptic strength. This synaptic function of Narp is also reflected in the Narp-/- mice by an increased sensitivity to kindlinginduced seizures suggesting a problem of balance between excitatory and inhibitory synapses (Chang et al., 2010).

2.3.3.2. Synaptic adhesion complexes 2.3.3.2.1. Cadherins

The cadherins constitute a superfamily including more than 100 members in vertebrates. They are grouped into subfamilies that are designated as classic cadherins, desmosomal cadherins, and protocadherins (Nollet et al., 2000). The largest subfamily, the protocadherins, is itself divided into several subgroups: α-, β-, γ-, flamingo (CELSR), fatprotocadherins (Redies et al., 2005). As candidates for target recognition and synapse formation, the protocadherins are interesting because they undergo alternative splicing and have region-specific expression patterns (Wu and Maniatis, 1999; Wang et al., 2002a). While their expression is not restricted to synaptic sites, there are at least some isoforms present at the synapse (Phillips et al., 2003). Protocadherin variants were also proposed to mediate isoform-specific homophilic interactions (Fernandez-Monreal et al., 2009). Unfortunately, the ablation of multiple members of this family did not result in any defects in synaptogenesis or any alterations in synaptic ultrastructure (Wang et al., 2002b). The protocadherins seem to rather contribute to neuron-glia junctions (Garrett and Weiner, 2009). Although the currently available expression profile of the protocadherins at the synapse is clear, the significance of their molecular diversity for synapse formation has remained obscure and requires further study.

Several members of a second subfamily of cadherins, the classical cadherins, have been shown to have a synaptic expression pattern (Obst-Pernberg and Redies, 1999; Junghans et al., 2005), with cadherins and their cytosolic partner, catenin, localized to both sides of the synapse. Classical cadherins are able to dimerize both between molecules presented on the same cell (*cis*) and between molecules from different cells (*trans*) (Shapiro et al., 1995). About 20 members of this subfamily are expressed in the CNS (Yagi and Takeichi, 2000), but neural N-cadherin (Ncad) is the most widely expressed and best-studied subtype. Indeed, Ncad is known to be present at the synapse since biochemical approaches revealed its expression as a major glycoprotein in isolated PSD fractions (Beesley et al., 1995). In regard to its role in synapse formation, Ncad is clustered at nascent synapses in all immature neurons *in vitro*, but is progressively lost from inhibitory synapses during development to become restricted to excitatory synapses in adult cells

(Benson and Tanaka, 1998). In zebrafish, Ncad has been shown to be transported in association with active zone components, to form stable puncta in the wake of the migrating growth cones (Jontes et al., 2004). In cultured hippocampal neurons, the blockade of Ncad leads to a reduction in synapsin puncta and a diffused distribution of synapsin in axons (Togashi et al., 2002). Despite all these interesting features, Ncad on its own is not able to induce synapse formation in an artificial synapse formation assay (Scheiffele et al., 2000; Sara et al., 2005). Moreover, when the Ncad gene was conditionally deleted in the mouse cerebral cortex, although the laminar identity and layer structures were lost, neurons appeared to form normal synapses with normal levels of pre and postsynaptic proteins (Kadowaki et al., 2007). In vitro neuronal differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells from Nead/- mice, which die at birth, also reveals that neither the initial formation nor the ultrastructural characteristics of synapses are altered (Jungling et al., 2006). The current model for the synaptic role for Ncad is that this CAM first plays an important role in supporting adhesion between apposed membranes prior to synaptogenesis, and at later stages, is involved in synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, two groups recently suggested that cadherin might enhance synapse formation by recruiting and functionally interacting with another molecule at the synapse, neuroligin-1 (Aiga et al., 2010; Stan et al., 2010). These papers open the exciting question of the functional interplay between cadherins and other synaptic cell adhesion systems.

2.3.3.2.2. Nectins

While intercellular junctions in the nervous system mostly consist of an axon and a dendrite, certain cases of synapses between dendrites do exist (Kaba and Nakanishi, 1995; Gulyas et al., 1996; Lohmann and Wong, 2001). For example, dendrodendritic microcircuits in the olfactory bulb mediate feedback to and lateral inhibition of the mitral cells, the neurons that transmit olfactory sensory information to higher brain regions (Shepherd et al., 2007). CAMs are known to link similar or "like" cells, thus it is interesting that certain CAMs only participate in axodendritic synaptic junction formation and not in homotyptic dendrodendritic connections. The nectin family of CAMs provide an example to explain how certain CAMs can regulate the type of synapse that is formed. The four family members of the Nectin family form homodimers in *cis*,

which then heterodimerize in *trans*, forming tetramers to create adhesive contact between cells (Takahashi et al., 1999; Miyahara et al., 2000; Satoh-Horikawa et al., 2000; Reymond et al., 2001). Nectin-1 is located at the synapse predominantly in the presynaptic membrane, and nectin-3 is at the postsynaptic membrane (Mizoguchi et al., 2002). It is by way of recruitment of cadherins that the nectins can suppress dendrodendritic synapse formation. During the formation of an axodendritic synapse, the transinteraction of nectin promotes the recruitment of cadherin molecules (Tachibana et al., 2000; Honda et al., 2003). In neurons, cadherins are localized to both axons and dendrites, but curiously, are not implicated in the formation of contacts between dendritic spines. The current model suggests that the axon-biased localization of nectin-1 and its trans-interaction with nectin-3 on the dendrite promotes homophilic cadherincadherin interactions and strengthens synaptic junctions. In the case of dendrodendritic interactions, the homophilic interactions between nectin-3 would not be stable enough to recruit cadherin (Togashi et al., 2006). Thus, dendrodendritic synapses cannot be maintained by nectin-3 alone, as cadherin homophilic interactions will not be formed to strengthen the cell-cell adhesion.

2.3.3.2.3. NCAM

Several lines of evidence suggest NCAM participation in mechanisms of synaptogenesis. For instance, in cultured hippocampal neurons, NCAM accumulates rapidly, within minutes, at sites of contact formation in nascent synapses (Sytnyk et al., 2002). Another study, using heterogenotypic cultures of neurons from *NCAM*-/- and wild-type mice resulted in a reduced number of synapses compared to a homogenotypic culture of only wild-type neurons, indicating preferential formation of synapses with NCAM expressing cells (Dityatev et al., 2000). Also, the treatment of hippocampal cultures with a synthetic peptide that represents a part of the binding site of NCAM to the FGF receptor-1, known to stimulate neurite outgrowth (Kiselyov et al., 2003), enhanced the number of new synapses (Cambon et al., 2004). In addition, *NCAM*-/- mice show deficits in learning and memory, processes that rely heavily on synaptic function (Cremer et al., 1994). In the brain, NCAM undergoes a post translational modification whereby polysialic acid (PSA) chains are added to NCAM disrupting the adhesive properties of NCAM (Hildebrandt et

al., 2010). Indeed, PSA chains in general have been implicated in neuronal migration (Ono et al., 1994), axonal fasciculation, branching (Yamamoto et al., 2000), guidance (Tang et al., 1992), synaptogenesis (Dityatev et al., 2004) and activity-dependent plasticity (Eckhardt et al., 2000). The current model suggests that PSA-NCAM, by interfering with NCAM homophilic binding, reduces adhesive connections but plays a permissive role in promoting growth and reorganization of postsynaptic structures required for the formation of new contacts (Muller et al., 2010). Accordingly, elimination of PSA from NCAM in visual cortex results in earlier onset of synaptic adhesion leading to premature onset of ocular dominance plasticity and modification of synaptic transmission (Di Cristo et al., 2007).

2.3.3.2.4. Neurexins and Neuroligins

Neurexins were first discovered as the receptor for α -latrotoxin, a toxin found in black widow spider venom, which binds to presynaptic nerve terminals and triggers massive neurotransmitter release (Ushkaryov et al., 1992). In mammals, six main neurexin isoforms are derived from three genes (neurexin1 to -3) having two different promoters each, giving rise to an alpha (α), long isoform and a beta (β), short isoform (Ushkaryov et al., 1994; Tabuchi and Sudhof, 2002). α - and β -neurexins are presynaptic type 1 membrane proteins composed of canonical sets of domains. Whereas neurexins are still thought to function primarily presynaptically, certain publications have speculated that neurexins are postsynaptic regulators as well (Peng et al., 2004; Taniguchi et al., 2007). Indeed, neurexin has been shown to directly bind and specifically inhibit postsynaptic $GABA_A$ receptors in a neuroligin-independent mechanism (Zhang et al., 2010).) The large extracellular domain of α -neurexins contains up to six LNS domains (for laminin A, neurexins, and sex hormone-binding globulin (Sasaki et al., 1988; Joseph and Baker, 1992)), with epidermal growth factor (EGF) domains located after the first, third, and fifth LNS domains, whereas β -neurexins possess only the last LNS and EGF domains. The short cytoplasmic tail of α - and β -neurexins contains a PDZ binding motif that binds to CASK, a hybrid kinase/MAGUK protein (Hata et al., 1996). Alternative splicing occurring at five splice sites in α -neurexin and two in β -neurexins contributes to making neurexins one of the most diverse protein families of the mammalian nervous system,

with over 1000 isoforms (Ushkaryov and Sudhof, 1993; Ullrich et al., 1995). With different isoforms expressed in distinct cell populations, neurexins were rapidly seen as potential candidates for neuronal cell recognition in early steps of synapse formation (Missler and Sudhof, 1998b). This hypothesis was supported by the results of in vitro assays where synapse-inducing activity was first demonstrated for β -neurexins (Scheiffele et al., 2000; Dean et al., 2003; Graf et al., 2004) and these observations were extended to α -neurexins (Boucard et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2008). The first identified ligand for the neurexins was neuroligin-1 (Ichtchenko et al., 1995). Neuroligins are postsynaptic type I membrane proteins with an extracellular domain largely composed of a single esteraselike domain. The relatively short intracellular domain of neuroligins includes a PDZdomain binding sequence that recruits different PDZ-domain-containing proteins, such as postsynaptic density protein-95 (PSD-95), and a tyrosine-based motif that binds to gephyrin (Ichtchenko et al., 1996; Irie et al., 1997; Poulopoulos et al., 2009). In vertebrates, four genes encode the neuroligins, neuroligin-1 to -4 (except in humans and higher primates where a fifth neuroligin also exists (Graves, 2006)). All the neuroligins can bind α - and β -neurexins to either the sixth LNS domain of the α -neurexins or the single LNS domain of the β -neurexins (Boucard et al., 2005). Indeed, the binding is facilitated by the splice variation of β -neurexin that lacks an insert in the splice site 4 (SS4) (Nguyen and Sudhof, 1997). Neuroligin mRNAs are also susceptible to splicing at two positions, referred to as A and B (Ichtchenko et al., 1995). The splice variant with no insert in B was shown to bind to all β -neurexins and presumably to all α -neurexins (Ichtchenko et al., 1996; Boucard et al., 2005). Among neuroligin-1, SynCAM, EphB2, NGL-2 and N-Cadherin, only neuroligin-1 ΔB recruits the presynaptic marker Bassoon within 1 hour in a mixed-culture assay (Lee et al., 2010). The importance of splicing for these interactions was confirmed by mutational analysis and crystal structure work (Sheckler et al., 2006; Koehnke et al., 2008; Reissner et al., 2008; Shen et al., 2008). Different neuroligins have specific expression patterns. Neuroligin-1 localizes primarily at glutamatergic synapses (Song et al., 1999) while neuroligin-2 is primarily at GABAergic synapses (Graf et al., 2004; Varoqueaux et al., 2004). The expression level of neuroligin-3, localized at both glutamatergic and GABAergic synapses, coincides with the peak of synaptogenesis during postnatal development. (Budreck and Scheiffele, 2007). Finally,
neuroligin-4 is also present at glutamatergic synapses and was recently shown to also be localized to inhibitory glycinergic postsynaptic membranes (Hoon et al., 2011).

Using the mixed-culture system, in which primary neurons are combined with nonneuronal cells transfected with a cDNA encoding the protein of interest (Biederer and Scheiffele, 2007), neuroligin-1 and -2 were found to trigger the *de novo* formation of presynaptic structures that can be block by the addition of soluble β -neurexin to this coculture (Scheiffele et al., 2000). Likewise, the contact of neurons with neurexinexpressing nonneuronal cells recruits postsynaptic markers (Graf et al., 2004; Nam and Chen, 2005). In order to further study the synaptic role of neurexins and neuroligins, loss-of-function experiments were required. Unfortunately, different RNAi-mediated knockdown experiments yielded mixed results. In fact, the loss of a single neurexin or neuroligin results in some studies in a dramatic decrease in synapses number in rodent neurons (Chih et al., 2005; de Wit et al., 2009; Shipman et al., 2011) while RNAimediated knockdown did not lead to any effect in other studies (Zhang et al., 2010; Ko et al., 2011; Soler-Llavina et al., 2011). On the other hand, gain-of-function approaches demonstrated that overexpression of neurexin-1ß induced differentiation of postsynaptic receptors (Graf et al., 2004) and that overexpression of neuroligin-1 promotes excitatory synapse formation while neuroligin-2 stimulates the formation of inhibitory terminals (Prange et al., 2004; Chih et al., 2005; Chubykin et al., 2007). Transgenic mice overexpressing neuroligin-1 show an increased ratio of excitation to inhibition accompanied with significant deficits in memory acquisition, while neuroligin-2 expression results in an increase in inhibitory synaptic markers (and to a lesser extent in excitatory presynaptic markers), as well as in the maturation and transmission of inhibitory synapses (Hines et al., 2008; Dahlhaus et al., 2010).

Using the triple-knockout mice of α -neurexins, which die perinatally, presumably of a strong impairment in neurotransmitter release, it was shown that α -neurexins are not required for the initial induction of synapse formation, per se. In fact, these mice display no major decrease in the number of excitatory synapses, with only a moderate decrease in inhibitory synapses with synapses that are ultrastructurally normal (Missler et al., 2003; Dudanova et al., 2007). However, a dramatic reduction in spontaneous and evoked

neurotransmission at both glutamatergic and GABAergic synapses is observed in the triple knockout (Missler et al., 2003). Also a reduction in NMDA-receptor-mediated postsynaptic currents without affecting AMPA-receptor-mediated currents is seen in these mice (Kattenstroth et al., 2004). It was also shown that the deletion of only neurexin-1 α generates mice with electrophysiological phenotypes that are associated with pervasive behavioral abnormalities (Etherton et al., 2009). Interestingly, these mice exhibit increased repetitive grooming behaviors. It is suggested that the lack of α neurexins cause a reduced function of the N-type calcium channels at the synaptic active zones. The fact that *a*-neurexins perform a non-redundant role in calcium-dependent neurotransmitter release was confirmed by transgenic rescue experiments. Indeed, α neurexin KO mice overexpressing only neurexin-1 α have normal synaptic transmission and Ca^{2+} currents while overexpression of neurexin-1 β has no effect (Zhang et al., 2005b). On the other side of the synaptic cleft, the neuroligin-1, -2 and -3 triple knockout mice die shortly after birth, likely because of an impairment of transmission (Varoqueaux et al., 2006). Similar to the triple α -neurexin knockout mice, electrophysiological and morphological findings indicate that the initial formation of synaptic contacts does not depend on neuroligins. It was rather observed that the loss of neuroligins results in a dramatic decrease in spontaneous GABAergic and glycinergic activity and a moderate reduction in spontaneous glutamatergic activity in the respiratory brainstem, causing respiratory failure (Varoqueaux et al., 2006). Reduction in both GABAergic and glycinergic inhibitory transmission was found in the absence of neuroligin-2 while glutamatergic transmission remained unaffected, which is consistent with neuroligin-2 localization (Chubykin et al., 2007; Poulopoulos et al., 2009). Moreover, anxiety-like behavior is increased in these mice (Blundell et al., 2009). Interestingly, the deletion of neuroligin-2 affects only a subtype of inhibitory neurons (Gibson et al., 2009). In regard to the single knockout of neuroligin-1, a reduction of NMDAR-dependent synaptic responses compared with AMPAR-dependent responses is found whereas there is no effect on inhibitory synapses (Chubykin et al., 2007). Again synapse number is not significantly affected in these mice (Varoqueaux et al., 2006).

Altogether, the current model proposes that neurexin-neuroligin interactions are more likely to participate in activity-dependent modulation, in terms of the maturation, remodeling, and specification of synapses, rather than in *de novo* synaptogenesis (reviewed in (Sudhof, 2008; Missler et al., 2012)). This proposed view is very nicely illustrated by recent work done in *Aplysia* (Choi et al., 2011) where depleting neurexin in the presynaptic sensory neuron or neuroligin in the postsynaptic motor neuron abolishes both long-term facilitation and the associated presynaptic growth induced by repeated pulses of serotonin.

2.3.3.2.5. Tripartite complexe neurexin/Cbln1/GluRδ2

Neurexins also bind the secreted protein, cerebellin 1 precursor protein (Cbln1) (Uemura et al., 2010). The Cbln family consists of four members that are expressed in various brain regions and accumulate in synaptic clefts (Hirai et al., 2005; Miura et al., 2006; Miura et al., 2009). Cbln1 binds the N-terminal domain of the glutamate receptor (GluR) δ2 located on the postsynaptic membrane (Matsuda et al., 2010; Uemura et al., 2010). Although its structure is similar to ionotropic glutamate receptors, GluR δ^2 has no channel function. Instead, studies have recently suggested that GluR82 acts as an adhesion molecule (Uemura and Mishina, 2008; Mandolesi et al., 2009). There is clear in vivo evidence that GluR δ 2 plays an essential role synapse formation through neurexin and Cbln1 signaling (Kashiwabuchi et al., 1995; Kurihara et al., 1997; Takeuchi et al., 2005; Uemura et al., 2010). For example, in Cbln1 mutant mice, analysis of cerebellar synapses by electron microscopy revealed the appearance of naked spines lacking presynaptic contacts and mismatched synapses with expanded PSDs over active zones (Uemura et al., 2010). Thus, the characterization of a trimeric complex comprising neurexin, Cbln and GluR δ 2 shed light on the mechanism of synapse formation in the cerebellum as well as in various other brain regions. It also highlights a third type of synaptic organizer distinct from cell adhesion molecules, which directly links pre- and postsynaptic elements, and soluble factors functioning on either the pre- or postsynaptic sites. Secreted Cbln1 is sandwiched between presynaptic neurexin and postsynaptic GluR82 and serves as a bidirectional synaptic organizer. Recent work went even further in the characterization of this trans-synaptic triad. It was found that the synaptogenic triad is assembled from tetrameric GluRδ2, hexameric Cbln1, and monomeric NRXN in the ratio of 1:2:4 (Lee et al., 2012). This phenomenon is reminiscent of the binding of the secreted leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1 (LGI1) to both pre- and postsynaptic receptors: a disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM) 22 and ADAM23, respectively (Fukata et al., 2010).

2.3.3.2.6. Neurexins and Dystroglycans

Dystroglycan was identified to be another binding partner for neurexin through affinity chromatography of brain lysate using immobilized neurexin. The interaction between α and β -neurexins and dystroglycan was confirmed and found to be located to a single LNS domain (Sugita et al., 2001). Dystroglycan is composed of two subunits (α - and β dystroglycan), bound to each other on the cell surface, and they are derived by proteolytic cleavage from a single precursor (Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya et al., 1992). Dystroglycan links the intracellular actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix by binding intracellularly to dystrophin and utrophin, which in turn are connected to the actin cytoskeleton (Ahn and Kunkel, 1993), and by binding extracellularly to the LNS domains of several extracellular matrix proteins, namely neurexin, laminin, agrin, and perlecan (Gee et al., 1994; Henry et al., 2001). Dystroglycan is selectively associated with a subset of inhibitory GABAergic synapses but is not detectable at excitatory glutamatergic synapses (Levi et al., 2002). Altogether, dystroglycan could represent a good candidate to mediate neurexin-dependent postsynaptic inhibitory differentiation along with neuroligin-2. However, neither α - nor β -dystroglycan was clustered by neurexin in the coculture assay (Graf et al., 2004). Moreover, deletion of brain dystroglycan is not essential for GABAeric synaptogenesis (Moore et al., 2002). These results suggest that dystroglycan is not essential for the neurexin-induced clustering of postsynaptic proteins, but the interaction between neurexin and dystroglycan may have a unique function in synapse development.

2.3.3.2.7. Neurexins and Neurexophilins

 α -neurexin is also tightly complexed to a secreted glycoprotein called neurexophilin-1 (Petrenko et al., 1993). Four related genes code for neurexophilins in mammals, referred

to as neurexophilins 1-4 (Petrenko et al., 1996), but only neurexophilin-1 and -3 interact biochemically with α -neurexins. Furthermore, neurexophilin-1 and -3 occupy the same binding site as dystroglycan on neurexin, but bind with a higher affinity, suggesting an antagonistic relationship between neurexophilin and dystroglycan (Missler and Sudhof, 1998a). Neither obvious abnormalities nor changes in synaptic protein patterns were found in *neurexophilin-3-/-* brains (Beglopoulos et al., 2005). However, impairments in sensorimotor gating and motor coordination tasks were observed in these mutant mice. Nonetheless, it remains unclear whether synaptic neurexophilins are involved in synaptic transmission as modulator molecules of neurexin activity.

2.3.3.2.8. Neurexins and LRRTMs

The most recently identified binding partners for the neurexins are the leucine-rich repeat transmembrane (LRRTM) proteins. Using bioinformatics tools, four novel genes encoding LRRTMs were identified for their similarity to the repulsive guidance cue, Slit (Lauren et al., 2003). LRRTMs are typical cell surface proteins with a signal sequence, 10 extracellular LRRs flanked by cysteine-rich domains and a transmembrane region followed by an intracellular tail that bears similarity to a PDZ domain binding motif. LRRTMs localize to excitatory synapses and can instruct excitatory presynaptic differentiation (de Wit et al., 2009; Ko et al., 2009; Linhoff et al., 2009). Overexpression of LRRTM2 in neurons increases excitatory, but not inhibitory, synapse numbers (Ko et al., 2009; Linhoff et al., 2009) and, conversely, LRRTM2 knockdown results in a reduction of excitatory synapses without affecting inhibitory synapse density (de Wit et al., 2009). Moreover, deletion of LRRTM1 in mice leads to a subtle phenotype where the distribution of the vesicular glutamate transporter in the hippocampus is altered (Linhoff et al., 2009). Thus, knockout of multiple family members may be required to reveal a stronger phenotype. Binding experiments showed that all the four LRRTM proteins bind to neurexin-1 β (Ko et al., 2009) and that only neurexin-1, but not neurexin-2 or -3 acts as a presynaptic receptor for LRRTM (de Wit et al., 2009). However, a cell surface binding assay partially contradicts these findings by presenting evidence that LRRTM2 binds neurexin-1, -2, and -3 α and β (Siddiqui et al., 2010). Interestingly, LRRTM binding to neurexin is highly competitive with neuroligin since both proteins cannot bind

simultaneously to neurexin (Ko et al., 2009; Siddiqui et al., 2010). In cultured neurons, only the combined loss-of-function of neuroligin-1 and -3 and LRRTM2 and LRRTM3 caused a decrease in excitatory, but not inhibitory, synaptic density (Ko et al., 2011). This observation is hard to reconcile with the data showing that the knockdown of LRRTM2 alone results in a reduction in the number of excitatory synapses (de Wit et al., 2009). An *in vivo* guided injection of a lentivirus capable of expressing three shRNAs simultaneously (neuroligin-3, LRRTM2 and LRRTM3) into the hippocampal CA1 region of neuroligin-1 KO mice caused a substantial decrease in excitatory transmission (Soler-Llavina et al., 2011). Strikingly, the density of synapses was unaffected. It is suggested that neuroligins and LRRTMs can partly functionally compensate for each other during development, but they can also perform distinct functions at mature excitatory synapses (Soler-Llavina et al., 2011). In the future, it would be interesting to explore whether these two non-similar classes of molecules that bind to the same receptor, neurexin, also share postsynaptic signaling pathways.

2.3.3.2.9. SALMs

The synaptic adhesion-like molecule (SALM) family contains five identified members, SALM1 to SALM5 (Ko et al., 2006; Morimura et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006), which have the ability to interact with each other (Seabold et al., 2008). The domain structure of the SALMs includes six extracellular LRR domains, an immunoglobulin C2-like domain, a fibronectin type III domain, and a transmembrane region. SALM1, SALM2 and SALM3 additionally contain an intracellular PDZ binding domain. The synaptic localization of SALM proteins has been demonstrated by several approaches (Ko et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Seabold et al., 2008; Mah et al., 2010). SALM1 forms a complex with PSD-95 *in vivo* and also interacts directly with the NR1 subunit of NMDA receptors, but not with AMPA receptors. In this way, SALM1 promotes dendritic clustering of NMDA receptors in cultured neurons (Ko et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006), suggesting a role for SALM1 in the recruitment of NMDA receptors to early synapses. In contrast, SALM2 associates with AMPA receptors and, to a lesser extent, with NMDA receptors (Ko et al., 2006). During excitatory synaptic development, AMPA receptor clustering at the synapse occurs at later stages suggesting that SALM2 might promote maturation,

rather than initial formation, of synapses. Consistently, SALM2 lacks the ability to induce presynaptic differentiation in mixed-culture assays (Ko et al., 2006) while SALM3 and SALM5 have the potential to do so (Mah et al., 2010). Moreover, SALM2 overexpression at early stages (6-12 days *in vitro* (DIV)) in cultured neurons did not have any effect on synapse number, while it had a significant effect at later stages (12-18 DIV), increasing the number of excitatory synapses. However, the number of both excitatory and inhibitory presynaptic contacts is increased when SALM3 and SALM5 are overexpressed (Mah et al., 2010). SALM2 knockdown in neurons reduces the number of excitatory synapses (Ko et al., 2006) while knockdown of SALM5 reduces the number of excitatory and inhibitory synapses (Mah et al., 2010). Antibody-induced clustering of SALM3 and not SALM5, which lacks the PDZ binding domain, on dendrites induces co-clustering of PDS-95. In the near future, the characterization of the *SALM*-deficient mice or transgenic mouse models will shed light on the function of individual SALMs and in their involvement in synapse formation.

2.3.3.2.10. SynCAMs

Containing three extracellular immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domains and an intracellular PDZ consensus motif, the different members of the synaptic cell adhesion molecule (SynCAM) family have been identified by a number of independent approaches in different systems (Pletcher et al., 2001; Urase et al., 2001; Wakayama et al., 2001; Kakunaga et al., 2005). The SynCAM family comprises four genes that are found solely in vertebrates (Biederer, 2006). Early reports state that SynCAM proteins are predominantly expressed by the brain and are located at the pre- and postsynaptic sites of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses (Biederer et al., 2002; Fogel et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2008). Consistent with its localization at the synapse, SynCAM-1 was shown to induce presynaptic specializations dependent on the Ig domains using the mixed-culture of neurons and heterologous cell lines (Biederer et al., 2002). It was later demonstrated that this induction of synapses was likely to rely on SynCAM self-assembly in *cis* (Fogel et al., 2011). Indeed, SynCAM proteins engage each other in highly specific homophilic and heterophilic interactions (Biederer et al., 2002; Fogel et al., 2007). Overexpression and ablation of SynCAM-1 in mice specifically increases or decreases,

respectively, excitatory synapse numbers without altering their ultrastructure, while the number of inhibitory synapses is unaffected (Robbins et al., 2010). Nevertheless, the increase in excitatory synapses is only a modest 20% from an 8-fold increase of protein compared to around 100% increase from only a 2-fold increase for neuroligin-1 overexpressing mice (Robbins et al., 2010). Surprisingly, SynCAM-1 overexpressors have impairments in spatial learning and memory while SynCAM-1 KO mice exhibit significantly enhanced spatial memory compared to wild-type (Robbins et al., 2010). Recently, it was shown that SynCAM-1 performs successive functions in developing neurons, from shaping growth cones to the assembly of axo-dendritic contacts (Stagi et al., 2010). In summary, contrarily to other synaptogenic molecules, SynCAMs are early players in axo-dendritic contact differentiation. Later during synapse maturation, SynCAM proteins are engaged in specific homo- and heterophilic adhesive interactions, representing a trans-interacting adhesion system.

2.3.3.2.11. NGLs

Netrin-G/laminet is a family of two CAMs, netrin-G1 and netrin-G2. Structurally, they are similar to the classical axon guidance molecules, netrins, but they diverge in that they do not bind to known netrin receptors, and in that they are glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchors (Nakashiba et al., 2000). Netrin-G1 ligand (NGL-1) and netrin-G2 ligand (NGL-2) have been found to be the receptors for the two members of the netrin-G/laminet family in an isoform-specific manner (Lin et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2005a; Kim et al., 2006). Vertebrates have three NGL proteins, NGL1-3, and their expression is mainly restricted to the brain. NGLs are putative type I transmembrane proteins with nine LRRs followed by one Ig domain in the extracellular segment, and with a PDZ domain binding motif in the cytoplasmic region that interacts with PSD-95 (Lin et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006). This interaction promotes the localization of NGLs to the postsynaptic membrane (Cheng et al., 2006). In addition, NGL proteins are mainly detected at postsynaptic sites of excitatory, but not inhibitory, synapses (Kim et al., 2006). This synaptic localization suggested a role for these proteins in synaptogenesis that was supported by induction of functional presynaptic differentiation in contacting neurites of NGL-2 and NGL-3 expressing heterologous cells (Kim et al., 2006; Woo et al., 2009). For instance, when overexpressed in cultured neurons, NGL-3 increases excitatory, but not inhibitory, presynaptic contacts while the loss of NGL-3 reduces excitatory synapse number (Woo et al., 2009). Interestingly, NGL-2 and netrin-G2 knockout mice show mild behavioral defects but have an identical phenotype of impaired startle response to acoustic stimuli, supporting the notion that they functionally interact (Zhang et al., 2008b). To date, the analysis of the synapses in NGLs and netrin-Gs knockout mice is still not published in detail except for the observation that NGL-1 and -2 are diffused along the dendrites in netrin-G1 and netrin-G2 deficient mice (Nishimura-Akiyoshi et al., 2007).

While NGL-1 binds to netrin-G1, and NGL-2 to netrin-G2, NGL-3 interacts with neither netrin-G1 nor netrin-G2. NGL-3 instead interacts with the leukocyte common antigen-related (LAR) subfamily of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs). This subfamily is composed of three vertebrate homologs, LAR, PTP- σ , and PTP- δ (Chagnon et al., 2004) and NGL-3 binds all three of these proteins (Woo et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2010). Application of soluble LAR in a mixed-culture assay inhibits NGL-3-dependent presynaptic induction. In contrast to netrin-G2 that does not induce postsynaptic clustering when expressed in the coculture system (suggesting the requirement of an additional protein), LAR alone can trigger postsynaptic clustering (Woo et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2010). Also, ablating LAR expression in hippocampal cultures leads to a decreased number and function of excitatory synapses (Dunah et al., 2005). Recently, it was found that presynaptic PTP- σ binds in *trans* to the postsynaptic neurotrophin receptor tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) C (Takahashi et al., 2011). This bidirectional synaptic interaction between TrkC and PTP-o is required in excitatory, but not inhibitory, synapse formation. Altogether, the precise mechanism of how NGLs are involved in synaptogenesis is still not fully understood, but the trans-binding interaction to the presynaptic LAR family is a promising field of study as these phosphatases are now found to be part of multiple pathways. Finally, it should be noted that NGL-3 binds to the first two PDZ domains of PDS-95, whereas neuroligins bind to the third PDZ domain (Irie et al., 1997). Hence, NGLs and neuroligins could simultaneously bind to a single molecule of PSD-95 and therefore modulate each other's effects.

2.3.3.2.12. Ephrins and Eph Receptors

The first Eph receptor (EphAl) was identified in 1987, whereas their ephrin ligands were cloned in the mid-90s (Flanagan and Vanderhaeghen, 1998). Since then, Ephs and ephrins have been implicated in numerous developmental processes of the nervous system (Reber et al., 2007). Eph receptors consist of two subclasses, EphA and EphB that are distinguished based on their binding to GPI-anchored ephrinA and to transmembrane ephrinB, respectively, with the exception of EphA4 which binds to both classes of ephrins. One unique feature of the Eph-ephrin signaling is the possibility for the Eph receptor to also act as a ligand in the same manner that an ephrin ligand can act as a receptor. This so called "reverse signaling" becomes very useful during synaptogenesis where signaling cascades are needed on both sides of the synaptic cleft. More specifically, EphA-ephrinA signaling is involved in regulation of spine length and retraction of spines in hippocampal neurons (Murai et al., 2003; Fu et al., 2007). Indeed, activation of EphA4 forward signaling reduces spine length, whereas inhibition of EphA4 signaling increases spine length (Murai et al., 2003). Even though the activation of EphA by ephrinAs does not directly form synapses, the modification of dendritic spines indirectly affects synaptogenesis. In contrast, activation of EphB-ephrinB signaling promotes excitatory synapse formation with EphB forward signaling controlling dendritic filopodia motility, potentially allowing pre- and postsynaptic partners to initiate contact, and after EphB trans-synaptic interactions stabilizing nascent synaptic contacts (Kayser et al., 2008). Neurons cultured from EphB1-/-, EphB2-/-, EphB3-/- triple-knockout mice have a major reduction of postsynaptic dendritic filopodia motility. The increased filopodia motility initiated by EphBs signaling engage several Rho family GTPases, thereby remodeling the actin cytoskeleton of postsynaptic spines (Kayser et al., 2008; Lai and Ip, 2009). Furthermore, EphrinB binding to EphB induces a direct extracellular interaction between EphB and NMDARs (Dalva et al., 2000), resulting in NMDAR clustering (Takasu et al., 2002). In mature and synaptically active neurons, EphB receptor stimulation leads to an activation of Src family kinases which in turn phosphorylate NMDAR subunits resulting in increased channel gating (Grunwald et al., 2001). In the hippocampus of EphB1-/-, EphB2-/-, EphB3-/- triple-knockout mice,

dendritic spine development is impaired with less dendritic NMDAR and AMPAR clusters detected (Henkemeyer et al., 2003; Kayser et al., 2006). Overall, activation of ephrins by Eph receptors can induce synapse formation and spine morphogenesis, whereas in the mature nervous system, ephrin signaling modulates synaptic function and long-term changes in synaptic strength (Hruska and Dalva, 2012). However, there is still no explanation for how repulsive guidance by Eph/ephrins is converted into adhesive responses during synapse formation.

2.3.3.2.13. FLRTs

As mentioned above, neurexins were first discovered as the receptor for α -latrotoxin, which binds to presynaptic nerve terminals and triggers massive neurotransmitter release (Ushkaryov et al., 1992). However, another receptor for α -latrotoxin has been reported: latrophilins (Krasnoperov et al., 1997; Lelianova et al., 1997). The latrophilin family consists of three isoforms with a similar domain organization, consisting of a G proteincoupled receptor (GPCR) subunit and an unusually large adhesion-like extracellular Nterminal fragment with lectin, olfactomedin, and hormone receptor domains (Sugita et al., 1998; Ichtchenko et al., 1999). Though much effort has been expended investigating these molecules, it was only recently that the fibronectin leucine-rich repeat transmembrane (FLRT) proteins were identified as the endogenous ligands for latrophilins (O'Sullivan et al., 2012). The FLRTs, a family composed of three isoforms, are single-pass transmembrane proteins with ten extracellular leucine-rich repeat domains and a juxtamembrane fibronectin type 3 domain (Lacy et al., 1999). Roles in axon guidance and cell migration, through Unc5 proteins, were recently reported for the FLRTs (Yamagishi et al., 2011). Interestingly, FLRT3 is located on the postsynaptic membrane where it interacts with presynaptic latrophilin3 (O'Sullivan et al., 2012). Knockdown of FLRT3 results in a highly significant reduction in dendritic protrusion density relative to controls, which is associated with a decrease in the strength of synaptic input onto these cells. These results suggest a dual function for the FLRT in mediating both axon guidance and synapse formation.

2.3.3.2.14. IL1RAPL1 and IL-1RAcP

In addition to the regulation of innate and adaptive immune responses, the interleukin-1 (IL-1) family of cytokines is involved in sleep regulation, learning, memory, stress response, and control of lipid metabolism in the brain (Horai et al., 1998; Rothwell and Luheshi, 2000; Goshen and Yirmiya, 2009). A member of the receptor complex for IL-1, IL1-receptor accessory protein-like 1 (IL1RAPL1), was initially identified as the product of an X-linked gene responsible for a nonsyndromic form of mental retardation. The IL1RAPL1 knock-out mice have impaired hippocampal long-term potentiation and a decrease in number of hippocampal dendritic spines (Pavlowsky et al., 2010). In the zebrafish, IL1RAPL1 regulates synapse formation in vivo in olfactory sensory neurons (Yoshida and Mishina, 2008). It was later demonstrated that IL1RAPL1 also plays a role in synapse formation in mammalian neurons (Yoshida et al., 2011). Notably, this synaptogenic activity of IL1RAPL1 is specific for excitatory synapses in the neuronfibroblast coculture assay. Even more interesting, postsynaptic IL1RAPL1 binds to presynaptic PTP- δ , and this interaction is shown to be required for the synaptogenic effect of IL1RAPL1 since the activity of IL1RAPL1 was abolished in primary neurons from PTP-8 knock-out mice (Yoshida et al., 2011). When compared to the binding abilities of NGL-3 to PTP- δ , since NGL-3 interacts with PTP- δ (Kwon et al., 2010), it was found that the binding ability to PTP- δ was much stronger for IL1RAPL1 (Yoshida et al., 2011). Finally, another essential component of receptor complexes for IL-1, interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein (IL-1RAcP), also has robust synaptogenic activity (Yoshida et al., 2012). Knockdown of IL-1RAcP isoforms in cultured cortical neurons suppressed synapse formation. Furthermore, the spine densities of cortical and hippocampal pyramidal neurons were reduced in IL-1RAcP knock-out mice. Like IL1RaPL1, IL-1RAcP interacts with PTP-8. These results tremendously increase the complexity of the synaptic code generated by the PTP LAR family.

2.3.4. Role of Leucine-Rich Repeat proteins in synaptogenesis

Although synaptic cell adhesion proteins are involved in different steps of synapse formation, their functional specificity is based on a limited number of extracellular domains (Missler et al., 2012). The Ig-domains, cadherin domains, LNS domains, and LRRs are the most common building blocks of synaptic molecules. LRR is one of the most frequently seen protein domain repeats across species (Bjorklund et al., 2006), and the most recent count compiled a list of 375 human LRR-containing proteins (Ng et al., 2011). Of these, 139 are part of the extracellular LRR superfamily (Dolan et al., 2007), of which many are involved in various aspects of nervous system development (Chen et al., 2006; Homma et al., 2009; de Wit et al., 2011). Recently characterized families implicated in synapse formation, SALMs, NGLs and LRRTMs and now Slitrks, all have LRR domains. These proteins are added to other synaptic LRR proteins, which include densin-180, Erbin, TrkC, and LGI1. The LRR is a 20-29 aa motif that contains a conserved 11-residue sequence rich in leucines at the N-terminal (LxxLxLxXN/CxL where x is any aa) (Kobe and Kajava, 2001). When present in proteins, LRRs usually occur in tandem arrays of a few to more than a dozen that together constitute the LRR domain (Matsushima et al., 2005). Early X-ray crystallographic studies revealed that LRRs proteins have a curved, horseshoe-shaped structure, wherein parallel β -sheets line the inner circumference of the horseshoe (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1993, 1995). The particular structure makes the LRR domain a very effective protein-binding motif. The presence of such a large array of proteins with LRR domains at the synapse might be explained by their potential to ensure reliable synaptic connectivity based on the LRR protein-interaction motif.

3. The Slitrk family

3.1. Identification

The Slitrk family of genes was discovered in nucleotide sequence database searches aimed at identifying genes that are deregulated in mutant mice with neural tube defects (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). This new family of molecules was given the name Slitrk based on sequence similarity with Slits and Trks. Simultaneously, the gene KIAA0918 (now known as the fifth member of the Slitrk family) was reported as a gene expressed in early hematopoietic progenitors but not in mature hematopoietic cells (Shmelkov et al., 2001). The *Slitrk2* gene was also identified independently in a study focused on the transcriptional map of the entire q27 band of the Human X (Zucchi et al., 1999).

Interestingly, this portion of the chromosome X contains a gene candidate responsible for mental retardation conditions such as Fragile X syndrome (genes FMR1 and FMR2) (Gu et al., 1996) and other similar syndromes (Kondo et al., 1991). Zucchi et al.'s initial characterization of this novel gene predicted a protein with similarity to other members of the LRR protein superfamily such as Slit. The gene was then termed SLIT like protein 1 (SLITL1) (Submitted in September 1999 to the EMBL/GenBank/DDBJ databases).

3.2. Genomic organization of the mouse and human Slitrks

The Slitrk family is composed of six genes that are dispersed on three chromosomes: on chromosome 3 (*Slitrk3*), 14 (*Slitrk1*, 5 and 6) and X (*Slitrk2* and 4) (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). This chromosomal organization is conserved in human, such that the *Slitrks* are located on homologous chromosomes (Aruga et al., 2003). Closer analysis of the six *Slitrk* genes reveals that *Slitrk1* and *Slitrk5* are composed of a single exon and that *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, *Slitrk4* and *Slitrk6* have two exons. This pattern of gene organisation is conserved in mouse, rat, and human, with the exception of *Slitrk2* in human that has 3 exons. However, the protein-coding region of all the Slitrks is located in a single one of their exons (Aruga et al., 2003).

3.3. Phylogeny analysis for Slitrk1

In terms of evolutionary conservation, it is worth mentioning that unlike some other LRR proteins, the six Slitrk genes are not present in invertebrates. This may be surprising, considering the fact that multiple LRR-containing proteins that have functions in higher organisms are also critical in more ancient species. Nevertheless, the Slitrks have homologues in a broad range of vertebrates, from the chick and the frog to the human. This homology is best illustrated with the example of Slitrk1. As shown by the phylogenetic tree for this protein (Fig. 3), the aa sequence of Slitrk1 varies between different vertebrates.

Gal	us gallus	Alter and a second
Name of Spec	cies	NCBL Accession and
Binomial	Common	Nebi Neesson Code
Canis lupus familiaris	Domestic dog	gi 73989401 ref XP_542628.2
Equus caballus	Horse	gi 149730385 ref XP_001489125.1
Gallus gallus	Chicken	gi 118084717 ref XP_416993.2
Homo sapiens	Human	gi 4021/81 / ref NP_443142.1
Macaca mulatta	Khesus macaque	gi 109121032 [ref XP_001093240.1]
Monodelphis domestica	Upossum	gi 53454990 ref Ar_0015/8040.2
Roppe shali	Flouse mouse	gi j J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J
Porte composition	Common set	ai 157822855 [cc] ND 001100753 1
Kattus norvegius	Common rat	g 15/022035 101 1VF_001100/35.1
Sus scrota	wild pig	gi j 25229/010 ref XP_00192/07/.5
Xenopus (Silurana) tropicalis	Western clawed frog	g1 156/1//10 ret NP_001096395.1 0

Figure 3: Phylogenetic tree for Slitrk1.

The phylogenetic tree for Slitrk1 was constructed with average distance between species using percent of aa identity. The calculation of the identity percentage was obtained via the multiple sequence alignment program Clustal Omega (Larkin et al., 2007) and the graphic was reconstructed with the bioinformatics program Phylogeny.fr (Dereeper et al., 2008). The different species shown above are the ones in which Slitrk1 homologues are found.

3.4. Slitrks protein structure

All the members of the Slitrk family are type I (single pass) transmembrane proteins with the N-terminal outside of the cell and the C-terminal inside (Fig. 4). This orientation was deduced from the hydrophobicity profiles of the six proteins (Hofmann and Stoffel, 1993; Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). The sizes of the Slitrks vary between 696 aa and 980 (Aruga et al., 2003). The extracellular portion of the Slitrks contains two LRR domains. Each LRR domain is composed of 13-17 LRR motifs and each domain is flanked by four conserved cysteine residues. The length of the cytoplasmic tail varies between the different members but none contain any known functional domain. Slitrk1 has a shorter tail relative to the five other Slitrks. While it may be useful in understanding the mode of action of these proteins, to date, no crystal structure of the Slitrks has been solved.



Analysis of the protein domains found in the human sequences of the six Slitrks. The precise delimitation of each domain was obtained on the UniProt Knowledgebase (UniProtKB) database (www.uniprot.org) and confirmed with the Protein database from NCBI (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein). Note that these two bioinformatic tools did not always define the region in N-terminal of the first LRR as a domain per se even if the sequence is cysteine-rich in all cases. Red box, leucine-rich repeat domain; green box, leucine-rich repeat terminal domain in both amino- and carboxy- region; blue box, transmembrane domain. The scale bar at the bottom represents the length of the proteins in aa.

3.5. Expression of Slitrks in the nervous system

As a first attempt to examine the tissue distribution of the Slitrks genes, Northern blot analyses were performed in the adult mouse (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003) and in human brain (Aruga et al., 2003). With expression beginning around embryonic day (E) 10-12, the Slitrks were mostly found in the brain. Using *in situ* hybridization, all the Slitrk mRNAs were also detected in embryonic brain ((Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003); chapter 2). Unlike Slitrk1 to 5, which are mainly expressed in the brain, Slitrk6 is also expressed mainly outside the CNS (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). Using a series of *in situ* hybridization experiments, Slitrk6 expression was found in visceral organs and in head structures in the developing mouse. Slitrk6 is highly expressed in taste buds (Hevezi et al., 2009). Interestingly, Slitrk6 mRNA levels were increased the most in the lungs of the glucocorticoid receptor-null mice (Bird et al., 2007).

Anti-Slitrk1 antibody strongly detects proteins in the olfactory bulb, frontal cortex, hippocampus and amygdala (Katayama et al., 2008). This expression during mammalian brain development seems to be evolutionarily conserved. At least, its regional and developmental expression is preserved in mouse, monkey and human brain (Stillman et al., 2009). Using immunoelectron microscopy in the cerebral cortex of adult mouse and rhesus monkey, Slitrk1 was found in neuronal dendrites, in the periphery of the Golgi apparatus and in the early and late endosomes (Stillman et al., 2009). These observations were confirmed by the colocalization of Slitrk1 with the dendritic marker, microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) (Garner et al., 1988), but not with the axonal microtubule-associated protein, tau (Dotti et al., 1987). Slitrk1 also colocalizes with RAB5, an early endosome marker. Furthermore, in the adult striatum, the few neurons that maintain Slitrk1 protein expression are positive for the cholinergic interneuron marker, choline acetyltransferase (CHaT) (Stillman et al., 2009). Interestingly, striatal cholinergic interneurons have recently been implicated in the induction of synaptic plasticity, motor learning and motor dysfunction (Pisani et al., 2007).

3.6. Relationship to Slits and Trks proteins

Since the Slitrks were given their name according to their similarity to the Slit and the Trk proteins, the relation between them will be describe here. The Slits belong to a family of potent secreted chemorepellents that can regulate the growth of growing axons through their receptors, the Robos. Structurally, the Slits are large secreted glycoproteins containing four LRR domains at their N-terminus followed by six EGF-like motifs, three laminin G domains, and a C-terminal cysteine-knot motif (Beaubien et al., In press). The homology between the Slits and the Slitrks spans the entire extracellular domains of Slitrk proteins. However, elevated percentages of identical aa residues are only present in the most amino-terminal LRR domains of the Slits and the Slitrks (Fig. 5) (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). In fact, the LRRs of Slitrks are no closer in terms of homology to Slits than to other LRRs proteins. In regard to function, Slitrks and Slits are likely to be different as they do not bind the same receptor. While Slits bind to Robo, no direct physical interaction between the extracellular domain of Slitrk and the extracellular domain of Robo has been reported ((Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003); our unpublished observation).

On the intracellular side of the membrane, the Slitrks are homologous to the neurotrophin receptors, Trks. This similarity is located at the carboxyl-terminus of both proteins, more precisely around specific tyrosine residues (Y791 in TrkA and their corresponding tyrosines in TrkB and TrkC and Y833 in Slitrk2 and their corresponding tyrosines in Slitrk3-4-5) (Fig. 5). Y791 is phosphorylated in Trks upon activation and dimerization of these receptors by neurotrophins (Obermeier et al., 1993; Perez et al., 1995; Arevalo and Wu, 2006). At present, there is no information in the literature about the possible phosphorylation of this conserved tyrosine residue in Slitrks 2 to 5. Finally, the same segment of the TrkA sequence (PPXY) is also responsible for the Nedd4-2 E3 ubiquitin ligase binding that affects the internalization of the receptor upon NGF binding (Arevalo et al., 2006). Knowing that Slitrks are also type 1 transmembrane proteins, it would be interesting to assess the role of E3 ubiquitin ligase in the recycling of the Slitrks.

A			B			101 (C. 1990)
Sltk1	87	LHMENNGLHEIVPGAFLGLQLVKRLHINNNKIKSFRKQTFLG		S1tk2	823	LQAKPQSEPDYLEVLEKQTAISQL
Sltk2	91	LHLGNNGLQEIRPGAFSGLKTLKRLHLNNNKLEVLREDTFLG		S1tk3	959	LRAKLQTKPDYLEVLEKTTYRF
Sltk3	107	INLGNNALQDIQTGAFNGLKILKRLYLHENKLDVFRNDTFLG		S1tk4	843	LKAKLQSSPDYLQVLEEQTALNKI
Sltk4	117	LHLGNNKLQNIEGGAFLGLSALKQLHLNNNELKILRADTFLG		Sltk5	934	LKAKLNVEPDYLEVLEKQTTFSQF
Sltk5	110	LHLGSNVIQDIETGAFHGLRGLRRLHLNNNKLELLRDDTFLG		Sltk6	822	LKANLHAEPDYLEVLEQQT
S1tk6	93	IHLGFNNIADIETGAFNGLGLLKQLHINHNSLEILKEDTFHG		TrkA	781	LQALAQAPPVYLDVLG
Slit1	114	LRLNRNQLHMLPELLFQNNQALSRLDLSENAIQAIPRKAFRG		TrkB	807	LQNLAKASPVYLDILG
Slit2	108	LRLNRNHLQLFPELLFLGTAKLYRLDLSENQIQAIPRKAFRG		TrkC	810	LHALGKATPIYLDILG
Slit3	114	LRLNKNKLQVLPELLFQSTPKLTRLDLSENQIQGIPRKAFRG				
		* * * * * * * *				

Figure 5: Amino acid sequence alignment of Slitrks/Slits and Slitrks/Trks.

(A) Alignment in the leucine-rich repeat domain between mouse Slitrk protein aa sequences and the human slits. The leucine rich repeat L–L–L–N motifs are indicated by asterisks below the sequences. The green shaded letters indicate completely conserved amino acid residues among the Slitrks and Slits. (B) aa sequence alignment of the carboxyl-terminus of the Slitrk and human Trk neurotrophin receptor. Purple-colored letters indicate the tyrosine residues conserved between the Trk proteins and Slitrk proteins, and green-colored letters indicate the conserved aa residues between Slitrk proteins. (Adapted from (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003))

3.7. Functions of the Slitrks

3.7.1. Slitrks and neuropsychiatric disorders

3.7.1.1. Tourette's syndrome

The first evidence for a role of the Slitrks in any neurological disease came when mutations in the *Slitrk1* gene were identified in a Tourette's syndrome (TS) patient (Abelson et al., 2005). TS is a complex neuropsychiatric disorder characterized by a large range and variable number of unwanted repetitive simple or complex motor and vocals tics (American_Psychiatric_Association, 2000). Once considered a rare disorder, the newest estimation of the prevalence of TS is approximately 4 to 6/1000 children (Khalifa and von Knorring, 2003; Jin et al., 2005). The onset is during childhood and the tics usually reach their worst point between ages of 9 to 12 (Gadow et al., 2002). In terms of comorbidity, as high as 60% of TS patients are diagnosed with attention deficit

hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Coffey et al., 2000; Eapen et al., 2004) and 50% have prominent obsessive-compulsive symptoms (Pauls, 2003). It is now accepted that the etiology of TS involves the interaction of environmental and genetic risk factors. A number of epigenetic factors have also been implicated in the pathogenesis, such as gestational and perinatal insults, exposure to androgens, heat, and fatigue as well as postinfectious autoimmune mechanisms (Swain et al., 2007). In terms of the genetic contribution to TS, comparison between monozygotic and dizygotic twins initially suggested major gene effects (Pauls et al., 1981). However, more recent studies instead support poly- or oligogenic (a few genes) inheritance (Walkup et al., 1996). Slitrk1 was proposed as a TS susceptibility factor when a de novo inversion in chromosome 13 was identified in a Caucasian boy presenting with TS and ADHD (Abelson et al., 2005). Fine mapping of the inverted region revealed that the *Slitrk1* gene is located near one of the borders of the inversion. Screening 174 TS patients also led to the identification of one proband with a single-base deletion in the coding region of the *Slitrk1* gene, creating a frameshift that resulted in the formation of a stop codon in the second LRR domain, and consequently, a truncated Slitrk1 protein. In addition to this stop codon mutation, a single-base change that maps to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the Slitrk1 transcript was found in two unrelated patients with TS and obsessive-compulsive symptoms and not in 4296 control chromosomes (Abelson et al., 2005). This noncoding sequence variant (var321) is within the predicted binding site of a microRNA (miRNA), hsa-miR-189 (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2003; Miska et al., 2004). The miRNAs are small (18-25 nucleotides) noncoding RNAs that are capable of regulating gene expression. In a later study with 92 TS Austrian patients, no nucleotide change was found in the coding region of *Slitrk1* but, a new 3' UTR variant was identified in one patient and segregated in two additional family members with tic symptoms (Zimprich et al., 2008). Overall, the identification of Slitrk1 as a new candidate gene that might be associated with a subset of TS patients, provided hope that it will help in understanding the fundamental pathways underlying the disease pathogenesis. However, multiple subsequent studies in North American, Costa Rican, Ashkenazi, Dutch and Taiwanese individuals with TS failed to identify Slitrk1 mutations (Deng et al., 2006; Keen-Kim et al., 2006; Verkerk et al., 2006; Chou et al., 2007). Similar negative results were obtained in the largest screen (1048

individuals) performed to date using the samples collected by the Tourette Syndrome Association International Consortium for Genetics (TSAICG, 2007; Scharf et al., 2008). This study concluded that var321 is only rarely present in patients with TS.

3.7.1.2. Other potential implications in neuropsychiatric disorders

Belonging to obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) spectrum with TS, trichotillomania (TTM) is a chronic behavioral disorder characterized by hair loss due to repeated urges hair until breaks pull twist it off (Hallopeau, 1889; to or American_Psychiatric_Association, 2000). The prevalence of TTM in adult and child populations is largely unknown as the necessary large-scale epidemiological studies have not been published (Duke et al., 2009). In terms of genetic causes of the syndrome, a recent concordance study examined differences in TTM rates occurring in monozygotic and dizygotic twin pairs and found significant differences supporting that heritability is an important contributor to the manifestation (Novak et al., 2009). Interestingly, the mother of the TS patient initially identified with a stop codon mutation in Slitrk1 gene was diagnosed with TTM (Abelson et al., 2005). Later, the sequencing of the Slitrk1 gene in 44 TTM families in which one or more individuals are diagnosed uncovered two novel non-synonymous mutations in the extracellular portion of Slitrk1 (Zuchner et al., 2006). The altered genotype was not detected in 2192 non-TTM controls. However, the two Slitrk1 sequence variants represent a frequency of 4.5% which is considered as a rare variation.

Because 40% of TS probands have OCD or at least moderate obsessive-compulsive symptoms (Bloch et al., 2006), in the next study 322 OCD probands and 390 controls were genotyped for the Slitrk1 var321 and the frameshift mutation inducing an premature stop codon (Wendland et al., 2006). Wendland et al. did not observe any of the rare Slitrk1 variants in the OCD probands. However, one var321 heterozygote subject was found in the negative controls, somewhat reducing the probability of an exclusive association between the variant and TS.

Recently, *Slitrk2* was suggested to be bipolar risk gene (Smith et al., 2009). Bipolar disorder (BD) is characterized by episodes of mania and depression

(American_Psychiatric_Association, 2000). The present literature based on family, twin, and adoption studies supports a strong genetic component for this disorder (the heritable component of bipolar disorder ranges between 80 and 90%) (Rice et al., 1987; Pregelj, 2011). In an effort to identify specific genetic variations influencing BD, a genome-wide association study was performed on various populations. Residing on chromosome X, Slitrk2 gene is located near one of the top hits of the study (Smith et al., 2009).

Fragile X syndrome is the most common form of inherited intellectual disability in boys. Most often, it is due to an abnormal expansion of DNA triplet repeats (CGG) in the 5' UTR of the *FMR1* gene that eventually reduces the expression of the protein (Turk, 2011). However, other mutational mechanisms, such as deletions of FMR1, also cause the syndrome. Sometimes these deletions can be up to 13 Mb in size, which may be cytogenetically visible and often include adjacent genes (Coffee et al., 2008). Recently, a mother and her son were described, with a large Xq27.3–q28 deletion encompassing the *FMR1*, *FMR2* genes as well as, interestingly, the *Slitrk2* gene (Cavani et al., 2010). Since the phenotype of Fragile X syndrome patients with large deletions is more severe than patients with the CGG expansion, the loss of the *Slitrk2* gene could be partly responsible for the symptoms.

The *Slitrk2* gene also reported in a screen for rare variants in genes that could predispose individuals to autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and schizophrenia (SCZ) in a fraction of cases (Piton et al., 2010b). Indeed, *Slitrk2* was included in a selection of 111 potential candidates based mainly on its location on chromosome X and its brain expression. The authors focused on X-linked genes, as several pieces of evidence have implicated this chromosome in ASD and SCZ (Marco and Skuse, 2006; Loat et al., 2008). The sequencing of *Slitrk2* in a cohort of 142 ASD and 143 SCZ individuals reveals two novel non-synonymous variants, 265G>A and 1646C>T, in females with SCZ and in their affected siblings. These two mutations were not found in the control group which included 277 X chromosomes.

3.7.2. Slitrks and their CNS functions

3.7.2.1. Early experiments with cell lines and primary neurons

Our understanding of the role of Slitrks in neurodevelopment remains very limited. Early studies in PC12 cells suggested that Slitrks can modulate neurite outgrowth (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). PC12 is a cell line derived from a pheochromocytoma of the rat adrenal medulla that has the ability to stop dividing and to terminally differentiate into a sympathetic-like neuronal phenotype characterized by neurite outgrowth when treated with nerve growth factor (NGF), FGF2 or cAMP analogues (Greene and Tischler, 1976; Gunning et al., 1981; Rydel and Greene, 1987). In a non-NGF induced paradigm, overexpression of Slitrk1 leads to neurite outgrowth whereas overexpression of other Slitrks did not have a significant effect. When the PC12 cells were induced with NGF, overexpression of Slitrk1 had no effect on neurite outgrowth whereas neurite outgrowth was severely suppressed in Slitrk2 and Slitrk3-transfected cells and weakly suppressed in Slitrk4, Slitrk5 and Slitrk6 expressing cells compared to control cells treated with NGF. The intracellular region of Slitrk2 is required for its neurite outgrowth inhibition. This function might depend on the phosphorylation of the tyrosine residues located in this portion of the Slitrks. Overexpression of Slitrk1 can also promote neurite outgrowth in mouse cortical neurons (Abelson et al., 2005; Kajiwara et al., 2009).

3.7.2.2. Interaction between Slitrk1 and the 14-3-3 proteins

Remarkably, the neurite outgrowth effect of Slitrk1 is abolished with the mutation of a single aa, Ser₆₉₅ (Kajiwara et al., 2009). This serine is important for Slitrk1 binding to all the seven members of the 14-3-3 family of proteins (Kajiwara et al., 2009). The 14-3-3 family consists of seven distinct isoforms that are adapter proteins that interact with specific phospho-aa motifs within a number of binding proteins and consequently regulate diverse cellular processes (Garbe and Bashaw, 2004; Jin et al., 2004; Bridges and Moorhead, 2005; van Heusden, 2005; Clandinin and Feldheim, 2009; Kent et al., 2010). The 14-3-3s recruit substrate proteins in specific subcellular localizations and therefore control their spatial and temporal activity (Muslin and Xing, 2000). Slitrk1 colocalizes with 14-3-3s in the soma, dendrites and growth cones of rat cortical neurons (Kajiwara et al., 2004).

al., 2009). Several potential sites of serine/threonine phosphorylation have been identified in Slitrk1 including Ser₆₉₅, which is specifically phosphorylated by casein kinase II (CK2). Interestingly, Slitrk1 bearing a phosphomimetic S695E mutation enhances neurite outgrowth in neurons to a similar level of wild-type Slitrk1, while a S695A Slitrk1 mutant does not. The mutation S695A also affects the 14-3-3 binding suggesting that 14-3-3/Slitrk1 interaction might be involved in the modulation of neuritogenesis (Kajiwara et al., 2009).

3.7.2.3. Characterization of Slitrk knockout mice

The importance of Slitrks in the development and maintenance of the nervous system has been emphasized by gene ablation studies in mice. *Slitrk1*-deficient mice do not display any external visible abnormalities other than a slightly lower body weight in males (Katayama et al., 2008). Their brains did not reveal any obvious anatomical or histological abnormalities. *Slitrk1-/-* mice do not have any unusual behaviors, including stereotypy, tremor, seizure or abnormal repetitive behaviors during global observation and behave normally in a paradigm used to detect OCD symptoms in animal. However, *Slitrk1-/-* mice demonstrate anxiety-like behaviors while performing the elevated plusmaze test (Pellow et al., 1985; Treit et al., 1993). Interestingly, treatment of *Slitrk1-/-* mice with clonidine, an agonist of the α 2-adrenoceptor often prescribed to TS patients (Schlicker and Gothert, 1998), alleviates the anxiety-like behaviors (Katayama et al., 2008). *Slitrk1-/-* mice also present a depression-like behavior measured by the forced swimming test and a decrease in locomotor activity (Katayama et al., 2008), behaviors that are not alleviated by treatment with clonidine. *Slitrk1-/-* mice may therefore represent a valuable model to better understand complicated neuropsychiatric diseases.

In contrast to Slitrk1 mutant mice, Slitrk5 mutant mice exhibit behaviors that are more reminiscent of OCD (Shmelkov et al., 2010). These mice develop severe facial skin lesions and hair loss at three months of age as a result of excessive self-grooming. Administration of fluoxetine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor commonly used to treat OCD (Mataix-Cols et al., 1999), to these mice alleviated these behaviors. Interestingly, *neurexin-1a*-deficient mice exhibit the same repetitive grooming behaviors

(Etherton et al., 2009). *Slitrk5-/-* mice showed an increase activity in the marble-burying behavior test indicating possible OCD. Furthermore, orbitofrontal cortex is over-activated in the *Slitrk5-/-* mice, reminiscent of OCD patients who have elevated activity in this brain region (Whiteside et al., 2004; Menzies et al., 2008). These behaviors have been proposed to result from a decrease in the overall number of glutamate receptor subunits in the striatal neurons in *Slitrk5-/-* mice. Hence, the ablation of Slitrk5 seems to generate some of the hallmarks of OCD. However, it is still unknown why removal Slitrk5, which is broadly expressed in the brain, affects more strongly the orbitofrontal cortex and striatal neurons.

Slitrk3-deficient mice also have normal gross brain morphology (Takahashi et al., 2012). Interestingly, occasional convulsive seizures were observed in *Slitrk3-/-* mice together with increased susceptibility to chemoconvulsant-induced seizures. These mutant mice will be further discussed in chapter 4.

While ablation of Slitrk1, Slitrk3 and Slitrk5 results in behavioral defects associated with TS, SCZ, and OCD, ablation of Slitrk6 expression does not appear to lead to abnormal behaviors in anxiety tests (Matsumoto et al., 2011). In contrast, *Slitrk6-/-* mice show defects in the development of the inner ear that include marked alterations in the spacing of radial fibers projecting to the organ of Corti and cochlea (Katayama et al., 2009). It is reminiscent of previous observations on the expression of Slitrk6 in various developing organs outside the central nervous system including the cochlea (Aruga, 2003). Explants of spinal ganglia show reduced neurite outgrowth when grown in the presence of cochlear sensory epithelia isolated from *Slitrk6-/-* mice when compared to epithelia isolated from wild-type mice, suggesting that Slitrk6 may have a neurotrophic effect (Katayama et al., 2009). Finally, auditory function tests revealed that *Slitrk6-/-* mice have a mid-frequency range hearing loss and a mild vestibular function defect (Matsumoto et al., 2011). Even if Slitrk6 expression in the brain is low, it can be hypothesized that *Slitrk6-/-* mice may bear additional yet unidentified defects in neurodevelopment.

4. Rationale and objectives

At the onset of my graduate studies, very little was known about the function of Slitrks in the nervous system (Aruga, 2003; Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003; Aruga et al., 2003). Based on the few published observations and the interesting protein structures of the Slitrks, I hypothesized that this novel family may play a role in the development of the nervous system and therefore, decided to answer two specific questions described below:

OBJECTIVE 1:

WHAT IS THE SPATIO-TEMPORAL EXPRESSION PATTERN OF SLITRKS IN THE NERVOUS SYSTEM?

I have performed a detailed analysis of the expression patterns of *Slitrks* during neurodevelopment at embryonic and postnatal ages. Using *in situ* hybridization, I demonstrated that, despite some overlap, each of the six *Slitrks* have a unique expression profile suggesting they may have different roles during neurodevelopment. These results are presented in Chapter 2.

OBJECTIVE 2:

ARE THE SLITRKS IMPLICATED IN SYNAPSE FORMATION?

Based on the expression pattern of Slitrks and the synaptogenic activity reported for proteins with similar structures, I examined whether Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are involved in the development of new synapses. Working with rat hippocampal neuron cultures, I have shown that Slitrks possess the potential to induce new synapses. These results are presented in Chapter 3.

Chapter 2

DIFFENTIAL EXPRESSION OF SLITRK FAMILY MEMBERS IN THE MOUSE NERVOUS SYSTEM

François Beaubien and Jean-François Cloutier

Montreal Neurological Institute, Centre for Neuronal Survival, 3801 University, Montréal, Québec, Canada, H3A 2B4

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada

1. Preface

This chapter was published as a research article in 2009 in Developmental Dynamics (Beaubien and Cloutier, 2009). At the onset of these studies, several members of the Slitrk family had been shown to be expressed in the nervous system. However, a detailed and comprehensive analysis of their patterns of expression in the prenatal and early postnatal brains of mice was not available. I therefore present in this chapter a comprehensive description of the expression of Slitrks in the mouse developing nervous system. These studies allowed us to begin to define what potential roles Slitrks may play in neurodevelopment.

Acknowledgements:

This work was supported by NARSAD. J.-F.C. holds a Canada Research Chair in developmental neurobiology. We thank Janet Prince and Don Van Meyel for comments on the manuscript. We thank Michel Cayouette for his advice on identifying cell layers in the retina.

2. Abstract

The Slitrk family of transmembrane proteins is composed of six members that are highly expressed in the nervous system. To date, the function of Slitrks during development of the nervous system has yet to be defined. The high homology between the extracellular region of Slitrks and the repulsive axon guidance molecules Slits suggest that Slitrks may regulate axon outgrowth during development. To begin to evaluate their role during development, we have examined the expression of the *Slitrk* genes in the developing murine nervous system using *in situ* hybridization. Here, we show that despite some overlap in expression, the Slitrks display distinct patterns of expression in the olfactory system, the eye, forebrain structures, the cerebellum, the spinal cord, and dorsal root ganglia. These diverse patterns of expression suggest that Slitrk family members may have different functions during development of the nervous system.

3. Introduction

The development of the nervous system requires a wide variety of processes to take place including cellular differentiation, cellular migration, axonal guidance, and synapse formation and refinement. A large number of type 1 transmembrane proteins containing LRR domains are highly expressed in the nervous system and have been implicated in regulating various phases of neuronal development (Chen et al., 2006; Dolan et al., 2007; Ko and Kim, 2007). The Slitrks are a large subfamily of LRR-containing transmembrane proteins (Slitrk1 to 6) that were first identified in a screen for differentially expressed genes in mice with neural tube defects (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). They are type 1 transmembrane proteins composed of an extracellular domain containing two LRR highly homologous between members of the family and a cytoplasmic region that varies in size between the six members. The LRR domains of Slitrk family members show a high homology to LRR regions found in members of the Slit family of secreted molecules that have been implicated in the regulation of several biological processes including cell migration, axonal pathfinding, and axonal and dendritic branching (Nguyen-Ba-Charvet and Chedotal, 2002). In addition, the cytoplasmic region of most Slitrks contains tyrosine residues with surrounding aa sequences homologous to Trk

family neurotrophin receptors (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). The differences observed between the intracellular domains of Slitrk family members may allow them to perform different roles during neuronal development.

The function of Slitrk family members during development of the nervous system remains largely unknown. Expression of Slitrk1 in PC12 cells and cortical neurons induces the growth of unipolar neurites and dendritic branching in these respective cells (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003; Abelson et al., 2005). In contrast, expression of other Slitrk family members inhibits NGF-induced neurite outgrowth to varying levels in PC12 cells (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). The differential effect of Slitrk1 on neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells compared to other Slitrks may be related to the presence of a very short cytoplasmic tail on Slitrk1 when compared to Slitrk2 to 6. Ablation of Slitrk1 expression in the mouse leads to increased anxiety-like behaviour despite the absence of any gross anatomical abnormalities in the brain (Katayama et al., 2008). These results suggest that Slitrk1 may regulate the formation or maintenance of proper brain wiring. In keeping with this possibility, Slitrk1 was proposed as a susceptibility gene for TS (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003; Abelson et al., 2005; Miranda et al., 2008) and Slitrk1 is highly expressed in neurons believed to be affected in these patients (Stillman et al., 2009). However, other studies did not report an association between mutations in Slitrk1 and TS (Deng et al., 2006; Verkerk et al., 2006; Wendland et al., 2006; Scharf et al., 2008).

In an effort to further understand the roles of Slitrks during development of the mouse nervous system, we have performed a comprehensive analysis of their expression in the late prenatal and early postnatal periods using *in situ* hybridization. The partially overlapping yet differential expression of the six *Slitrk* genes in the nervous system that we report here suggests they may play different roles in the development of specific regions of the brain.

4. Experimental Procedures

Animals

E18 mouse embryos were obtained from timed-pregnant CD1 females and brains were isolated from P10 CD1 mice purchased from Charles River (Saint-Constant, Quebec, Canada). Date of vaginal plug was considered as E0 and the day of birth was taken as day P0. The embryos and brains were embedded in Tissue-Tek O.C.T. compound (Miles, Elkhart,IN) and frozen in dry ice-cooled 2-methylbutane. Tissues were stored at -80°C for future sectioning. All animal procedures used were in accordance with the guidelines and approval of the McGill University animal care committee.

Riboprobe synthesis

Nonradioactive, digoxigenin (DIG)-labeled cRNA probes with either sense or antisense orientation were synthesized by *in vitro* transcription using DIG labelling mix (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the recommendations of the manufacturer. *Slitrk* probes were synthesized from mouse cDNA clones of the full coding sequence purchased from Open Biosystems (Huntsville, AL): *Slitrk1* (EST IMAGE number 9007276), *Slitrk2* (EST IMAGE number 40060548), *Slitrk3* (EST IMAGE number 6844461), *Slitrk4* (EST IMAGE number 40096585), *Slitrk5* (EST IMAGE number 30357422), *Slitrk6* (EST IMAGE number 8861685). Transcription of the full length cDNA clones synthesized cRNA probes of 600-1000 base pairs that were partially hydrolyzed for 25 min at 60°C in 10 mM DTT, 200 mM NaHC0₃/Na₂CO₃, pH 11, to an average length of 100-250 nucleotides (Schaeren-Wiemers and Gerfin-Moser, 1993). Hydrolysis was stopped by neutralization with 100 mM acetic acid, and the cRNA probes were precipitated with 1/10 volume of 4M LiCl and 2.5 volumes of ethanol at -80°C. Precipitated cRNA fragments were recovered in 20 µl diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water.

In situ hybridization with digoxigenin-labeled riboprobes

Fresh frozen brains were cryosectioned at 20 µm at -17°C and thaw mounted on Fisherbrand Superfrost/Plus microscope slides (Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH).

Sections were allowed to dry for 1 hour, fixed for 20 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered isotonic saline (PBS; pH 7.4), rinsed three times for 5 minutes in PBS, and rinsed once briefly in DEPC-treated water. Sections were incubated for 10 minutes with 0.25% acetic anhydride in 1% triethanolamine, washed twice in PBS, rinsed in 1x standard saline citrate (SSC) for 5 minutes, and prehybridized for 3 hours at 60°C in 50% formamide, 5x Denhardt's solution, 5x SSC, 200 µg/ml baker's yeast tRNA. Two hundred microliters of hybridization mixture containing approximately 100 ng/ml DIGlabeled riboprobe were applied per slide, covered with Nescofilm (Karlan research products corporation, Cottonwood, AZ), and hybridized overnight at 60°C. On the following day, sections were washed for 5 minutes at 60°C in 5x SSC, 1 minutes at room temperature (RT) in 2x SSC, 30 minutes at 60°C in 50% formamide containing 0,2x SSC, and 5 minutes in 0,2x SSC at RT. Sections were then washed in Tris-buffered saline (TBS; 100 mM Tris-HC1, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl) for 5 minutes and blocked for 1 hour in a 1% solution of blocking reagent (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) in TBS, followed by a three hour incubation with anti-DIG Fab fragments conjugated to alkaline phosphatase (1:3000) and two 15 minute washes in TBS. The color reaction was performed overnight at room temperature. Sections were rinsed extensively in PBS and coverslipped with Mowiol 4-88 (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA). Brightfield in situ hybridization signals on sections were photographed using a Zeiss Axio imager upright microscope equipped with a monochrome Qimaging Retiga Exi camera. Each in situ hybridization experiment was repeated a minimum of three times on a minimum of three different animals to eliminate any variability in expression between animals.

5. Results

5.1. Specificity of the cRNA probes used in this study

To examine the expression of *Slitrk* genes in the developing nervous system, coronal sections of E18 mouse embryos were incubated with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* mRNAs and representative sections showing defined patterns of expression are presented in Figure 1. To assess potential cross-reactivity of our cRNA probes among different *Slitrk* family members, we carefully compared their general patterns of expression on the premise that regions detected by only one *Slitrk* probe would provide

direct evidence that probes for other *Slitrks* do not also recognize this specific family member. For 4 probes (*Slitrk2, Slitrk3, Slitrk5, and Slitrk6*), there were regions expressing only a single *Slitrk* family member. For example, the neuroepithelium (*Slitrk2*) (Fig. 1B), the granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (OB) (*Slitrk3*) (Fig. 2C), the molecular layer of the cerebellum (*Slitrk5*) (Fig. 7E), and the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer of the retina (*Slitrk6*) (Fig. 10F) were each uniquely detected by only one probe.

Slitrk1 and Slitrk5 were only expressed in regions coincident with other family members. Therefore, we used the deductive reasoning that follows to demonstrate the specificity of these two probes. Slitrk1 was expressed in the ganglion cell layer of the retina but Slitrk2, Slitrk4, and Slitrk6 were not (Fig. 10A, B, D, F). Slitrk1 was also expressed in the ventricular zone of the cortex, but *Slitrk3* and *Slitrk5* were not (Fig. 3A, E, I). Together, these findings demonstrate that cRNA probes for Slitrks2-6 do not recognize Slitrk1 transcripts. In a similar fashion, we deduced the specificity of our probe for Slitrk4, which is expressed in the mitral cell layer of the OB (Slitrk2 and Slitrk6 are not; Fig. 2B, D, F) and the inner granule layer of the cerebellum at P10 (Slitrk3 is not; Fig. 7C). Slitrk1 and Slitrk5 transcripts were detected in all regions expressing Slitrk4, and therefore we cannot completely exclude the possibility that these two cRNA probes may cross-react with Slitrk4 transcripts. However, the signals observed with the Slitrk1 and Slitrk5 cRNA probes are consistently more robust than the signal observed with the Slitrk4 cRNA probe in all regions examined, suggesting these probes specifically detect Slitrk1 and Slitrk5 transcripts rather than Slitrk4 transcripts. Taken together, we conclude that the each of the cRNA probes used in this study is specific for its target, and does not crossreact with other members of the family. A summary of brain structures where Slitrk1 to Slitrk6 expression is observed is presented in Table 1 and a description of their expression in specific regions of the nervous system is provided below.

			E	18			P10					
I. Telencephalon												
Eye												
Neuroblastic layer	-	2	-	-	-	6						
Retinal GCL/INL	1	-	3	-	5	-						
Olfactory system												
Vomeronasal organ	-	-	-	-	-	-						
Olfactory epithelium	-	-	-	-	5	6						
OB glomerular layer	1	2	-	-	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
OB mitral cell layer	1	-	3	4	5	-	1	-	3	-	5	-
OB granular cell layer	-	-	3	-	-	-	1	-	3	4	5	-
Cerebral cortex												
Ventricular zone	1	2	-	-	-	-						
Subplate	1	-	-	4	5	-						
Cortical plate	1	2	3	4	5	-						
CI							-	-	-	-	-	-
CII – IV							1	-	3	-	5	-
CV							-	-	3	-	5	-
CVI							1	-	3	-	5	-
'iriform cortex	1	-	3	4	5	-						
Ippocampal formation												
CA1	1	2	3	4	5	-	1	2	3	4	5	-
CA3	1	2	3	4	5	-	1	2	3	4	5	-
Dentate gyrus	-	-	3	-	5	-	1	2	3	4	5	
triatum	1	2	3	4	5	-						
mygdala	1	2	3	4	5	-						
eptum	1	-	3	4	5	6						
I. Diencephalon												
halamus	1	-	3	4	5	6						
Iypothalamus	1	2	3	4	5	6						
II. Mesencephalon												
Superior colliculus	1	-	3	-	5	-						
nferior colliculus	1	-	3	-	5	-						
V. Rhombencephalon												
Cerebellum												
Molecular layer	-	-	3	-	5	-	-	-	-	-	5	
Purkinje layer	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	-	3	4	5	6
Inner granular layer							1	2	-	4	5	
Deep cerebellar nuclei	1	-	3	4	5	6	1	-	3	4	5	
VI. Others												
Spinal cord	1	2	3	4	5	6						
Dorsal root ganglia	1	2	3	-	5	-						
Frigeminal ganglion	1	2	3	4	5	-						



Figure 1: mRNA expression of Slitrk family members in the developing brain.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of brains at E18 with antisense cRNA probes specific for *Slitrk1* (**A**), *Slitrk2* (**B**), *Slitrk3* (**C**), *Slitrk4* (**D**), *Slitrk5* (**E**), and *Slitrk6* (**F**). *Slitrk1-5* are widely expressed in the brain while *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the thalamus. *Slitrk1, 3, 4,* and 5 are highly expressed in the hippocampus (H) while *Slitrk2* is expressed in the neuroepithelium (NE) (**A, B, C, D, E**). *Slitrk3* mRNA is detected in the trigeminal ganglia (TG) (**C**). *Slitrk5* is expressed in the ventral medial hypothalamic nucleus (VMH) (**E**). Scale bar = 1 mm.

5.2. Slitrks expression in the olfactory system

The olfactory bulb (OB) receives olfactory information coming from olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs) located in the olfactory epithelium and relays this information to higher brain structures (Cho et al., 2008a). ORNs project their axons to the OB where they form synapses with dendrites of second order neurons in neuropil structures termed glomeruli. *Slitrk1* mRNA is detected in the developing glomerular layer (GL) and in the mitral cell layer (MCL) containing second-order neurons which receive input from ORNs and send projections to pyramidal cells in the cortex (Fig. 2A). In contrast to Slitrk1, Slitrk2 is expressed in cells lining the olfactory ventricule (OV) and in the GL (Fig. 2B). *Slitrk2* is also the only family member to be observed in the olfactory nerve layer (ONL). The *Slitrk3* gene is strongly expressed in the granule cell layer of the OB (GCL), which contains cells implicated in lateral inhibition of the mitral cells, and in the MCL (Fig. 2C). Slitrk4 expression is restricted to the MCL while Slitrk5 shows a pattern of expression similar to Slitrk1 with expression in the GL and MCL (Fig. 2D, E). At E18, Slitrk6 is the only member of the family that is not expressed in the OB (Fig. 2F). In contrast, expression of both Slitrk5 and Slitrk6 is detected in the olfactory epithelium (Table 1; data not shown). None of the Slitrks are expressed in the sensory organ of the accessory olfactory system, the vomeronasal organ (VNO; Table 1; data not shown). The expression of the Slitrk family members in the OB observed at E18 is mostly maintained at P10. At that age, the patterns of expression of Slitrk1, Slitrk3 and Slitrk5 are similar to E18 with signal detected in the MCL and in the GCL (Fig. 1G, I, K). Slitrk2 expression in the OB is lost by P10 (Fig. 2H). Slitrk4 mRNA expression is low and restricted to the GCL while Slitrk6 mRNA is not detected at P10 in the OB (Fig. 2J, L). Interestingly, the expression of *Slitrk1*, 2, and 5 observed in the glomerular layer at E18 disappears by P10.


Figure 2: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing olfactory bulb (OB) at E18 and P10.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of OB with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1* mRNA is detected in the glomerular layer (GL) and in the mitral cell layer (MCL) of the OB at E18 (**A**). By P10, *Slitrk1* expression is upregulated in the granular cell layer (GCL) (**G**). *Slitrk2* mRNA expression is observed in cells lining the olfactory ventricule (OV), in the GL, and at low levels in the ONL at E18 (**A**) but its expression in the OB is downregulated by P10 (**H**). *Slitrk3* mRNA expression is observed in the granule cell layer (GCL) and in MCL at E18 (**C**) and maintained at P10 (**I**). *Slitrk4* mRNA expression is restricted to the MCL at E18 (**D**) and downregulated by P10 (**J**). *Slitrk5* mRNA is detected in the MCL, GCL, and ONL at E18 (**E**) and in the MCL and

GCL at P10 (**K**). *Slitrk6* is not expressed in the OB at E18 and P10 (**F**, **L**). Scale bar = $250 \,\mu\text{m}$.

5.3. Slitrks expression in the developing cerebral cortex

The fully formed cerebral cortex is composed of six distinct layers that become distinguishable after birth in the mouse. These layers are established as cortical neurons migrate radially from the proliferative ventricular zone to their final position in the cortex between E11 and E18 in response to local extracellular cues (Gupta et al., 2002). Axons of cortical neurons respond to guidance cues in the environment as they grow toward several targets including the thalamus, the spinal cord, and the contralateral cortex (Whitford et al., 2002). At E18, *Slitrks* are highly expressed in the developing cortex and their expression is maintained postnatally (Fig. 3). Slitrk1 mRNA is most prominently expressed in the cortical plate (CxP) and in the subplate (SP) (Fig. 3A). In addition, low levels of expression are observed in the basal part of the ventricular zone (VZ; Fig.3A). In contrast to Slitrk1, Slitrk2 is highly expressed in the apical layer of the VZ at E18 where mitotically active cells are located (Leone et al., 2008). Slitrk2 mRNA is also detected at lower levels in the CxP (Fig. 3C). We detected Slitrk3 mRNA expression only in a single layer of the CxP that can hardly be identified at E18 (Fig. 3E). Slitrk4, is expressed at low levels in the CxP and in the SP while Slitrk5 mRNA is detected in the CxP and in the SP (Fig. 3G, I). Slitrk6 is not expressed in the cortex (Fig. 3K, L). As development progresses, distinct populations of projection neurons are formed, are located in different cortical layers and areas, have unique morphological features, express different complements of transcription factors, and ultimately serve different functions (Molyneaux et al., 2007). At P10, Slitrk1 is restricted to cortical layers II to IV (CII-IV) and to cortical layer VI (CVI) (Fig. 3B). The expression of Slitrk2 and Slitrk4 is decreased at P10 when compared to E18 (Fig. 3D, H) whereas Slitrk3 and Slitrk5 expression is maintained and restricted to layers 2 to 6 (Fig. 3F, J).



antisense (AS) (A-L) cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1* is highly expressed in the cortical plate (CxP), the subplate (SP), and in the apical part of the ventricular zone (VZ) at E18 (A). At P10, *Slitrk1* mRNA is observed in cortical layers II to IV (CII-IV) and CVI (B). *Slitrk2* mRNA is detected in the basal layer of the VZ and at low levels in the CxP at E18 (C). At P10, *Slitrk2* expression is significantly lower than at E18 (H). *Slitrk3* is expressed in the CxP at E18 (E) and is broadly expressed in cortical layers II to VI at P10 (F). *Slitrk4* mRNA is detected at low levels in the CxP and SP at E18 (G) and is absent in the cortex at P10 (H). *Slitrk5* is highly expressed in the CxP and SP at E18 (I) and its expression is maintained in all cortical layers at P10 (J). In contrast to *Slitrk5*, *Slitrk6* is not expressed in the cerebral cortex (K, L). Scale bar = 125 μ m (A, A', C, C', E, E', G, G', I, I', K, K') and 250 μ m (B, B', D, D', F, F', H, H', J, J', L, L').

5.4. Slitrks expression in the hippocampal region

The hippocampus is a brain structure that belongs to the limbic system and plays major roles in short term memory and many other memory processes (Riedel and Micheau, 2001). The hippocampal region also includes the dentate gyrus (DG), which is thought to contribute to the formation of new memories and is a site of continuous neurogenesis in the adult (Kempermann, 2002). *Slitrk1* mRNA is expressed abundantly in the CA1 and CA3 fields of the hippocampus at E18 and P10. In contrast, *Slitrk1* mRNA is not detected in the DG at E18 but low levels of expression is observed in the DG at P10 (Fig. 4A, G). Low levels of *Slitrk2* and *Slitrk4* expression are observed in the CA1 and CA3 fields of Ammon's horn at E18 and P10 whereas no expression is detected in the DG at E18 (Fig. 4B, D, H, J). As observed for *Slitrk1*, the expression of *Slitrk2*, and to a lesser extent *Slitrk4*, in the DG appears to be upregulated in the postnatal brain (Fig. 4H, J). The *Slitrk3* and *Slitrk5* patterns of expression are similar with strong signals across the hippocampal formation throughout development (Fig. 4C, E, I, K). *Slitrk6* is not expressed in the hippocampal region (Fig. 4F, L).



Figure 4: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing hippocampal region at E18 and P10.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of the hippocampal region with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1* mRNA is observed in the CA1 and CA3 region of the hippocampus at E18 and P10 (**A**, **G**). While *Slitrk1* mRNA is not detected in the dentate gyrus (DG) at E18, low levels of *Slitrk1* mRNA are observed in this cell layer at P10 (**A**, **G**). *Slitrk2* and *Slitrk4* are expressed at low levels in the CA1 and CA3 regions at E18 and P10 and are also expressed in the DG at P10 (**B**, **D**, **H**, **J**). *Slitrk3* expression is observed in the CA1, CA3, and DG at E18 and P10 (**C**, **I**). High levels of *Slitrk5* mRNA are observed in all regions of the hippocampus at E18 and P10 (**E**, **K**). *Slitrk6* is not expressed in the hippocampus (**F**, **L**). Scale bar = 250 μ m.

5.5. Expression of *Slitrk6* in the diencephalon

The highly compartmentalized expression of *Slitrk6* we observed in the developing mouse brain has previously been reported (Aruga, 2003). Since we predominately detected *Slitrk6* mRNA signal in the thalamus, we performed a detailed analysis of its expression within the diencephalon. In situ hybridization on consecutive sections starting from the most rostral part of the brain, first revealed Slitrk6 expression in the dorsolateral septum (DLS), a structure that receives projections from CA1 region pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus and relays information to various brain regions including the medial septum-diagonal band complex (data not shown) (Amaral and Witter, 2004; Risold, 2004). Slitrk6 signal was detected in several thalamic regions including the paraventricular (PV), paratenial (PT), anteromedial (AM), anteroventral (AV), mediodorsal (MD), and ventrolateral thalamic nuclei (VL) whereas low levels of Slitrk6 expression were detected in the laterodorsal nucleus (LD) (Fig. 5 A, B). Slitrk6 expression was also observed in the centromedial (CM), lateral posterior (LP), ventroposterior (VP), posterior complex (Po), and parafascicular thalamic nuclei (PF) (Fig. 5 C, D). Lower levels of Slitrk6 mRNAs were detected in the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus (dLG) (Fig. 5 C).



Figure 5: Slitrk6 mRNA expression in thalamic regions at E18.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of the diencephalon with an antisense cRNA probe for *Slitrk6*. *Slitrk6* mRNA is detected in the paraventricular (PV), paratenial (PT), anteroventral (AV), anteromedial (AM), mediodorsal (MD), ventrolateral (VL), and laterodorsal (LD) thalamic nuclei (**A**, **B**). *Slitrk6* is also expressed in the centromedial (CM), lateral posterior (LP), posterior complex (Po), ventroposterior (VP), parafascicular (PF), and dorsal lateral geniculate (dLG) nuclei (**C**, **D**). Fr: fasciculus retroflexus. Scale bar = 500 μ m.

5.6. Slitrks expression in the cerebellum

The cerebellum plays a critical role in the integration of sensory inputs and in the regulation of motor control. The layered structure of the cerebellum is generated through extensive neuronal migration that takes place during late embryonic and early postnatal development (Komuro and Yacubova, 2003). At E18, all *Slitrk* genes were found to be expressed at various levels in the Purkinje cell layer (Pk) of the developing cortex (Fig. 6).

The variable expression of *Slitrk1* in the Pk cell layer may represent parasagittal stripes (Fig. 6A). In addition, *Slitrk3* and *Slitrk5* mRNAs were detected in the molecular layer of the cerebellum (Mo) (Fig. 6C, E). By P10, when a large proportion of granular neurons have migrated, *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk4*, and *Slitrk5* are expressed in the inner granular layer (IGL) (Fig. 7A, B, D, E) while *Slitrk5* is the only member of the family expressed at significant levels in the Mo (Fig. 7E). Interestingly, *Slitrk1* mRNA seems to be located only in the IGL of anterior lobes of the cerebellum (Fig. 7A). The expression of Slitrk family members in the Pk observed at E18 is maintained at P10 except for *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk3*, *Slitrk4*, and *Slitrk5* expression is also detected in the deep cerebellar nuclei (DN) (Fig. 7A, C, D, E). The *in situ* hybridization experiments performed on coronal sections at E18 also revealed high expression of *Slitrk3* and *Slitrk5* in the inferior (IC) and superior colliculi (SC) (Fig. 6C, E) which develop from the dorsal portion of the mesencephalon. *Slitrk2* is also expressed in the cells lining the aqueduct (Aq) (Fig. 6B).



Figure 6: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing cerebellum at E18.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1* is expressed in the Purkinje cell layer (Pk), the medial cerebellar nucleus (Med), and the lateral cerebellar nucleus (Lat) of the developing cerebellum. Low levels of *Slitrk1* are also observed in the superior colliculus (SC) and in the inferior colliculus (IC) (**A**). *Slitrk2* mRNA is also detected in the Pk and in cells lining the aqueduct (Aq) (**B**). *Slitrk3* mRNA is observed in the molecular layer (Mo), the Pk, the Med, the Lat, and at high levels in the SC and IC (**C**). *Slitrk4* is expressed at low levels in the Pk and Med, while *Slitrk5* is expressed at high levels in all layers of the developing cerebellum (**D**, **E**). *Slitrk6* mRNA is restricted to the Pk and Med (**F**). Scale bar = 1 mm.



Figure 7: Slitrks mRNA expression in the cerebellum at P10.

In situ hybridization of sagittal sections of the cerebellum with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1* is expressed in the Purkinje cell layer (Pk), in the inner granular layer of the cerebellum (IGL), and in the deep cerebellar nuclei (CN) (**A**). Interestingly *Slitrk1* expression in the IGL appears restricted to the anterior lobes of the cerebellum. *Slitrk2* is strongly expressed in the IGL while low levels of *Slitrk3* mRNA are detected in the Pk and CN (**B**, **C**). *Slitrk4* and *Slitrk5* mRNAs are observed in the IGL, the PK, and in the CN (**D**, **E**). In addition, *Slitrk5* is also expressed in the molecular layer (Mo) of the cerebellum. *Slitrk6* mRNA is restricted to the Pk. Scale bar = 500 µm.

5.7. Slitrks expression in the embryonic spinal cord

In the spinal cord, the Slitrks are expressed at different levels in the gray matter without any clear restriction to circumscribed areas although higher levels of *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* are detected in the ventral motor pools (Fig. 8 A, B, C, E). It is also interesting to note that *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3* and *Slitrk5* mRNAs are present in a subset of sensory neuron nuclei in the dorsal root ganglia (DRGs). Whether different Slitrks are expressed in subsets of DRG neurons with specific sensory modalities remains to be determined.



Figure 8: Slitrks mRNA expression during spinal cord development at E18.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of the spinal cord with antisense cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* mRNAs are detected at various levels in the gray matter of the spinal cord (**A**, **B**, **C**, **E**). Higher levels of expression of *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk4*, and *Slitrk5* are observed in the ventral part of the spinal cord where motor neurons are located (**A**, **B**, **D**, **E**). *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, *Slitrk4*, and *Slitrk5* are expressed in sensory neurons within the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) (**A**-**E**). *Slitrk6* mRNA is not detected in the spinal cord and DRG (**F**). Scale bar = 1 mm.

5.8. Slitrks expression in the trigeminal ganglion

Trigeminal ganglia (TG) are involved in several sensory modalities in the face including touch, pain, and temperature. TG sensory neurons can be classified in different groups based on their sensory modalities and they innervate mainly mechanoreceptors, thermoreceptors and nociceptors in the face, oral cavity and nasal cavity (Lazarov, 2002). Several members of the Slitrk family are detected in the trigeminal ganglia at E18. *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* are highly expressed in the TG (Fig. 9A, B, C, E) while low levels of *Slitrk4* are observed and *Slitrk6* mRNA is not detected (Fig. 9D, F). It is interesting to note that the levels of expression of *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, and *Slitrk4* appear to vary from cell to cell within the ganglia with a subset of cells expressing higher levels of these transcripts. It remains possible that Slitrks may be expressed differentially in TG neurons subserving specific sensory modalities.



Figure 9: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing trigeminal ganglion (TG) at E18.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of the TG with sense (S) (**A'-F'**) or antisense (AS) (**A-F**) cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk2*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* are expressed at high levels in subsets of cell bodies in the TG (**A**, **B**, **C**, **E**). Low levels of *Slitrk4* mRNA are detected in the TG while no signal above background levels is observed for *Slitrk6* (**D**, **F**). Scale bar = 250 μ m.

5.9. Slitrks expression during eye development

At E18, the neural retina consists of the neuroblastic layer (NBL), which is destined to give rise to horizontal cells and photoreceptor cells, a transient intermediate anuclear layer (of Chievitz), a retinal ganglion cell layer, and a developing inner nuclear layer (INL) (Kaufman, 1992). The expression patterns of *Slitrk* genes at E18 are particularly interesting in the developing retina where they are mostly expressed in a complementary fashion. *Slitrk1* and *Slitrk5* are exclusively detected in the retinal ganglion cell layer (RGCL) and presumptive INL (Fig. 10A, E). Low levels of *Slitrk3* are also detected in the RGCL (Fig. 10C). In contrast, *Slitrk2* expression is restricted to the NBL and *Slitrk6* is observed in the outermost region of the NBL (Fig. 10B, F). *Slitrk4* expression is not observed in the retina (Fig. 10D).



Figure 10: Slitrks mRNA expression in the developing eye at E18.

In situ hybridization of coronal sections of the retina with sense (S) (**A'-F'**) or antisense (AS) (**A-F**) cRNA probes for *Slitrk* genes. *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* expression is restricted to the retinal ganglion cell layer (RGCL) and prospective inner nuclear layer (INL) while *Slitrk2* is specifically expressed in the inner aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**). *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**). *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**). *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**). *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**). *Slitrk6* expression is restricted to the outer aspect of the neuroblastic layer (NBL) (**A, B, E**).

6. Discussion

Our understanding of the role of Slitrk family members during development of the nervous system is quite limited. To gain more insight into the potential functions of these proteins, we have performed a detailed analysis of the expression of all six members of the family in the developing murine nervous system. Our results show that each Slitrk family member is expressed in a unique spatiotemporal manner. Within several structures analyzed, including the olfactory bulb, the cortex, and the cerebellum, Slitrk family members are complementarily expressed in different regions. This observation is perhaps most striking in the developing retina where *Slitrk1*, *Slitrk3*, and *Slitrk5* expression is restricted to the RGCL while *Slitrk2* and *Slitrk6* are expressed in the NBL (Fig. 10). The regional segregated expression of different Slitrks in these structures is suggestive of functional specialization for the different members of the family. In addition, the expression of several family members in post-natal brains suggests that while Slitrks may play a role in regulating developmental processes taking place during embryogenesis, the majority of Slitrks may also be required for processes occurring at later time during development including synapse formation and plasticity.

Our observation that some members of the Slitrk family, such as *Slitrk1* and *Slitrk2*, are expressed in varying levels among populations of neurons located in the trigeminal and dorsal root ganglia raises the possibility that Slitrks can regulate the differential fasciculation of axons through homophilic or heterophilic interactions. Other LRR-containing transmembrane proteins, such as FLRT3 and AMIGO, have been shown to regulate adhesion (Kuja-Panula et al., 2003; Robinson et al., 2004; Karaulanov et al., 2006). Hence, the differential expression of Slitrks on specific populations of axons may promote segregation of subsets of axons within large fascicles.

We have observed high levels of *Slitrk2* expression in several regions containing neuroepithelium, where generation of newborn neurons takes place in the CNS. These include the ventricular zone of the developing cortex, the ventricule of the olfactory bulb, and the neuroblastic layer of the retina. In addition, expression of *Slitrk2* in the ventricular zone of the spinal cord early during development has previously been

reported (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). These results suggest that *Slitrk2* may be involved in controlling the proliferation of progenitor cells or their differentiation into neurons. In addition, the restricted expression of Slitrk family members could control the differentiation of different populations of cells within specific regions. For example, in the retina, *Slitrk1* and *Slitrk5* are expressed in retinal ganglion cells while *Slitrk2* and *Slitrk6* are expressed in the neuroblastic region giving rise to photoreceptors and horizontal cells.

In conclusion, our study shows that members of the Slitrk family are widely expressed in the central nervous system, with partially overlapping yet distinct patterns of expression. These analyses will permit the future development of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays to define the role of the different Slitrks during development of the nervous system.

Chapter 3

SLITRK1 AND SLITRK2 PROMOTE SYNAPSE DEVELOPMENT

François Beaubien, Katherine E. Horn, Timothy E. Kennedy and Jean-François Cloutier

Montreal Neurological Institute, Centre for Neuronal Survival, 3801 University, Montréal, Québec, Canada, H3A 2B4

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada

1. Preface

This chapter is a manuscript that will shortly be submitted to The Journal of Biological Chemistry after the deposit of the thesis. In the previous chapter, we studied the expression pattern of the six Slitrk family members in the nervous system. The strong expression of *Slitrks* in the hippocampus combined with the fact that multiple LRR-containing proteins can modulate synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons lead me to hypothesis that Slitrks may regulate synaptogenesis. In this chapter, I examine the role of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in synaptogenesis using a set of biochemical and *in vitro* approaches. I demonstrate that both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can promote synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons.

Acknowledgements:

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research, the Fonds Québécois pour la Recherche sur la Nature et les Technologies, and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. J.-F.C. holds a Canada Research Chair in developmental neurobiology. We would also like to thank the National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia And Depression (NARSAD) for financial support.

2. Abstract

Following the migration of the axonal growth cone to its target area, the initial axodendritic contact needs to be transformed into a functional synapse. This multi-step process relies on overlapping but distinct combinations of molecules that confer synaptic identity. Slitrk molecules are members of a family of transmembrane proteins that are highly expressed in the central nervous system. We found that two members of the Slitrk family, Slitrk1 and Slitrk2, can regulate synapse formation between hippocampal neurons. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are enriched in postsynaptic fractions and can dimerize when expressed in heterologous cells. Expression in nonneural and neural cells leads to presynaptic differentiation in contacting axons. While overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in hippocampal neurons increased the number of excitatory synaptic contacts on these neurons, it did not modulate the number of inhibitory synaptic contacts. In contrast, treatment of hippocampal neurons with a Slitrk1 function-blocking antibody reduced the number of excitatory and inhibitory synapses formed in hippocampal neurons. Similarly, perturbing Slitrk1 interactions with recombinant protein interfered with excitatory synapse formation. Altogether, our results indicate that Slitrk family proteins regulate synapse formation.

3. Introduction

One of the key steps in the development of the nervous system is the formation of new connections between different neurons. This process, referred to as synaptogenesis, also plays a critical role in the mature brain where the dynamic modification of circuitry has a profound effect on functions such as learning and memory. Multiple families of cell adhesion molecules have been implicated in various aspects of synapse formation, such as the formation of initial contacts and synapse maturation. These include members of the neuroligin (Ichtchenko et al., 1995; Scheiffele et al., 2000), neurexin (Ichtchenko et al., 1995; Graf et al., 2004), LRRTM (de Wit et al., 2009; Ko et al., 2009; Linhoff et al., 2009), SynCAM (Biederer et al., 2002; Robbins et al., 2010), netrin G-ligand (NGL) (Kim et al., 2006), SALM (Mah et al., 2010), and EphB (Kayser et al., 2006) families of cell

surface proteins. Whether these different families of molecules function cooperatively or redundantly remains to be fully addressed.

It has been suggested that differences in neural connectivity or synaptic patterning underlie many neurodevelopmental disorders including autism and SCZ (Wright and Washbourne, 2010). For example, familial forms of autism-spectrum disorders have been linked to mutations in several neuroligin and neurexin (reviewed in (Sudhof, 2008; Bourgeron, 2009)) as well as in SynCAM 1 and cadherin (Zhiling et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009). Another family of transmembrane proteins that has been implicated in the etiology of brain disorders is the Slitrks. While SLITRK1 was proposed as a susceptibility gene for TS (Abelson et al., 2005; Miranda et al., 2008), variants of the SLITRK2 gene were found in patients with SCZ (Piton et al., 2010a).

Slitrks form a family of six structurally similar proteins that contain two LRR motifs in their extracellular portion and a cytoplasmic region that varies in size between members of the family (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003). Leucine-rich repeat motifs are proteinprotein interaction domains commonly found in synaptogenic proteins (Ko and Kim, 2007). Despite some overlap in their expression, the Slitrks display mostly distinct patterns of expression in the developing murine nervous system suggesting they may play different roles in specific regions of the brain (Beaubien and Cloutier, 2009). In keeping with this possibility, gene ablation studies in mice for different Slitrk family members have yielded distinct phenotypes. While ablation of *Slitrk1* expression leads to increased anxiety-like behaviour (Katayama et al., 2008), Slitrk5 mutant mice display obsessive compulsive-like behaviors (Shmelkov et al., 2010) and Slitrk3 mutant mice exhibit increased susceptibility to seizures (Takahashi et al., 2012). In contrast, Slitrk6-/- mice display specific defects in development of the inner ear, including disorganized innervation and neuronal loss (Katayama et al., 2009). Based on the structure of Slitrks and the nature of phenotypes observed in some *Slitrk* mutant mice, Slitrks were proposed to regulate synapse formation in the CNS. Recent evidence has shown that Slitrks can promote presynaptic differentiation in a neuron-fibroblast coculture assay,

and that Slitrk3 is specifically required for the formation of inhibitory synapses both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Linhoff et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2012).

Here we have examined the function of two members of the Slitrk family, Slitrk1 and Slitrk2, in synapse formation. We show that while Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can promote excitatory synapse formation in cultures of hippocampal neurons, they are not sufficient to induce inhibitory synapse development in these cells. Furthermore, inhibition of Slitrk1 function using an antibody raised against its extracellular region reduces the number of excitatory and inhibitory synapses between hippocampal neurons in culture. Taken together, our results indicate that Slitrks 1 and 2 can regulate synapse formation.

4. Experimental Procedures

cDNA constructs

Full-length human *Slitrk1* (aa 1-696), human *Slitrk2* (aa 1-845) and *Slitrk2* Δ *ICD* (aa 1-646) lacking the intracellular portion were subcloned into pEGFP-N1 vector (Clontech). For C-terminal MYC-tagged Slitrk construct, full-length human *Slitrk1* (aa 1-696), full-length human *Slitrk2* (aa 1-845), *Slitrk1* Δ *ICD* (aa 1-660) and *Slitrk2* Δ *ICD* (aa 1-646) were subcloned into pcDNA3.1 Myc-His A vector or pcDNA3.1 V5-His A vector (Invitrogen). GFP-tagged LAR, mVenus-tagged neuroligin-1 lacking inserts in splice sites A and B, GFP-tagged N-cadherin, and HA-tagged neurexin1 β (-S4) were kind gifts from Dr Wiljan Hendricks, Dr Thomas C. Südhof, Dr David R. Colman, and Dr Peter Scheiffele, respectively.

Antibodies

A rabbit polyclonal antibody recognizing the intracellular portion of Slitrk1 (referred to as Slitrk1-C) was generated against the peptide DGSHRVYDCGSHS (aa 680-693 of the mouse sequence) and purified against the same epitope. Another Slitrk1 rabbit polyclonal antibody (namely Slitrk1-N) was obtained from an animal immunized with the complete extracellular portion of the protein (aa 2-600). The other antibodies were purchased commercially: Slitrk2 (R&D Systems), vGlut1 (NeuroMab), PSD-95 (BD Pharmingen,

NeuroMab), MYC tag (clone 9E10), GFP (Novus), synapsin I (Milipore), synaptotagmin I luminal, Gephyrin and VGAT (Synaptic Systems), p42 MAP kinase (Cell signaling), HA tag (Abcam), synaptophysin and α-Tubulin (Sigma-Aldrich), and MAP2 (GeneTex).

Reverse Transcription PCR

For RT-PCR experiments, total RNA was isolated from embryonic day 18-19 (E18-19) rat hippocampal neurons cultured 10 days in vitro (DIV), and total E18-19 rat brain using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen). cDNA was prepared with a ThermoScript reverse transcriptase kit (Invitrogen). Primers for PCR detection were as follows: Slitrk1F, 5' -Slitrk1R, 5'-Slitrk2F. ccgctggaaacgttacaggggac; cgtttcaccagctgcagccccag; 5' Slitrk2R, 5'-Slitrk3F. 5' ctgagcggcgtctggttcctc; cccaggtcggatctcctgcaacc; gagcgaacctcggagatcctgagc; Slitrk3R, 5'- gttcccaaggttaatggacacagcattattc; Slitrk4F, 5' tggctctttctgattgtgtcagccctg; Slitrk4R, 5'- gcactgagcccgagaaatgctccac; Slitrk5F, 5' - cccca gtaactttggaacaggaccttcac; Slitrk5R, 5'- cattgctacccagatgtaaaattgaagcccc; Slitrk6F, 5' ctgaccgactttggacacctcttccagc; Slitrk6R, 5' - ccaaggccattaaatgcacctgtctcg; GAPDHF, 5' gcatcctgcaccaactg; GAPDHR, 5'-cggccgcctgcttcaccaccttct.

Cell culture

E18-19 rat embryos were obtained from timed pregnant Sprague Dawley females purchased from Charles River (Saint-Constant, Québec, Canada). Cultures of hippocampal neurons were prepared from the embryos according to previously described protocols (Banker and Goslin, 1998; Kaech and Banker, 2006). Mixed-culture assays of HEK293T and neurons were performed essentially as described previously (Biederer and Scheiffele, 2007). Briefly, HEK293T cells were transfected with the constructs of interest for 24 hrs, trypsinized, plated onto cultured hippocampal neurons at 9 DIV, followed by immunostaining at 11 DIV. For the synaptotagmin I antibody uptake assay, neurons were incubated with antibodies to the synaptotagmin I luminal domain (1:10) or antibodies against MYC at the same concentration in isotonic depolarizing solution (KCl) for 5 min at 37°C (Biederer and Scheiffele, 2007).

Transfection of neurons and immunocytochemistry

Cultured neurons were transfected using a mammalian transfection kit (Clontech) at 13 DIV, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde/4% sucrose (vol/vol) at 15 DIV, and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 (vol/vol) in phosphate-buffered saline (pH=7.4). Neurons were then incubated with specific primary antibody followed by Alexa-488-, Alexa-546-, Alexa-647-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:500; Invitrogen).

Synaptosomal fractionation

PSD fractionation was performed on adult rat brain (Unstripped brain, 7-8 week old, ID 56004-2, Pel-Freez Biologicals) as described (Fallon et al., 2002) with some minor modifications: a purified P2 pellet was incubated in 0.5% Triton-X 100, 40 mM Tris-HCl (pH=8.0) and then centrifuged at 32,000 x g to generate the PSD1 fraction. This fraction was then further extracted with 0.5% Triton-X 100, 40 mM Tris-HCl (pH=8.0), and subsequently centrifuged at 200,000 x g to isolate the PSD2 fraction.

Cell surface biotinylation

COS cells were transfected with the different plasmids for 24 hrs, washed 3 times with PBS 1X, incubated with EZ-Link Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin 1 mg/ml (Thermo Scientific Pierce) at 4°C for 30 min, and washed 3 times with PBS + 100mM glycine to quench the biotin reagent. The cells were then lysed and surface proteins were isolated using streptavidin agarose beads (Thermo Scientific Pierce).

Image acquisition and quantification

Images were acquired using a confocal microscope with 40x or 63x oil objective (LSM710; Zeiss) and Z-stacks were used in the analysis. The settings were kept constant for all scanning in each experiment. To determine the average fluorescent intensity of synaptic protein clusters in coculture experiments, randomly chosen HEK293T cells were used for quantification with ImageJ software (NIH). Acquired images were thresholded, and the integrated intensity of the clusters on the HEK293T cell was normalized to the cell area. To determine the average fluorescent intensity of synaptic

protein clusters in overexpression experiments, the same approach was used but using the cell area of the transfected neurons excluding the cell body. All values are presented as mean \pm s.e.m. and significance of the quantification was determined by Student's *t* test.

Slitrk1 neutralization experiment

The rabbit Slitrk1-N polyclonal antibody was used for all Slitrk1 neutralizing antibody experiments. Non-immunized purified rabbit IgG (Sigma-Aldrich) was used as the negative control. Recombinant human Slitrk1 protein (Ala16 to Ser616 with a C-terminal 6-His tag) was obtained commercially (R&D Systems). Slitrk1-C antibodies (~10 ug/ml) and recombinant Slitrk1 (1.2 ug/ml) were added in parallel into culture media of hippocampal neurons at 9, 10 and 11 DIV. The treated neuronal cultures were immunostained at 12 DIV. For the coculture of HEK293T and neurons experiments, the two reagents were added separately 4 hrs after plating the transfected HEK293T with neurons at 9 DIV followed by another application at 10 DIV and by immunostaining at 11 DIV. The images were then acquired using a confocal microscope.

5. Results

5.1. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are enriched in synaptosomal and postsynaptic density fractions

The Slitrks are predominately expressed in neural tissues at embryonic ages and postnatally (Aruga and Mikoshiba, 2003; Aruga et al., 2003; Beaubien and Cloutier, 2009). More specifically, their localization at the synapse has been recently suggested based on the presence of Slitrk3 and Slitrk5 at synaptic sites in cultured neurons (Shmelkov et al., 2010; Takahashi et al., 2012). To determine whether other Slitrk family members are found at the synapse, we examined the distribution of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in subcellular fractions generated from adult rat brain using specific antibodies against the intracellular domain of Slitrk1 (Slitrk1-C) or the extracellular portion of Slitrk2. Both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 were found in synaptic membrane fractions (Fig. 1A). Interestingly, Slitrk2 appeared to be more selectively enriched than Slitrk1 in PSD fractions. For

Slitrk1, two closely migrating bands were observed likely representing differentially glycosylated forms of Slitrk1 that have previously been described (Kajiwara et al., 2009). Since Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 show high sequence similarity, we confirmed the specificity of both antibodies by examining their ability to detect MYC-tagged Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 proteins expressed in HEK293T cells. Both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 antibodies specifically recognized Slitrk1 or Slitrk2, respectively, and did not cross-react with the other Slitrk (Fig. 1B). Hence, these results indicate that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can be localized to synapses and may thus play a role in synaptogenesis. To further explore the properties of Slitrks, we examined their ability to dimerize when expressed in heterologous cells. Immunoprecipitation experiments revealed that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can homodimerize when expressed in HEK293T cells (Fig. 1C). Furthermore, co-expression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in these cells led to the formation of heterodimers between the two proteins, indicating that Slitrk family members can form both homo- and heterodimers at the cell surface (Fig. 1C).



(A) Distribution of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in subcellular fractions of adult rat brain. Note that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are detected in synaptic fractions including P2, P2* and in the PSD. PSD-95 and synaptophysin (SynPhy) were probed for comparison. H, homogenate; P1,

crude nuclear fraction; S2, supernatant after P2 precipitation; P2, crude synaptosomes; P2*, purified synaptosomes; PSD1, pellet after the first Triton X-100 extraction; PSD2, pellet after the second Triton-X 100 extraction. (**B**) Characterization of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 antibodies. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 (C-terminally MYC tagged) expressed in HEK293T cells were immunoblotted with Slitrk1-C, Slitrk1-N, Slitrk2, and Myc antibodies. Myc antibodies were used to normalize the data. These antibodies are isoform specific. (**C**) Slitrks form complexes in heterologous cells. HEK293T cells were co-transfected with Slitrk1-V5 + Slitrk1-MYC, Slitrk2-V5 + Slitrk2-MYC, Slitrk1-V5 + Slitrk2-MYC, or Slitrk1\DeltaICD-V5 + Slitrk2\DeltaICD-MYC. Proteins were solubilised with RIPA buffer 48hrs post-transfection and immunoprecipitated with anti-V5 antibodies. Blots were then probed with anti-MYC (Input = immunoblots of the lysate). These results indicate that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can form homomeric and heteromeric complexes independent of their intracellular portion when expressed together in HEK293T cells.

5.2. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 induce presynaptic differentiation in a mixed-culture assay

To investigate whether Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 show synaptogenic activity, we used a mixedculture assay where hippocampal neurons are grown in the presence of nonneuronal cells expressing a transmembrane protein of interest, and the differentiation of presynaptic specializations in contacting axons is assessed (Scheiffele et al., 2000; Biederer and Scheiffele, 2007). In this assay, expression of the well-characterized synaptogenic protein neuroligin-1 in nonneuronal cells promotes clustering of presynaptic vesicle markers in hippocampal neurons, while expression of N-cadherin fails to concentrate synaptic vesicles in contacting axons (Fig. 2A,B) (Scheiffele et al., 2000; Sara et al., 2005). Expression of either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 induced clustering of synapsin I, a presynaptic vesicle marker, in contacting axons of cultured hippocampal neurons (Fig. 2A,B). Interestingly, the extent of synapsin I clustering observed with either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 was lower than the clustering observed with neuroligin-1 expression despite the fact that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are expressed at similar or higher levels at the surface of the COS cells (Fig. 2C). Based on these observations, we hypothesized that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 may require the presence of additional Slitrk family members to achieve their full synaptogenic potential. In keeping with this possibility, Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can form homomeric and heteromeric complexes when expressed in HEK293T cells (Fig. 1C). However, co-expression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in HEK293T cells did not significantly increase synapsin I clustering when compared to cells expressing either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 (Fig. 2A,B). Furthermore, the extracellular region of Slitrk2 is sufficient to promote synapsin I clustering (Fig. 2A,B).



Figure 2: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 expressed in nonneural cells induce presynaptic differentiation in contacting axons.

(A) Induction of clustering of the presynaptic protein synapsin I in contacting axons by Slitrk1 and Slitrk2. HEK293T cells expressing EGFP alone, N-Cadherin EGFP, neuroligin-1 EGFP, Slitrk1 EGFP, Slitrk2 EGFP, Slitrk1 EGFP + Slitrk2 EGFP, or Slitrk2 Δ ICD EGFP were cocultured with hippocampal neurons (9 DIV) for 48hrs and stained for synapsin I. Scale bar, 50 um. (B) Quantification of the results in A of the

integrated intensity of synapsin I clusters induced; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with HEK293T expressing EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.0 \pm 0.2, n = 80; neuroligin-1 EGFP, 38.0 \pm 3.8, n = 80; N-Cadherin EGFP, 2.1 \pm 0.5, n = 80; Slitrk1 EGFP, 10.1 \pm 1.4, n = 80; Slitrk2 EGFP, 12.8 \pm 1.8, n = 80; Slitrk1 EGFP + Slitrk2 EGFP, 13.0 \pm 1.7, n = 100; Slitrk2AICD EGFP, 11.0 \pm 1.3, n = 80; Done in 4 separate experiments; ***p < 0.001, Student's t test; au, arbitrary units). (C) Comparison of surface expression levels of the different EGFP-tagged proteins in COS cells. COS cells transfected with Slitrk1 EGFP, Slitrk2 EGFP, N-Cadherin EGFP, and neuroligin-1 EGFP were treated with biotin to isolate surface proteins, followed by immunoblotting with EGFP antibodies. p42 MAP kinase is used as an intracellular control. Expression of the Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 proteins at the surface was similar or greater than that of neuroligin-1. Input: 2%. I, Input; S, Surface protein.

To assess if the presynaptic structures induced by Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are functional (i.e. release neurotransmitters), we used an assay designed to follow the uptake of antibodies directed against the luminal domain of the synaptic vesicle protein synaptotagmin I, which is present during the recycling of presynaptic vesicles (Kraszewski et al., 1995). Both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 induced the uptake of the synaptotagmin I antibodies in contacting axons upon depolarization for 5 minutes (Fig. 3A,B). Depolarisation of the cells in the presence of a control MYC antibody did not lead to any reuptake suggesting that the uptake of the synaptotagmin I antibody we observed is specific (Fig. 3C). These results demonstrate that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can induce the differentiation of presynaptic specializations with the capacity for depolarization induced synaptic vesicle recycling.



Figure 3: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 induce the uptake of synaptotagmin I luminal domain antibodies in contacting axons of cocultured neurons.

(A) HEK293T cells were transfected with EGFP alone, neuroligin-1 EGFP, Slitrk1 EGFP, or Slitrk2 EGFP were cocultured with rat hippocampal neurons (9 DIV) for 48hrs, followed by incubation of the live neurons with synaptotagmin I (SynTag) luminal domain antibodies to tag functional presynaptic nerve terminals and double staining for SynTag and EGFP. Scale bar, 50 um. (B) Quantification of the results in A of the integrated intensity of synaptotagmin I clusters induced; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with HEK293T expressing EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.0 \pm 0.2, n = 80; neuroligin-1 EGFP, 65.8 \pm 4.7, n = 80; Slitrk1 EGFP, 24.7 \pm 3.1, n = 88; Slitrk2 EGFP, 26.5 \pm 3.3, n = 88; Done in 5 separate experiments; ***p < 0.001, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units). (C) Quantification of the results of the uptake of control antibodies against synaptotagmin I in the above protocol. The integrated intensity of the clusters derived from the uptake of MYC antibodies is negligible and not significantly different for the four proteins. Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector

EGFP, 1.0 ± 0.4 , n = 30; neuroligin-1 EGFP, 2.4 ± 1.0 , n = 30; Slitrk1 EGFP, 0.7 ± 0.5 , n = 30; Slitrk2 EGFP, 0.4 ± 0.4 , n = 30; Done in 3 separate experiments; Student's *t* test).

5.3. Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in neurons induces excitatory presynaptic differentiation

To determine whether Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can also promote presynaptic differentiation in neurons, we first examined which members of the family are expressed in hippocampal neurons using RT-PCR. While we did not detect *Slitrk6* in hippocampal neurons, all other members of the family show robust expression (Fig. 4A). We therefore overexpressed Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 in hippocampal neurons and examined their effect on synapse formation. Cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected at 13 DIV with either EGFP-tagged Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 and immunostained two days later with synapsin I antibodies. Overexpression of either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 induced a robust increase in the amount of presynaptic contacts, as measured by the intensity of synapsin I clusters on dendrites (Fig. 4B,C). Since synapsin I is a presynaptic protein found at both excitatory glutamatergic and inhibitory GABAergic synapses, we then sought to determine if Slitrks may preferentially promote the formation of either type of synapses. Overexpression of either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 induced excitatory presynaptic differentiation in contacting axons, as measured by the intensity of vGlut1 clusters (Fig. 5A,B), but had no effect on the formation of inhibitory presynaptic contacts as measured by the intensity of VGAT clusters (Fig. 5C,D). Hence, overexpression of either Slitrk specifically promotes the formation of excitatory synapses but is not sufficient to promote the formation of inhibitory synapses.



Figure 4: Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in cultured neurons increases the amount of presynaptic contacts.

(A) Expression of Slitrk family members in rat brain and in hippocampal neuron cultures. RT-PCR analysis was performed on cDNA prepared from embryonic day 18-19 rat brain and from hippocampal neurons cultures at 10 DIV. Expression of all the six Slitrks is detected in brain while only Slitrk1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 are detected in cultured hippocampal neuron (**B**) Cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected with EGFP alone, Slitrk1 EGFP, or Slitrk2 EGFP at 13 DIV and immunostained for synapsin I at 15 DIV. Scale bar, 50 um. (**C**)Quantification of the results from **B**; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with neurons transfected with EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.00 \pm 0.04, n = 70; Slitrk1 EGFP, 1.75 \pm 0.08, n = 91; Slitrk2 EGFP, 1.56 \pm 0.08, n = 29; Done in 4 separate experiments; ***p < 0.001, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units).



Figure 5: Overexpression of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 in cultured neurons increases the amount of excitatory presynaptic but not inhibitory contacts.

(**A**, **C**) Cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected with EGFP alone, Slitrk1 EGFP, or Slitrk2 EGFP at 13 DIV and immunostained for vGlut1 **A** and VGAT **C** at 15 DIV. Scale bar, 50 um. (**B**) Quantification of the results from **A**; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with neurons transfected with EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.00 \pm 0.04, n = 90; Slitrk1 EGFP, 1.46 \pm 0.06, n = 84; Slitrk2 EGFP, 1.46 \pm 0.07, n = 73; Done in 5 separate experiments; ***p < 0.001, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units). (**D**) Quantification of the results from **C**; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with neurons transfected with EGFP alone (defined as 1). Sudent's *t* test; au, arbitrary units). (**D**) Quantification of the results from **C**; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with neurons transfected with EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.00 \pm 0.05, n = 55; Slitrk1 EGFP, 0.95 \pm 0.04, n = 55; Done in 3 separate experiments; Student's *t* test).

5.4. Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 do not induce postsynaptic differentiation in a mixedculture assay

Our observations that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are enriched in the PSD fraction, that they promote the formation of excitatory synapses when overexpressed in neurons, and that they can induce presynaptic protein clustering in a mixed-culture assay indicate that they are likely be localized to the postsynaptic side of the synapse and have their effect on presynaptic boutons. Nonetheless, it remains possible that localization of Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 to the presynaptic side of the cleft can promote clustering of postsynaptic proteins.

Since existing biochemical methods are not entirely adequate for isolating presynaptic membrane proteins (Cotman and Taylor, 1972; Crawford et al., 1981; Ratner and Mahler, 1983; Phillips et al., 2001) we used the mixed-culture assay to determine whether expression of either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 could induce the clustering of postsynaptic proteins. Expression of Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 in HEK293T cells did not induce detectable levels of clustering of the abundant postsynaptic scaffolding protein PSD-95 (Fig. 6A,B). In contrast, expression of neurexin1β, an inducer of glutamatergic and GABAergic postsynaptic structures promoted the formation of PSD-95 clusters on contacting axons (Chih et al., 2006; Kang et al., 2008).


Figure 6: Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 expressed in nonneural cells do not induce clustering of the excitatory postsynaptic protein PSD-95 in contacting axons.

(A) HEK293T cells expressing EGFP alone, LAR EGFP, HA-neurexin 1 β , Slitrk1 EGFP, or Slitrk2 EGFP were cocultured with hippocampal neurons (9 DIV) and stained for PSD-95 (11 DIV). White arrowheads indicate PSD-95 clustering. Scale bar, 50 um. (B) Quantification of the results in **A** of the integrated intensity of PSD-95 clusters induced; values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with HEK293T expressing EGFP alone (defined as 1). Mean \pm s.e.m. (Vector EGFP, 1.0 \pm 0.3, n = 45; LAR EGFP, 1.6 \pm 0.4, n = 25; HA-neurexin 1 β , 12.5 \pm 2.0, n = 30; Slitrk1 EGFP, 1.3 \pm 0.3, n = 25; Slitrk2 EGFP, 1.4 \pm 0.3, n = 30; Done in 3 separate experiments; ***p < 0.001, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units).

5.5. Application of Slitrk1 antibodies reduces synapse number in hippocampal neuron cultures

The ability of Slitrk1 to promote clustering of presynaptic proteins may be dependent on its interaction with an as yet unidentified membrane protein expressed on the presynaptic terminal. The synaptogenic activity of Slitrk1 may therefore be affected by blocking this interaction using an antibody that recognizes the extracellular region of Slitrk1. A previous study has demonstrated the efficacy of applying antibodies directed against the extracellular domain of endogenous TrkC to block its ability to regulate synapse formation (Takahashi et al., 2012). We therefore raised a rabbit polyclonal antibody against the Slitrk1 ectodomain (Slitrk1-N) and examined its effect on the synaptogenic potential of Slitrk1. The antibody recognized Slitrk1, did not cross-react with Slitrk2, and blocked the synaptogenic activity of Slitrk1, but not Slitrk2, in a mixed-culture assay (Fig. 1B; Fig. 7A). To test whether Slitrk1 is necessary for synapse formation, we treated cultured hippocampal neurons with the Slitrk1 function-blocking antibody and examined its effect on the number of excitatory and inhibitory synapses present on these neurons. Treatment with the antibody significantly reduced the densities of both apposed synapsin I/PSD-95 and VGAT/Gephyrin clusters indicating that Slitrk1 is required for formation of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses in this system (Fig. 7B-D).



Figure 7: Treatment of hippocampal neurons with Slitrk1 antibodies reduces synapse density.

(A) Induction of clustering of the presynaptic protein synaptophysin in contacting axons by Slitrk1 is reduced by Slitrk1 antibody application. HEK293T cells expressing EGFP alone, neuroligin-1 EGFP, Slitrk1 EGFP, Slitrk2 EGFP, were cocultured with hippocampal neurons (9 DIV) for 48hrs and stained for synaptophysin. At 9 and 10 DIV, ~10 ug/ml of Slitrk1-N antibodies were added to the culture media. Values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with HEK293T expressing EGFP alone treated with nonimmune IgG (defined as 1). Mean ± s.e.m. (EGFP alone treated with IgG, 1.0 ± 0.3, with α Slitrk1-N 0.7 ± 0.2; neuroligin-1 EGFP treated with IgG, 38.1 ± 5.3, with α Slitrk1-N 43.9 ± 5.2; Slitrk1 EGFP treated with IgG, 15.0 ± 1.7, with α Slitrk1-N 3.5 ± 1.0; Slitrk2 EGFP treated with IgG, 16.9 ± 2.8, with α Slitrk1-N 14.3 ± 2.2;, *n* = 42 for each condition; Done in 5 separate experiments; ***p < 0.01, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units). (**B**) Addition of Slitrk1-N antibodies at ~10 ug/ml into culture media on each of 9, 10 and 11 DIV results in a reduction of the density of apposed synapsin

I/PSD-95 clusters at 12 days in culture. Control nonimmune rabbit IgG had no effect. MAP2 staining is used to show the integrity of the neuron. Scale bar, 50 um and 10 um for the zoom boxes. (**C**) Quantification of the results in **B** of the synapsin I-positive PSD-95 clusters per 100 um. Mean \pm s.e.m. (Control IgG, 33.3 \pm 2.4, n = 48; Slitrk1-N antibodies, 24.7 \pm 1.7, n = 48; Done in 5 separate experiments; **p < 0.01, Student's ttest). (**D**) Quantification of the VGAT-positive gephyrin clusters per 100 um after addition of Slitrk1-N antibodies into culture media following the same protocol as in **B**. Mean \pm s.e.m. (Control IgG, 16.5 \pm 0.5, n = 53; Slitrk1-N antibodies, 13.8 \pm 0.5, n = 53; Done in 5 separate experiments; ***p < 0.01, Student's t test).

The strong expression of five out of the six Slitrk family members in hippocampal neurons (Fig. 4A), along with the previously described synaptogenic activity of other Slitrks may explain why blocking the function a single Slitrk does not completely abolish synapse formation. Since Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can interact with each other when expressed in heterologous cells (Fig. 1C), we reasoned that addition of a soluble recombinant Slitrk1 extracellular domain (ECD) to hippocampal cultures may interact with the extracellular region of multiple Slitrks and thereby block their association with potential presynaptic partners. Addition of the recombinant Slitrk1 protein blocked the ability of Slitrk1, but not neuroligin-1, to induce presynaptic synapsin I clusters in a mixed-culture assay (Fig. 8A). The recombinant Slitrk1 extracellular domain slightly reduced the synaptogenic potential of Slitrk2 but did not completely block it (Fig. 8A). We next examined the effect of treating hippocampal neuron cultures with recombinant Slitrk1 extracellular domain on synapse number. Cultures treated with Slitrk1 ECD showed a reduction in the density of apposed synapsin I/PSD-95 clusters that was very similar to the effect observed in cultures treated with the Slitrk1 function-blocking antibody (Fig. 8C-D). Altogether, these results indicate that endogenous Slitrks are required for synapse formation.



Figure 8: Treatment of hippocampal neurons with Slitrk1 recombinant protein reduces synapse density.

(A) Induction of clustering of the presynaptic protein synapsin I in contacting axons by Slitrk1 is reduced by the application of recombinant Slitrk1 protein. HEK293T cells expressing EGFP alone, neuroligin-1 EGFP, Slitrk1 EGFP, Slitrk2 EGFP, were cocultured with hippocampal neurons (9 DIV) for 48hrs and stained for synapsin I. At 9 and 10 DIV, 1.2 ug/ml of recombinant Slitrk1 was added to the culture media. Mean ± s.e.m. Values were normalized to the integrated intensity associated with HEK293T expressing EGFP alone without treatment (defined as 1). (EGFP alone untreated, 1.0 ± 0.2, with rh-Slitrk1 0.6 ± 0.1; neuroligin-1 EGFP untreated, 27.6 ± 2.0, with rh-Slitrk1 29.1 ± 3.3; Slitrk1 EGFP untreated, 9.1 ± 2.0, with rh-Slitrk1 1.5 ± 0.5; Slitrk2 EGFP untreated, 17.0 ± 3.0, with rh-Slitrk1 11.7 ± 3.1; Minimum n = 40 for each condition; Done in a minimum of 3 separate experiments; ***p < 0.01, Student's *t* test; au, arbitrary units). (**B**) Addition of recombinant Slitrk1 proteins at 1.2 ug/ml into culture media on each of 9, 10 and 11 DIV results in a reduction of the density of apposed synapsin I/PSD-95 clusters at 12 days in culture compared to untreated neurons. MAP2 staining is used to show the integrity of the neuron. Scale bar, 50 um and 10 um for the zoom boxes. (**C**) Quantification of the results in **B** of the synapsin I-positive PSD-95 clusters per 100 um. Mean \pm s.e.m. (Control IgG, 33.3 \pm 2.4, n = 48; Slitrk1-N antibodies, 24.7 \pm 1.7, n = 48; Done in 5 separate experiments; **p < 0.01, Student's t test).

6. Discussion

Members of the Slitrk family of proteins have been implicated in the etiology of multiple neuropsychiatric disorders (Abelson et al., 2005; Zuchner et al., 2006; Piton et al., 2011). Here we show that two members of this family, Slitrk1 and Slitrk2, can promote presynaptic, but not postsynaptic, differentiation of synapses in a mixed-culture assay. Furthermore, overexpression of either Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 in hippocampal neurons induced the formation of excitatory, but not inhibitory, synapses on contacting axons. Blocking Slitrk1 function with an antibody leads to a decrease in the number of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses in hippocampal neuron cultures, indicating that endogenous Slitrk1 contributes to the formation of these synapses.

Our observation that both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are present in postsynaptic density fractions isolated from brain supports a role for these proteins in regulating synapse formation. However, the unavailability of specific antibodies that are suitable for immunocytochemistry analyses prevented us from determining the specific localization of Slitrk1 or Slitrk2 at excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Nonetheless, our observation that both excitatory and inhibitory synapse numbers are reduced in hippocampal neurons upon treatment with a Slitrk1 function-blocking antibody indicates that Slitrk1 contributes to the formation of both types of synapses (Fig. 7). This is consistent with the previously reported observation that Slitrk1 can promote presynaptic clustering of both vGlut1 and VGAT in a mixed-culture assay (25). It is therefore somewhat surprising that overexpression of Slitrk1 in hippocampal neurons did not increase the number of inhibitory synapses formed in these cultures (Fig. 5). It remains possible that

the level of overexpression of Slitrk1 achieved is not sufficient to promote inhibitory synapse formation. Alternatively, the effect of Slitrk1 on presynaptic differentiation of inhibitory synapses may be regulated by the levels of expression of a Slitrk1-binding protein on the presynaptic side of the cleft. Low levels of expression of such a protein on the presynaptic side would limit any effect overexpressing Slitrk1 could have on inhibitory synapse formation.

Slitrk3 has recently been identified as a specific inducer of inhibitory presynaptic differentiation by binding to the receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase, PTP- δ , on the presynaptic side of the cleft (Takahashi et al., 2012). Ablation of *Slitrk3* in mice leads to specific reductions in both inhibitory synapse density and synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. In contrast to the specific role that Slitrk3 plays in regulating inhibitory synapse formation, our results indicate that Slitrk1 function contributes to the development of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses in hippocampal neurons (Fig. 7,8). Since multiple Slitrk family members interact with PTP- δ , this interaction has been proposed to mediate their ability to promote the formation of inhibitory synapses (25). While the binding partners for Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 that regulate their effect on presynaptic differentiation of excitatory synapses remain to be identified, our in vitro mixed-culture assays suggest that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 promote presynaptic, but not postsynaptic, differentiation. Although Slitrk family members share substantial amino acid sequence identity, it is unclear whether both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 function by binding to a single or multiple different membrane proteins on the surface of the presynaptic cleft. Such diversity in binding partners within families of synaptogenic proteins has previously been described for the Netrin-G ligand family. While NGL-1 and NGL-2 interact with netrin-G1 and netrin-G2, respectively, NGL-3 interacts with the LAR family protein tyrosine phosphatases (Lin et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006; Woo et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2010).

Our observation that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can homo- and heterodimerize when expressed in HEK293T cells suggests that multiple members of the Slitrk family have the ability to interact with each other (Fig. 1). While the structural requirements for dimerization of Slitrks remain to be determined, the intracellular region of Slitrk1 interacts with adaptors of the 14-3-3 family of family (Kajiwara et al., 2009). Dimeric 14-

3-3 proteins may therefore serve as a bridge to promote either homophilic or heterophilic interactions between Slitrks. Future studies should reveal whether dimerization of Slitrks is required for their function at the synapse.

Findings in various Slitrk mutant mice are consistent with a role for these proteins in regulating synapse development or physiology. While *Slitrk1* mutant mice have increased anxiety-like behaviour (Katayama et al., 2008), *Slitrk5* mutant mice display compulsive-like behaviours associated with impaired corticostriatal synaptic transmission (Shmelkov et al., 2010). Moreover, *Slitrk3* mutant mice exhibit increased susceptibility to seizures (Takahashi et al., 2012). In conclusion, our studies demonstrate an important role for Slitrk1 in the regulation of presynaptic differentiation of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Our results further indicate that multiple members of the Slitrk family have a function in synaptic development.

Chapter 4

GENERAL DISCUSSION

1. Original contributions

The major aim of this thesis was to study the role of the Slitrks, a recently discovered family of molecules present in the brain, during neurodevelopment. To begin to address the involvement of Slitrks in the development of the nervous system, I analysed their patterns of expression in the nervous system. These analyses provided interesting information about potential distinct roles for Slitrks. For example, Slitrk2 is the only Slitrk family member that is highly expressed in brain regions where active generation of neurons takes place, such as in the ventricular zones. In contrast, other regions, such as the hippocampus, express multiple members of the Slitrk family suggesting they may have redundancy functions in this region. This study was the first to compare the patterns of expression of all six Slitrk family members in the nervous system and remains the most comprehensive report to date. Based on the expression analyses, I hypothesized that Slitrks may regulate hippocampal development and examined their roles in hippocampal synapse formation. My examination of the role of Slitrks in synapse formation has shown that both Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can act as synaptogenic proteins to promote the formation of excitatory synapses. Furthermore, it revealed that Slitrk1 function is needed for the development of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses. My results represent the first demonstration that Slitrk1 functions in the development of synapses in hippocampal neurons and further support a recent report demonstrating an involvement for members of the Slitrk family in synaptogenesis (Takahashi et al., 2012).

2. Slitrks as synaptogenic proteins

During the redaction of this thesis, a recent report was published demonstrating a role for Slitrk3 in the development of inhibitory synapses in the hippocampus (Takahashi et al., 2012). Using a mixed cell culture assay that I have described in Chapter 3, Takahashi et al. demonstrated that all members of the Slitrk family have synaptogenic potential in vitro (Linhoff et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2012). Most Slitrk family members, including Slitrk1 and Slitrk2, can promote clustering of the inhibitory presynaptic marker VGAT, and of the excitatory presynaptic marker vGlut1. In contrast, Slitrk3 specifically promotes the clustering of VGAT in a mixed-culture assay. Based on the specific effect of Slitrk3 on VGAT clustering that is shared only by neuroligin-2 so far, the authors further examined its function in inhibitory synapse formation. Slitrk3 localizes at inhibitory synapses and knockdown of its expression leads to reduced numbers of inhibitory synapses in hippocampal neuron cultures. Slitrk3 also appears to play a critical role in inhibitory synapse function in vivo. Ablation of Slitrk3 expression in mice leads to a reduction in both inhibitory synapse density and inhibitory transmission. Slitrk 3-/- mice exhibit the interesting phenotype of occasional spontaneous seizures accompanied by increased seizure susceptibility to chemoconvulsants (Takahashi et al., 2012). Since normal brain function requires a finely tuned balance of excitation and inhibition, the reduction of inhibitory connections might explain the increase in seizure susceptibility.

Interestingly, my results support the findings reported by Takahashi et al. and provide additional insight into the function of Slitrks at the synapse. I demonstrate that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are localized to the postsynaptic density fraction and that their overexpression in hippocampal neurons can promote the formation of excitatory synapses. Furthermore blocking Slitrk1 function using a function-blocking antibody or a soluble recombinant form of the Sitrk1 extracellular domain leads to a reduction in the number of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses in hippocampal neurons. My results therefore indicate that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 can modulate synapse formation in addition to the previously reported role for Slitrk3 in this process.

3. Cooperativity or redundancy at the synapse

Over the last decade, several new molecules have been found to have the potential to induce synapse formation. Two important questions that remain to be addressed are 1-whether these cell adhesion molecules are necessary or sufficient for synaptogenesis and 2- whether these cell adhesion molecules function synergistically or redundantly (Wright and Washbourne, 2011). Knowing that neurexins coordinate multiple adhesion events at the synapse, one could have imagined them to be necessary for synaptogenesis. However, the knockout mice studies suggest that even neurexins are dispensable for synapse formation and seem to play a role at later stages of synapse development (Missler et al., 2003). At this point, it is unlikely that a molecule necessary for synaptogenesis in every synapse will be discovered. However, it is possible that specific synaptic cell adhesion molecules will be found to be necessary for the formation of specific subsets of synapses in different brain regions.

The question of whether the cell adhesion molecules function synergistically or redundantly is even more relevant for the case of the Slitrks. In certain regions such as in the hippocampus, Slitrks may have redundant roles in synapse formation. In contrast, in other regions where expression does not overlap, Slitrks may have specific roles. In support for non-redundant functions for the Slitrks, the publications of the single *Slitrk1*^{-/-}, *Slitrk3*^{-/-} and *Slitrk5*^{-/-} mice have shown important behavioural phenotypes that are specific to each knockout mice. Importantly, the single *Slitrk* mutant mice phenotypes are much more striking than for those of most other single knockout CAMs at the synapse.

4. Slitrks in the molecular organization of the synapse

Slitrks as trans-synaptic proteins

Our results strongly suggest that Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 are located on the postsynaptic side of the synapse and promote presynaptic differentiations. However, we cannot totally exclude the possibility that Slitrk proteins could also be located on the presynaptic side of the synapse and interact in *trans* with postsynaptic Slitrks to mediate synapse formation. First, it is difficult to biochemically isolate presynaptic proteins, thus it is not possible to directly address the presence of the Slitrks on this side of the synapse. Secondly, although Slitrk1 and Slitrk2 do not induce clustering of postsynaptic proteins in a mixed-culture assay, it remains possible that they may do so *in vivo*. For example, cadherin function on the presynaptic side is well characterized *in vivo*, but it does not induce clustering of postsynaptic proteins in the coculture assay (Scheiffele et al., 2000; Sara et al., 2005). Thirdly, while we were able to demonstrate that Slitrks have the potential to interact in *cis,* we did not have the right molecular tools to test their binding in *trans*. Thus, the possibility that the Slitrk proteins interact in *trans* at the synapse cannot yet be discarded.

Slitrks as postsynaptic organizers

The presynaptic PTP- δ was found to bind Slitrk3 (and all the other Slitrks) and to be required trans-synaptically for Slitrk3 to induce inhibitory presynaptic differentiation (Takahashi et al., 2012). Knocking down PTP- δ in neurons of a coculture assay selectively blocks the inhibitory synaptogenic activity of Slitrk3, but not of neuroligin-2. Moreover, knocking down PTP-8 blocks the Slitrk2-induced clustering of inhibitory presynaptic markers while having no effect on the excitatory marker aggregation (Takahashi et al., 2012). This finding suggests the existence of a different presynaptic receptor for Slitrk2, other than PTP-8, to mediate excitatory differentiation. Previously, PTP- σ has been demonstrated to be the functional presynaptic receptor by which TrkC exclusively induces excitatory presynaptic differentiation during synapse formation (Takahashi et al., 2011). Thus, it remains unclear how these phosphatases can contribute selectively at GABAergic (with Slitrk3) and glutamatergic synapses (with TrkC). Alternative splicing of the PTP- δ gene can provide one possible explanation for this issue, whereby only certain splice variants can interact specifically with Slitrk3 at inhibitory synapses (Yoshida et al., 2011). Another interesting question is whether Slitrks could also interact at the synapse with the other two members of the LAR family of receptor PTPs: PTP- σ and LAR. It may be hypothesized that different combinations of interactions between the LAR family members and the Slitrks could generate synapse connection specification. Another level of complexity is added with the consideration of another postsynaptic protein, NGL-3, which binds to LAR, PTP- σ , and PTP- δ (Woo et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2010). NGL-3 binding to the LAR family was previously shown to

regulate only excitatory synapse formation (Woo et al., 2009). In the near future, it will be critical to first assess if the Slitrks functionally interact with the three LAR family members, and then to determine whether the Slitrks and NGL-3 compete for the binding sites on LAR, PTP- σ , and PTP- δ . This theory could be tested using the coculture system with bath applications of either Slitrk3 or NGL-3 recombinant protein to potentially block the effect of the other protein.

5. Mechanism of action of the Slitrks at the synapse

Based on the current results, a more fundamental question remains: how does the interaction between PTP- δ and the Slitrks promote presynaptic differentiation? One possibility is that the Slitrks-PTP- δ interaction is important for the initial step of synaptogenesis when the axonal growth cone first contacts the dendrite. In this scenario, both proteins act as cell adhesion molecules to begin stabilization of the new synapse. In support of this hypothesis, the structure of the large extracellular domains of LAR family members is highly reminiscent of the structure of cell adhesion molecules. It consists of three Ig-like domains and four to eight fibronectin type III domains, depending on the alternative splicing that take place during transcription (Pulido et al., 1995). On the postsynaptic side, the fact that the Slitrks do not have in their intracellular domains any known signaling protein motifs suggests they may act solely as adhesion molecules. It is also possible that Slitrks-PTP-δ interactions promote presynaptic differentiation by initiation a signaling cascade on either the presynaptic, the postsynaptic or both sides of the synapse. Such a case would suggest that their interaction plays a role at later stages of synaptogenesis, as the synapse matures. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that the second cytoplasmic phosphatase domain of the LAR family, which is catalytically inactive, interacts with liprin- α (Pulido et al., 1995), a cytoplasmic adaptor protein that is important for presynaptic development (Zhen and Jin, 1999; Kaufmann et al., 2002). Also, their first phosphatase domain, which is catalytically active, may be responsible for the dephosphorylation of downstream effectors upon binding of the Slitrks. Finally, while there are no obvious known signaling domains in the intracellular portion of the Slitrks, bioinformatic analyses predict that Slitrk1 (and potentially the other Slitrks) might be phosphorylated by protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC), and CK2

(Kajiwara et al., 2009). If confirmed, this option could reveal the existence of postsynaptic downstream signaling. Hence, it is important to highlight here that it is still unclear whether Slitrks act as cell adhesion molecules during synapse formation or as instructive molecules that participate in synapse assembly.

Our current model favors a role in adhesion for Slitrks at the synapse. However, it remains possible that Slitrks could regulate synapse formation by being proteolytically processed at the membrane surface. It has been suggested that Slitrks might undergo proteolysis to release the extracellular domain (Kajiwara et al., 2009). Indeed, it was found that the activation of PKC, known to promote secretion of transmembrane proteins (Gabuzda et al., 1993; Izumi et al., 1998), led to the release of a Slitrk1 extracellular domain fragment in the growth media of transfected COS cells. This cleavage is abolished by the ADAM-protease inhibitor TAPI-2 (Kajiwara et al., 2009). This family of metalloproteases is frequently responsible for the shedding of transmembrane proteins. This α -secretase cleavage can be followed by an intramembranous cleavage catalysed by the y-secretase complex, which seems to also cleave Slitrk1 (Kajiwara et al., 2009). These results raise important questions for the involvement of Slitrks in synapse formation. The Slitrk family may join the classical synaptogenic priming factors derived from the target neurons (described in chapter 1), the Wnt and the FGFs. The synaptic effect of the Slitrks could be achieved in two steps. First, Slitrks could be released from the dendrites and travel to prime the growth cone for synaptogenesis. Later, the transmembrane Slitrks could help in stabilizing the synapse. Future experiments will need to be designed to address this specific possibility.

6. Towards a dual function for Slitrks

The Slitrks begin to be expressed before synapse formation occurs. As described in detail in the first chapter, there are multiple evidences that Slitrks are indeed implicated in neurite outgrowth modulation. In terms of the impacts of the Slitrks on neural circuit formation, the work done with the *Slitrk6-/-* mice are insightful. The survival and neurite outgrowth of the sensory neurons in the inner ear is reduced in the absence of Slitrk6. Histological examinations also revealed that vestibular innervation in the inner ear was markedly decreased and sometimes misguided without Slitrk6 (Katayama et al., 2009). Therefore, we now have indications that Slitrks participate in at least two functions during development: neurite outgrowth and synapse formation. This dual role is not without precedent among synaptogenic proteins. So far, cadherins, L1-CAMs and SALMs have been shown to mediate neurite outgrowth as well as synapse formation both in vitro and in vivo (Redies, 2000; Nishimura et al., 2003; Godenschwege et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008; Mah et al., 2010). Even the key postsynaptic protein, neuroligin-1, was recently shown to induce neurite outgrowth through interaction with neurexin-1 and activation of FGF receptor 1 (Gjorlund et al., 2012). Some of the processes involved in synapse formation and neurite outgrowth could be potentially shared. How the switch between the two functions is controlled is still unknown. Interestingly, impairs in both neuritogenesis and synaptogenesis in the establishment of neuromuscular connections were associated to the Slitrk genes (Marteyn et al., 2011). Overall, the characterization of the different *Slitrk* mutant mice in well-established developmental paradigms will help distinguish when and where the Slitrks are implicated in synapse formation or in neurite outgrowth.

7. Synaptic cell adhesion molecules and disorders of the nervous system

Recent advances in research on proteins implicated in synapse formation that cross the synaptic cleft have contributed to our understanding of brain disorders. Multiple human genetic studies have linked mutations in synaptic proteins with various psychiatric and neurological diseases of so-called synaptopathies (reviewed in (Grabrucker et al., 2011; Waites and Garner, 2011)). Even though most of these studies conclude that complex brain disorders are likely to be due to multiple genetic and environmental causes, the correlation between synaptic protein mutations and diseases remains extremely insightful. Among the studies that are related to the proteins discussed in this thesis, LRRTM1 was shown to be linked, via paternal transmission, to both handedness and SCZ (Francks et al., 2007). Genetic linkage studies found a correlation between autism spectrum disorders (ASD) and mutations in cadherins (Wang et al., 2009; Pagnamenta et al., 2011). SALM5 has been associated with severe progressive autism and mental retardation (de Bruijn et al., 2010) and with familial SCZ (Xu et al., 2009). Netrin-G1 is implicated in Rett

syndrome, a neurodevelopmental disorder that predominantly affects females, causing loss of purposeful hand movements, impaired social contact, and stereotypic hand movements (Borg et al., 2005). In addition, single nucleotide polymorphism studies have linked netrin-G1 and netrin-G2 with SCZ (Aoki-Suzuki et al., 2005; Ohtsuki et al., 2008). Mutations within neuroligin genes have been correlated with ASD (Jamain et al., 2003; Talebizadeh et al., 2006; Yan et al., 2008; Glessner et al., 2009). Moreover the mental retardation-associated protein, IL1RAPL1, triggers excitatory, but not inhibitory, presynaptic differentiation via trans-interaction with PTP-δ (Valnegri et al., 2011; Yoshida et al., 2011). Mutations in SHANK3, a scaffolding protein at the postsynaptic density that modulates dendritic spine morphology and synaptic signaling, lead to global developmental delay and autism (Durand et al., 2007; Moessner et al., 2007; Gauthier et al., 2009; Durand et al., 2012). Interestingly, mice with targeted mutations in the different domains of SHANK3 displayed physiological and behavioral consequences reminiscent of mild autism (Bozdagi et al., 2010; Peca et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2012). However, most likely due to their central role in presynaptic organisation and the fact that they bind multiple proteins, neurexin deletions associated with disorders are the most commonly documented. Indeed, several reports have suggested that deletions of NRXN1 confer a substantial increase in risk of SCZ (Consortium, 2008; Kirov et al., 2008; Walsh et al., 2008; Kirov et al., 2009; Need et al., 2009; Rujescu et al., 2009) or ASD (Szatmari et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008a; Morrow et al., 2008; Glessner et al., 2009). Altogether, these observations suggest that many brain disorders result from very subtle differences in neural connectivity caused by mutations in synaptic proteins.

Multiple recent studies, described in the literature review of the thesis, describe certain Slitrk mutations in patients with disorders such as TS, TTM, BD, ASD, and SCZ. These genetic studies represent another proof of principles that the Slitrks are synaptic proteins that play a role the connectivity between synapses. Moreover, determining how the same gene is mutated in patients with different mental illness might eventually shed light on our understanding of the pathophysiology of these disorders. To a certain extent, TTM and TS, both of which are forms of OCD, might represent alternative expressions of a single underlying genetic alteration. In line with this possibility, it is interesting that the mouse mutant for the transcription factor Hoxb8 shows a behavior manifested by compulsive grooming and hair removal, similar to behavior in humans with OCD (Greer and Capecchi, 2002). In the brain, Hoxb8 cell lineage marking exclusively labels bone marrow-derived microglia. Surprisingly, restriction of Hoxb8 deletion to the hematopoietic system, which gives rise to microglia, results in mice with the excessive grooming and hair removal behavioral defects (Chen et al., 2010). Immunological dysfunctions have been associated with neuropsychiatric disorders like autism, OCD, BD or SCZ (reviewed in (Ashwood et al., 2006; Strous and Shoenfeld, 2006; da Rocha et al., 2008)). Knowing that the Slitrks are expressed by hematopoietic stem cells (Milde et al., 2007) and that *Slitrk5-/-* mice exhibit an excessive grooming behaviour highly similar to the *Hoxb8-/-* mice (Shmelkov et al., 2010), it is possible that the Slitrks are implicated in the etiology of brain disorders by playing role outside the synapse formation, for example in the generation of microglia.

8. Conclusion

I would like to conclude my thesis just as it started; with a citation by Dr Wilder Penfield, founder of the Montreal Neurological Institute:

"The brain is the organ of destiny. It holds within its humming mechanism secrets that will determine the future of the human race."

In my humble opinion, this single quote summarizes why neuroscience is a world apart from all other scientific disciplines: learning about the brain makes us more human.

The results I have presented in my thesis shed light on how the Slitrk family of proteins can regulate the fundamental process of synaptic formation during development of the nervous system. As usual, these few answers have raised multiple exciting questions about the mode of action of Slitrks at the synapse that will be pursued in the future.

REFERENCES

- Abelson JF et al. (2005) Sequence variants in SLITRK1 are associated with Tourette's syndrome. Science 310:317-320.
- Adams JC (2001) Thrombospondins: multifunctional regulators of cell interactions. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:25-51.
- Ahmad-Annuar A, Ciani L, Simeonidis I, Herreros J, Fredj NB, Rosso SB, Hall A, Brickley S, Salinas PC (2006) Signaling across the synapse: a role for Wnt and Dishevelled in presynaptic assembly and neurotransmitter release. J Cell Biol 174:127-139.
- Ahn AH, Kunkel LM (1993) The structural and functional diversity of dystrophin. Nat Genet 3:283-291.
- Aiga M, Levinson JN, Bamji SX (2010) N-cadherin and neuroligins cooperate to regulate synapse formation in hippocampal cultures. J Biol Chem 286:851-858.
- Allen NJ, Bennett ML, Foo LC, Wang GX, Chakraborty C, Smith SJ, Barres BA (2012) Astrocyte glypicans 4 and 6 promote formation of excitatory synapses via GluA1 AMPA receptors. Nature 486:410-414.
- Amaral D, Witter M (2004) Hippocampal formation. In: The rat nervous system (Paxinos G, ed), pp 635-704. San Diego: Elsevier academic press.
- American_Psychiatric_Association (2000) *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th edition Edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association
- Aoki-Suzuki M, Yamada K, Meerabux J, Iwayama-Shigeno Y, Ohba H, Iwamoto K, Takao H, Toyota T, Suto Y, Nakatani N, Dean B, Nishimura S, Seki K, Kato T, Itohara S, Nishikawa T, Yoshikawa T (2005) A family-based association study and gene expression analyses of netrin-G1 and -G2 genes in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 57:382-393.
- Arevalo JC, Wu SH (2006) Neurotrophin signaling: many exciting surprises! Cell Mol Life Sci 63:1523-1537.
- Arevalo JC, Waite J, Rajagopal R, Beyna M, Chen ZY, Lee FS, Chao MV (2006) Cell survival through Trk neurotrophin receptors is differentially regulated by ubiquitination. Neuron 50:549-559.
- Aruga J (2003) Slitrk6 expression profile in the mouse embryo and its relationship to that of Nlrr3. Gene Expr Patterns 3:727-733.
- Aruga J, Mikoshiba K (2003) Identification and characterization of Slitrk, a novel neuronal transmembrane protein family controlling neurite outgrowth. Mol Cell Neurosci 24:117-129.
- Aruga J, Yokota N, Mikoshiba K (2003) Human SLITRK family genes: genomic organization and expression profiling in normal brain and brain tumor tissue. Gene 315:87-94.
- Ashwood P, Wills S, Van de Water J (2006) The immune response in autism: a new frontier for autism research. J Leukoc Biol 80:1-15.
- Balice-Gordon RJ, Lichtman JW (1993) In vivo observations of pre- and postsynaptic changes during the transition from multiple to single innervation at developing neuromuscular junctions. J Neurosci 13:834-855.
- Banker G, Goslin K (1998) Rat hippocampal neurons in low-density culture. In: Culturing nerve cells, 2nd Edition, pp 339-370. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.

- Beaubien F, Cloutier JF (2009) Differential expression of Slitrk family members in the mouse nervous system. Dev Dyn 238:3285-3296.
- Beaubien F, Prince JEA, Cloutier J-F (In press) Axon guidance: Slit-Robo signaling. In: Comprehensive Developmental Neuroscience (Elsevier, ed).
- Beesley PW, Mummery R, Tibaldi J (1995) N-cadherin is a major glycoprotein component of isolated rat forebrain postsynaptic densities. J Neurochem 64:2288-2294.
- Beglopoulos V, Montag-Sallaz M, Rohlmann A, Piechotta K, Ahmad M, Montag D, Missler M (2005) Neurexophilin 3 is highly localized in cortical and cerebellar regions and is functionally important for sensorimotor gating and motor coordination. Mol Cell Biol 25:7278-7288.
- Bennett MR (1999) The early history of the synapse: from Plato to Sherrington. Brain Res Bull 50:95-118.
- Benson DL, Tanaka H (1998) N-cadherin redistribution during synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 18:6892-6904.
- Biederer T (2006) Bioinformatic characterization of the SynCAM family of immunoglobulin-like domain-containing adhesion molecules. Genomics 87:139-150.
- Biederer T, Scheiffele P (2007) Mixed-culture assays for analyzing neuronal synapse formation. Nat Protoc 2:670-676.
- Biederer T, Sara Y, Mozhayeva M, Atasoy D, Liu X, Kavalali ET, Sudhof TC (2002) SynCAM, a synaptic adhesion molecule that drives synapse assembly. Science 297:1525-1531.
- Bird AD, Tan KH, Olsson PF, Zieba M, Flecknoe SJ, Liddicoat DR, Mollard R, Hooper SB, Cole TJ (2007) Identification of glucocorticoid-regulated genes that control cell proliferation during murine respiratory development. J Physiol 585:187-201.
- Bjartmar L, Huberman AD, Ullian EM, Renteria RC, Liu X, Xu W, Prezioso J, Susman MW, Stellwagen D, Stokes CC, Cho R, Worley P, Malenka RC, Ball S, Peachey NS, Copenhagen D, Chapman B, Nakamoto M, Barres BA, Perin MS (2006) Neuronal pentraxins mediate synaptic refinement in the developing visual system. J Neurosci 26:6269-6281.
- Bjorklund AK, Ekman D, Elofsson A (2006) Expansion of protein domain repeats. PLoS computational biology 2:e114.
- Bloch MH, Peterson BS, Scahill L, Otka J, Katsovich L, Zhang H, Leckman JF (2006) Adulthood outcome of tic and obsessive-compulsive symptom severity in children with Tourette syndrome. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 160:65-69.
- Blundell J, Tabuchi K, Bolliger MF, Blaiss CA, Brose N, Liu X, Sudhof TC, Powell CM (2009) Increased anxiety-like behavior in mice lacking the inhibitory synapse cell adhesion molecule neuroligin 2. Genes Brain Behav 8:114-126.
- Borg I, Freude K, Kubart S, Hoffmann K, Menzel C, Laccone F, Firth H, Ferguson-Smith MA, Tommerup N, Ropers HH, Sargan D, Kalscheuer VM (2005) Disruption of Netrin G1 by a balanced chromosome translocation in a girl with Rett syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 13:921-927.
- Bornstein P (2001) Thrombospondins as matricellular modulators of cell function. J Clin Invest 107:929-934.

Boucard AA, Chubykin AA, Comoletti D, Taylor P, Sudhof TC (2005) A splice code for trans-synaptic cell adhesion mediated by binding of neuroligin 1 to alpha- and beta-neurexins. Neuron 48:229-236.

Bourgeron T (2009) A synaptic trek to autism. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19:231-234.

- Bozdagi O, Sakurai T, Papapetrou D, Wang X, Dickstein DL, Takahashi N, Kajiwara Y, Yang M, Katz AM, Scattoni ML, Harris MJ, Saxena R, Silverman JL, Crawley JN, Zhou Q, Hof PR, Buxbaum JD (2010) Haploinsufficiency of the autismassociated Shank3 gene leads to deficits in synaptic function, social interaction, and social communication. Molecular autism 1:15.
- Brake WG, Alves SE, Dunlop JC, Lee SJ, Bulloch K, Allen PB, Greengard P, McEwen BS (2001) Novel target sites for estrogen action in the dorsal hippocampus: an examination of synaptic proteins. Endocrinology 142:1284-1289.
- Bridges D, Moorhead GB (2005) 14-3-3 proteins: a number of functions for a numbered protein. Sci STKE 2005:re10.
- Budreck EC, Scheiffele P (2007) Neuroligin-3 is a neuronal adhesion protein at GABAergic and glutamatergic synapses. Eur J Neurosci 26:1738-1748.
- Cajal S (1888) Estructura de los centros nerviosos de las aves. Revista Trimestral de Histologí a Normal y Patolo gica 1.
- Cambon K, Hansen SM, Venero C, Herrero AI, Skibo G, Berezin V, Bock E, Sandi C (2004) A synthetic neural cell adhesion molecule mimetic peptide promotes synaptogenesis, enhances presynaptic function, and facilitates memory consolidation. J Neurosci 24:4197-4204.
- Cavani S, Prontera P, Grasso M, Ardisia C, Malacarne M, Gradassi C, Cecconi M, Mencarelli A, Donti E, Pierluigi M (2010) FMR1, FMR2, and SLITRK2 deletion inside a paracentric inversion involving bands Xq27.3-q28 in a male and his mother. Am J Med Genet A 155A:221-224.
- Chagnon MJ, Uetani N, Tremblay ML (2004) Functional significance of the LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family in development and diseases. Biochemistry and cell biology = Biochimie et biologie cellulaire 82:664-675.
- Chang MC, Park JM, Pelkey KA, Grabenstatter HL, Xu D, Linden DJ, Sutula TP, McBain CJ, Worley PF (2010) Narp regulates homeostatic scaling of excitatory synapses on parvalbumin-expressing interneurons. Nat Neurosci 13:1090-1097.
- Chen SK, Tvrdik P, Peden E, Cho S, Wu S, Spangrude G, Capecchi MR (2010) Hematopoietic origin of pathological grooming in Hoxb8 mutant mice. Cell 141:775-785.
- Chen Y, Aulia S, Li L, Tang BL (2006) AMIGO and friends: an emerging family of brain-enriched, neuronal growth modulating, type I transmembrane proteins with leucine-rich repeats (LRR) and cell adhesion molecule motifs. Brain Res Rev 51:265-274.
- Cheng D, Hoogenraad CC, Rush J, Ramm E, Schlager MA, Duong DM, Xu P, Wijayawardana SR, Hanfelt J, Nakagawa T, Sheng M, Peng J (2006) Relative and absolute quantification of postsynaptic density proteome isolated from rat forebrain and cerebellum. Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP 5:1158-1170.
- Chih B, Engelman H, Scheiffele P (2005) Control of excitatory and inhibitory synapse formation by neuroligins. Science 307:1324-1328.

- Chih B, Gollan L, Scheiffele P (2006) Alternative splicing controls selective transsynaptic interactions of the neuroligin-neurexin complex. Neuron 51:171-178.
- Cho JH, Prince JE, Cloutier JF (2008a) Axon Guidance Events in the Wiring of the Mammalian Olfactory System. Mol Neurobiol.
- Cho RW, Park JM, Wolff SB, Xu D, Hopf C, Kim JA, Reddy RC, Petralia RS, Perin MS, Linden DJ, Worley PF (2008b) mGluR1/5-dependent long-term depression requires the regulated ectodomain cleavage of neuronal pentraxin NPR by TACE. Neuron 57:858-871.
- Choi YB, Li HL, Kassabov SR, Jin I, Puthanveettil SV, Karl KA, Lu Y, Kim JH, Bailey CH, Kandel ER (2011) Neurexin-neuroligin transsynaptic interaction mediates learning-related synaptic remodeling and long-term facilitation in aplysia. Neuron 70:468-481.
- Chou IC, Wan L, Liu SC, Tsai CH, Tsai FJ (2007) Association of the Slit and Trk-like 1 gene in Taiwanese patients with Tourette syndrome. Pediatr Neurol 37:404-406.
- Christopherson KS, Ullian EM, Stokes CC, Mullowney CE, Hell JW, Agah A, Lawler J, Mosher DF, Bornstein P, Barres BA (2005) Thrombospondins are astrocytesecreted proteins that promote CNS synaptogenesis. Cell 120:421-433.
- Chubykin AA, Atasoy D, Etherton MR, Brose N, Kavalali ET, Gibson JR, Sudhof TC (2007) Activity-dependent validation of excitatory versus inhibitory synapses by neuroligin-1 versus neuroligin-2. Neuron 54:919-931.
- Ciani L, Boyle KA, Dickins E, Sahores M, Anane D, Lopes DM, Gibb AJ, Salinas PC (2011) Wnt7a signaling promotes dendritic spine growth and synaptic strength through Ca(2)/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:10732-10737.
- Clandinin TR, Feldheim DA (2009) Making a visual map: mechanisms and molecules. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19:174-180.
- Coffee B, Ikeda M, Budimirovic DB, Hjelm LN, Kaufmann WE, Warren ST (2008) Mosaic FMR1 deletion causes fragile X syndrome and can lead to molecular misdiagnosis: a case report and review of the literature. Am J Med Genet A 146A:1358-1367.
- Coffey BJ, Biederman J, Smoller JW, Geller DA, Sarin P, Schwartz S, Kim GS (2000) Anxiety disorders and tic severity in juveniles with Tourette's disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 39:562-568.
- Consortium IS (2008) Rare chromosomal deletions and duplications increase risk of schizophrenia. Nature 455:237-241.
- Cotman CW, Taylor D (1972) Isolation and structural studies on synaptic complexes from rat brain. J Cell Biol 55:696-711.
- Crawford GD, Osborne EZ, Potter HD (1981) Structural destabilization of synaptosomal particles by lysis and sequential chemical treatments. J Neurocytol 10:457-473.
- Cremer H, Lange R, Christoph A, Plomann M, Vopper G, Roes J, Brown R, Baldwin S, Kraemer P, Scheff S, et al. (1994) Inactivation of the N-CAM gene in mice results in size reduction of the olfactory bulb and deficits in spatial learning. Nature 367:455-459.

- da Rocha FF, Correa H, Teixeira AL (2008) Obsessive-compulsive disorder and immunology: a review. Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry 32:1139-1146.
- Dahlhaus R, Hines RM, Eadie BD, Kannangara TS, Hines DJ, Brown CE, Christie BR, El-Husseini A (2010) Overexpression of the cell adhesion protein neuroligin-1 induces learning deficits and impairs synaptic plasticity by altering the ratio of excitation to inhibition in the hippocampus. Hippocampus 20:305-322.
- Dalva MB, Takasu MA, Lin MZ, Shamah SM, Hu L, Gale NW, Greenberg ME (2000) EphB receptors interact with NMDA receptors and regulate excitatory synapse formation. Cell 103:945-956.
- Davis EK, Zou Y, Ghosh A (2008) Whits acting through canonical and noncanonical signaling pathways exert opposite effects on hippocampal synapse formation. Neural development 3:32.
- de Bruijn DR, van Dijk AH, Pfundt R, Hoischen A, Merkx GF, Gradek GA, Lybaek H, Stray-Pedersen A, Brunner HG, Houge G (2010) Severe Progressive Autism Associated with Two de novo Changes: A 2.6-Mb 2q31.1 Deletion and a Balanced t(14;21)(q21.1;p11.2) Translocation with Long-Range Epigenetic Silencing of LRFN5 Expression. Molecular syndromology 1:46-57.
- de Wit J, Hong W, Luo L, Ghosh A (2011) Role of leucine-rich repeat proteins in the development and function of neural circuits. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 27:697-729.
- de Wit J, Sylwestrak E, O'Sullivan ML, Otto S, Tiglio K, Savas JN, Yates JR, 3rd, Comoletti D, Taylor P, Ghosh A (2009) LRRTM2 interacts with Neurexin1 and regulates excitatory synapse formation. Neuron 64:799-806.
- Dean C, Scholl FG, Choih J, DeMaria S, Berger J, Isacoff E, Scheiffele P (2003) Neurexin mediates the assembly of presynaptic terminals. Nat Neurosci 6:708-716.
- DeChiara TM, Bowen DC, Valenzuela DM, Simmons MV, Poueymirou WT, Thomas S, Kinetz E, Compton DL, Rojas E, Park JS, Smith C, DiStefano PS, Glass DJ, Burden SJ, Yancopoulos GD (1996) The receptor tyrosine kinase MuSK is required for neuromuscular junction formation in vivo. Cell 85:501-512.
- Deng H, Le WD, Xie WJ, Jankovic J (2006) Examination of the SLITRK1 gene in Caucasian patients with Tourette syndrome. Acta Neurol Scand 114:400-402.
- Dereeper A, Guignon V, Blanc G, Audic S, Buffet S, Chevenet F, Dufayard JF, Guindon S, Lefort V, Lescot M, Claverie JM, Gascuel O (2008) Phylogeny.fr: robust phylogenetic analysis for the non-specialist. Nucleic Acids Res 36:W465-469.
- Di Cristo G, Chattopadhyaya B, Kuhlman SJ, Fu Y, Belanger MC, Wu CZ, Rutishauser U, Maffei L, Huang ZJ (2007) Activity-dependent PSA expression regulates inhibitory maturation and onset of critical period plasticity. Nat Neurosci 10:1569-1577.
- Dietschy JM, Turley SD (2001) Cholesterol metabolism in the brain. Curr Opin Lipidol 12:105-112.
- Dityatev A, Dityateva G, Schachner M (2000) Synaptic strength as a function of postversus presynaptic expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM. Neuron 26:207-217.

- Dityatev A, Dityateva G, Sytnyk V, Delling M, Toni N, Nikonenko I, Muller D, Schachner M (2004) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule promotes remodeling and formation of hippocampal synapses. J Neurosci 24:9372-9382.
- Dodds DC, Omeis IA, Cushman SJ, Helms JA, Perin MS (1997) Neuronal pentraxin receptor, a novel putative integral membrane pentraxin that interacts with neuronal pentraxin 1 and 2 and taipoxin-associated calcium-binding protein 49. J Biol Chem 272:21488-21494.
- Dolan J, Walshe K, Alsbury S, Hokamp K, O'Keeffe S, Okafuji T, Miller SF, Tear G, Mitchell KJ (2007) The extracellular leucine-rich repeat superfamily; a comparative survey and analysis of evolutionary relationships and expression patterns. BMC genomics 8:320.
- Dotti CG, Banker GA, Binder LI (1987) The expression and distribution of the microtubule-associated proteins tau and microtubule-associated protein 2 in hippocampal neurons in the rat in situ and in cell culture. Neuroscience 23:121-130.
- Dudanova I, Tabuchi K, Rohlmann A, Sudhof TC, Missler M (2007) Deletion of alphaneurexins does not cause a major impairment of axonal pathfinding or synapse formation. J Comp Neurol 502:261-274.
- Duke DC, Keeley ML, Geffken GR, Storch EA (2009) Trichotillomania: A current review. Clin Psychol Rev 30:181-193.
- Dunah AW, Hueske E, Wyszynski M, Hoogenraad CC, Jaworski J, Pak DT, Simonetta A, Liu G, Sheng M (2005) LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in the development and maintenance of excitatory synapses. Nat Neurosci 8:458-467.
- Durand CM, Perroy J, Loll F, Perrais D, Fagni L, Bourgeron T, Montcouquiol M, Sans N (2012) SHANK3 mutations identified in autism lead to modification of dendritic spine morphology via an actin-dependent mechanism. Mol Psychiatry 17:71-84.
- Durand CM et al. (2007) Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. Nat Genet 39:25-27.
- Eapen V, Fox-Hiley P, Banerjee S, Robertson M (2004) Clinical features and associated psychopathology in a Tourette syndrome cohort. Acta Neurol Scand 109:255-260.
- Eckhardt M, Bukalo O, Chazal G, Wang L, Goridis C, Schachner M, Gerardy-Schahn R, Cremer H, Dityatev A (2000) Mice deficient in the polysialyltransferase ST8SiaIV/PST-1 allow discrimination of the roles of neural cell adhesion molecule protein and polysialic acid in neural development and synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci 20:5234-5244.
- Elliott T (1904) On the action of adrenaline. J Physiology London 31.
- Engel AG, Sine SM (2005) Current understanding of congenital myasthenic syndromes. Curr Opin Pharmacol 5:308-321.
- Escher P, Lacazette E, Courtet M, Blindenbacher A, Landmann L, Bezakova G, Lloyd KC, Mueller U, Brenner HR (2005) Synapses form in skeletal muscles lacking neuregulin receptors. Science 308:1920-1923.
- Etherton MR, Blaiss CA, Powell CM, Sudhof TC (2009) Mouse neurexin-1alpha deletion causes correlated electrophysiological and behavioral changes consistent with cognitive impairments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:17998-18003.

- Everson S (1995) The Cambridge companion to Aristotle. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fallon L, Moreau F, Croft BG, Labib N, Gu WJ, Fon EA (2002) Parkin and CASK/LIN-2 associate via a PDZ-mediated interaction and are co-localized in lipid rafts and postsynaptic densities in brain. J Biol Chem 277:486-491.
- Falls DL, Rosen KM, Corfas G, Lane WS, Fischbach GD (1993) ARIA, a protein that stimulates acetylcholine receptor synthesis, is a member of the neu ligand family. Cell 72:801-815.
- Fernandez-Monreal M, Kang S, Phillips GR (2009) Gamma-protocadherin homophilic interaction and intracellular trafficking is controlled by the cytoplasmic domain in neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 40:344-353.
- Fischbach GD, Cohen SA (1973) The distribution of acetylcholine sensitivity over uninnervated and innervated muscle fibers grown in cell culture. Dev Biol 31:147-162.
- Flanagan JG, Vanderhaeghen P (1998) The ephrins and Eph receptors in neural development. Annu Rev Neurosci 21:309-345.
- Fogel AI, Stagi M, Perez de Arce K, Biederer T (2011) Lateral assembly of the immunoglobulin protein SynCAM 1 controls its adhesive function and instructs synapse formation. EMBO J 30:4728-4738.
- Fogel AI, Akins MR, Krupp AJ, Stagi M, Stein V, Biederer T (2007) SynCAMs organize synapses through heterophilic adhesion. J Neurosci 27:12516-12530.
- Francks C et al. (2007) LRRTM1 on chromosome 2p12 is a maternally suppressed gene that is associated paternally with handedness and schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 12:1129-1139, 1057.
- Fu WY, Chen Y, Sahin M, Zhao XS, Shi L, Bikoff JB, Lai KO, Yung WH, Fu AK, Greenberg ME, Ip NY (2007) Cdk5 regulates EphA4-mediated dendritic spine retraction through an ephexin1-dependent mechanism. Nat Neurosci 10:67-76.
- Fukata Y, Lovero KL, Iwanaga T, Watanabe A, Yokoi N, Tabuchi K, Shigemoto R, Nicoll RA, Fukata M (2010) Disruption of LGI1-linked synaptic complex causes abnormal synaptic transmission and epilepsy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:3799-3804.
- Gabuzda D, Busciglio J, Yankner BA (1993) Inhibition of beta-amyloid production by activation of protein kinase C. J Neurochem 61:2326-2329.
- Gadow KD, Nolan EE, Sprafkin J, Schwartz J (2002) Tics and psychiatric comorbidity in children and adolescents. Dev Med Child Neurol 44:330-338.
- Garbe DS, Bashaw GJ (2004) Axon guidance at the midline: from mutants to mechanisms. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 39:319-341.
- Garner CC, Brugg B, Matus A (1988) A 70-kilodalton microtubule-associated protein (MAP2c), related to MAP2. J Neurochem 50:609-615.
- Garrett AM, Weiner JA (2009) Control of CNS synapse development by {gamma}protocadherin-mediated astrocyte-neuron contact. J Neurosci 29:11723-11731.
- Gassmann M, Casagranda F, Orioli D, Simon H, Lai C, Klein R, Lemke G (1995) Aberrant neural and cardiac development in mice lacking the ErbB4 neuregulin receptor. Nature 378:390-394.

- Gautam M, Noakes PG, Mudd J, Nichol M, Chu GC, Sanes JR, Merlie JP (1995) Failure of postsynaptic specialization to develop at neuromuscular junctions of rapsyndeficient mice. Nature 377:232-236.
- Gautam M, Noakes PG, Moscoso L, Rupp F, Scheller RH, Merlie JP, Sanes JR (1996) Defective neuromuscular synaptogenesis in agrin-deficient mutant mice. Cell 85:525-535.
- Gauthier J, Spiegelman D, Piton A, Lafreniere RG, Laurent S, St-Onge J, Lapointe L, Hamdan FF, Cossette P, Mottron L, Fombonne E, Joober R, Marineau C, Drapeau P, Rouleau GA (2009) Novel de novo SHANK3 mutation in autistic patients. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 150B:421-424.
- Gee SH, Montanaro F, Lindenbaum MH, Carbonetto S (1994) Dystroglycan-alpha, a dystrophin-associated glycoprotein, is a functional agrin receptor. Cell 77:675-686.
- Gerlach J (1871) Von den Rückenmarke. In: Handbuch der Lehre von den Geweben. (S S, ed), pp 665-693. Leipzig: Engelmann.
- Gibson JR, Huber KM, Sudhof TC (2009) Neuroligin-2 deletion selectively decreases inhibitory synaptic transmission originating from fast-spiking but not from somatostatin-positive interneurons. J Neurosci 29:13883-13897.
- Gjorlund MD, Nielsen J, Pankratova S, Li S, Korshunova I, Bock E, Berezin V (2012) Neuroligin-1 induces neurite outgrowth through interaction with neurexin-1beta and activation of fibroblast growth factor receptor-1. FASEB J.
- Glass DJ, Bowen DC, Stitt TN, Radziejewski C, Bruno J, Ryan TE, Gies DR, Shah S, Mattsson K, Burden SJ, DiStefano PS, Valenzuela DM, DeChiara TM, Yancopoulos GD (1996) Agrin acts via a MuSK receptor complex. Cell 85:513-523.
- Glessner JT et al. (2009) Autism genome-wide copy number variation reveals ubiquitin and neuronal genes. Nature 459:569-573.
- Godenschwege TA, Kristiansen LV, Uthaman SB, Hortsch M, Murphey RK (2006) A conserved role for Drosophila Neuroglian and human L1-CAM in central-synapse formation. Curr Biol 16:12-23.
- Goshen I, Yirmiya R (2009) Interleukin-1 (IL-1): a central regulator of stress responses. Frontiers in neuroendocrinology 30:30-45.
- Grabrucker AM, Schmeisser MJ, Schoen M, Boeckers TM (2011) Postsynaptic ProSAP/Shank scaffolds in the cross-hair of synaptopathies. Trends Cell Biol 21:594-603.
- Graf ER, Zhang X, Jin SX, Linhoff MW, Craig AM (2004) Neurexins induce differentiation of GABA and glutamate postsynaptic specializations via neuroligins. Cell 119:1013-1026.
- Graves JA (2006) Sex chromosome specialization and degeneration in mammals. Cell 124:901-914.
- Greene LA, Tischler AS (1976) Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73:2424-2428.
- Greer JM, Capecchi MR (2002) Hoxb8 is required for normal grooming behavior in mice. Neuron 33:23-34.

- Grunwald IC, Korte M, Wolfer D, Wilkinson GA, Unsicker K, Lipp HP, Bonhoeffer T, Klein R (2001) Kinase-independent requirement of EphB2 receptors in hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Neuron 32:1027-1040.
- Gu Y, Shen Y, Gibbs RA, Nelson DL (1996) Identification of FMR2, a novel gene associated with the FRAXE CCG repeat and CpG island. Nat Genet 13:109-113.
- Gulyas AI, Hajos N, Freund TF (1996) Interneurons containing calretinin are specialized to control other interneurons in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 16:3397-3411.
- Gunning PW, Landreth GE, Bothwell MA, Shooter EM (1981) Differential and synergistic actions of nerve growth factor and cyclic AMP in PC12 cells. J Cell Biol 89:240-245.
- Gupta A, Tsai LH, Wynshaw-Boris A (2002) Life is a journey: a genetic look at neocortical development. Nat Rev Genet 3:342-355.
- Hall AC, Lucas FR, Salinas PC (2000) Axonal remodeling and synaptic differentiation in the cerebellum is regulated by WNT-7a signaling. Cell 100:525-535.
- Hall AC, Brennan A, Goold RG, Cleverley K, Lucas FR, Gordon-Weeks PR, Salinas PC (2002) Valproate regulates GSK-3-mediated axonal remodeling and synapsin I clustering in developing neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 20:257-270.
- Hall ZW, Sanes JR (1993) Synaptic structure and development: the neuromuscular junction. Cell 72 Suppl:99-121.
- Hallopeau FH (1889) Alopecie par grattage (trichomanie ou trichotillomanie). In: Annales de dermatologie et de syphiligraphie, pp 440-441. Paris.
- Hama H, Hara C, Yamaguchi K, Miyawaki A (2004) PKC signaling mediates global enhancement of excitatory synaptogenesis in neurons triggered by local contact with astrocytes. Neuron 41:405-415.
- Hartzell HC, Fambrough DM (1973) Acetycholine receptor production and incorporation into membranes of developing muscle fibers. Dev Biol 30:153-165.
- Hata Y, Butz S, Sudhof TC (1996) CASK: a novel dlg/PSD95 homolog with an Nterminal calmodulin-dependent protein kinase domain identified by interaction with neurexins. J Neurosci 16:2488-2494.
- Henkemeyer M, Itkis OS, Ngo M, Hickmott PW, Ethell IM (2003) Multiple EphB receptor tyrosine kinases shape dendritic spines in the hippocampus. J Cell Biol 163:1313-1326.
- Henry MD, Satz JS, Brakebusch C, Costell M, Gustafsson E, Fassler R, Campbell KP (2001) Distinct roles for dystroglycan, beta1 integrin and perlecan in cell surface laminin organization. J Cell Sci 114:1137-1144.
- Hevezi P, Moyer BD, Lu M, Gao N, White E, Echeverri F, Kalabat D, Soto H, Laita B, Li C, Yeh SA, Zoller M, Zlotnik A (2009) Genome-wide analysis of gene expression in primate taste buds reveals links to diverse processes. PLoS One 4:e6395.
- Hildebrandt H, Muhlenhoff M, Gerardy-Schahn R (2010) Polysialylation of NCAM. Adv Exp Med Biol 663:95-109.
- Hines RM, Wu L, Hines DJ, Steenland H, Mansour S, Dahlhaus R, Singaraja RR, Cao X, Sammler E, Hormuzdi SG, Zhuo M, El-Husseini A (2008) Synaptic imbalance, stereotypies, and impaired social interactions in mice with altered neuroligin 2 expression. J Neurosci 28:6055-6067.

- Hirai H, Pang Z, Bao D, Miyazaki T, Li L, Miura E, Parris J, Rong Y, Watanabe M, Yuzaki M, Morgan JI (2005) Cbln1 is essential for synaptic integrity and plasticity in the cerebellum. Nat Neurosci 8:1534-1541.
- Hofmann F, Stoffel W (1993) TMbase A database of membrane spanning proteins segments. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 374:166.
- Homma S, Shimada T, Hikake T, Yaginuma H (2009) Expression pattern of LRR and Ig domain-containing protein (LRRIG protein) in the early mouse embryo. Gene Expr Patterns 9:1-26.
- Honda T, Shimizu K, Kawakatsu T, Yasumi M, Shingai T, Fukuhara A, Ozaki-Kuroda K, Irie K, Nakanishi H, Takai Y (2003) Antagonistic and agonistic effects of an extracellular fragment of nectin on formation of E-cadherin-based cell-cell adhesion. Genes Cells 8:51-63.
- Hoon M, Soykan T, Falkenburger B, Hammer M, Patrizi A, Schmidt KF, Sassoe-Pognetto M, Lowel S, Moser T, Taschenberger H, Brose N, Varoqueaux F (2011) Neuroligin-4 is localized to glycinergic postsynapses and regulates inhibition in the retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:3053-3058.
- Horai R, Asano M, Sudo K, Kanuka H, Suzuki M, Nishihara M, Takahashi M, Iwakura Y (1998) Production of mice deficient in genes for interleukin (IL)-1alpha, IL-1beta, IL-1alpha/beta, and IL-1 receptor antagonist shows that IL-1beta is crucial in turpentine-induced fever development and glucocorticoid secretion. The Journal of experimental medicine 187:1463-1475.
- Hruska M, Dalva MB (2012) Ephrin regulation of synapse formation, function and plasticity. Mol Cell Neurosci.
- Hu R, Cai WQ, Wu XG, Yang Z (2007) Astrocyte-derived estrogen enhances synapse formation and synaptic transmission between cultured neonatal rat cortical neurons. Neuroscience 144:1229-1240.
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya O, Ervasti JM, Leveille CJ, Slaughter CA, Sernett SW, Campbell KP (1992) Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. Nature 355:696-702.
- Ichtchenko K, Nguyen T, Sudhof TC (1996) Structures, alternative splicing, and neurexin binding of multiple neuroligins. J Biol Chem 271:2676-2682.
- Ichtchenko K, Hata Y, Nguyen T, Ullrich B, Missler M, Moomaw C, Sudhof TC (1995) Neuroligin 1: a splice site-specific ligand for beta-neurexins. Cell 81:435-443.
- Ichtchenko K, Bittner MA, Krasnoperov V, Little AR, Chepurny O, Holz RW, Petrenko AG (1999) A novel ubiquitously expressed alpha-latrotoxin receptor is a member of the CIRL family of G-protein-coupled receptors. J Biol Chem 274:5491-5498.
- Irie M, Hata Y, Takeuchi M, Ichtchenko K, Toyoda A, Hirao K, Takai Y, Rosahl TW, Sudhof TC (1997) Binding of neuroligins to PSD-95. Science 277:1511-1515.
- Izumi Y, Hirata M, Hasuwa H, Iwamoto R, Umata T, Miyado K, Tamai Y, Kurisaki T, Sehara-Fujisawa A, Ohno S, Mekada E (1998) A metalloprotease-disintegrin, MDC9/meltrin-gamma/ADAM9 and PKCdelta are involved in TPA-induced ectodomain shedding of membrane-anchored heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor. EMBO J 17:7260-7272.
- Jamain S, Quach H, Betancur C, Rastam M, Colineaux C, Gillberg IC, Soderstrom H, Giros B, Leboyer M, Gillberg C, Bourgeron T (2003) Mutations of the X-linked

genes encoding neuroligins NLGN3 and NLGN4 are associated with autism. Nat Genet 34:27-29.

- Jaworski A, Burden SJ (2006) Neuromuscular synapse formation in mice lacking motor neuron- and skeletal muscle-derived Neuregulin-1. J Neurosci 26:655-661.
- Jin J, Smith FD, Stark C, Wells CD, Fawcett JP, Kulkarni S, Metalnikov P, O'Donnell P, Taylor P, Taylor L, Zougman A, Woodgett JR, Langeberg LK, Scott JD, Pawson T (2004) Proteomic, functional, and domain-based analysis of in vivo 14-3-3 binding proteins involved in cytoskeletal regulation and cellular organization. Curr Biol 14:1436-1450.
- Jin R, Zheng RY, Huang WW, Xu HQ, Shao B, Chen H, Feng L (2005) Epidemiological survey of Tourette syndrome in children and adolescents in Wenzhou of P.R. China. Eur J Epidemiol 20:925-927.
- Jones EV, Bernardinelli Y, Tse YC, Chierzi S, Wong TP, Murai KK (2011) Astrocytes control glutamate receptor levels at developing synapses through SPARC-betaintegrin interactions. J Neurosci 31:4154-4165.
- Jontes JD, Emond MR, Smith SJ (2004) In vivo trafficking and targeting of N-cadherin to nascent presynaptic terminals. J Neurosci 24:9027-9034.
- Joseph DR, Baker ME (1992) Sex hormone-binding globulin, androgen-binding protein, and vitamin K-dependent protein S are homologous to laminin A, merosin, and Drosophila crumbs protein. FASEB J 6:2477-2481.
- Junghans D, Haas IG, Kemler R (2005) Mammalian cadherins and protocadherins: about cell death, synapses and processing. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:446-452.
- Jungling K, Eulenburg V, Moore R, Kemler R, Lessmann V, Gottmann K (2006) Ncadherin transsynaptically regulates short-term plasticity at glutamatergic synapses in embryonic stem cell-derived neurons. J Neurosci 26:6968-6978.
- Kaba H, Nakanishi S (1995) Synaptic mechanisms of olfactory recognition memory. Rev Neurosci 6:125-141.
- Kabara JJ (1973) Brain cholesterol. XVI. Incorporation of different precursors into baboon tissue sterol. Lipids 8:56-60.
- Kadowaki M, Nakamura S, Machon O, Krauss S, Radice GL, Takeichi M (2007) Ncadherin mediates cortical organization in the mouse brain. Dev Biol 304:22-33.
- Kaech S, Banker G (2006) Culturing hippocampal neurons. Nat Protoc 1:2406-2415.
- Kajiwara Y, Buxbaum JD, Grice DE (2009) SLITRK1 binds 14-3-3 and regulates neurite outgrowth in a phosphorylation-dependent manner. Biol Psychiatry 66:918-925.
- Kakunaga S, Ikeda W, Itoh S, Deguchi-Tawarada M, Ohtsuka T, Mizoguchi A, Takai Y (2005) Nectin-like molecule-1/TSLL1/SynCAM3: a neural tissue-specific immunoglobulin-like cell-cell adhesion molecule localizing at non-junctional contact sites of presynaptic nerve terminals, axons and glia cell processes. J Cell Sci 118:1267-1277.
- Kang Y, Zhang X, Dobie F, Wu H, Craig AM (2008) Induction of GABAergic postsynaptic differentiation by alpha-neurexins. J Biol Chem 283:2323-2334.
- Karaulanov EE, Bottcher RT, Niehrs C (2006) A role for fibronectin-leucine-rich transmembrane cell-surface proteins in homotypic cell adhesion. EMBO Rep 7:283-290.
- Kashiwabuchi N, Ikeda K, Araki K, Hirano T, Shibuki K, Takayama C, Inoue Y, Kutsuwada T, Yagi T, Kang Y, et al. (1995) Impairment of motor coordination,

Purkinje cell synapse formation, and cerebellar long-term depression in GluR delta 2 mutant mice. Cell 81:245-252.

- Katayama K, Yamada K, Ornthanalai VG, Inoue T, Ota M, Murphy NP, Aruga J (2008) Slitrk1-deficient mice display elevated anxiety-like behavior and noradrenergic abnormalities. Mol Psychiatry 15:177-184.
- Katayama K, Zine A, Ota M, Matsumoto Y, Inoue T, Fritzsch B, Aruga J (2009) Disorganized innervation and neuronal loss in the inner ear of Slitrk6-deficient mice. PLoS One 4:e7786.
- Kattenstroth G, Tantalaki E, Sudhof TC, Gottmann K, Missler M (2004) Postsynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function requires alpha-neurexins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2607-2612.
- Kaufman M (1992) The Atlas of Mouse Development. London: Academic Press.
- Kaufmann N, DeProto J, Ranjan R, Wan H, Van Vactor D (2002) Drosophila liprinalpha and the receptor phosphatase Dlar control synapse morphogenesis. Neuron 34:27-38.
- Kayser MS, Nolt MJ, Dalva MB (2008) EphB receptors couple dendritic filopodia motility to synapse formation. Neuron 59:56-69.
- Kayser MS, McClelland AC, Hughes EG, Dalva MB (2006) Intracellular and transsynaptic regulation of glutamatergic synaptogenesis by EphB receptors. J Neurosci 26:12152-12164.
- Keen-Kim D, Mathews CA, Reus VI, Lowe TL, Herrera LD, Budman CL, Gross-Tsur
 V, Pulver AE, Bruun RD, Erenberg G, Naarden A, Sabatti C, Freimer NB (2006)
 Overrepresentation of rare variants in a specific ethnic group may confuse interpretation of association analyses. Hum Mol Genet 15:3324-3328.
- Kempermann G (2002) Why new neurons? Possible functions for adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Neurosci 22:635-638.
- Kent CB, Shimada T, Ferraro GB, Ritter B, Yam PT, McPherson PS, Charron F, Kennedy TE, Fournier AE (2010) 14-3-3 proteins regulate protein kinase a activity to modulate growth cone turning responses. J Neurosci 30:14059-14067.
- Khalifa N, von Knorring AL (2003) Prevalence of tic disorders and Tourette syndrome in a Swedish school population. Dev Med Child Neurol 45:315-319.
- Kim HG et al. (2008a) Disruption of neurexin 1 associated with autism spectrum disorder. Am J Hum Genet 82:199-207.
- Kim N, Stiegler AL, Cameron TO, Hallock PT, Gomez AM, Huang JH, Hubbard SR, Dustin ML, Burden SJ (2008b) Lrp4 is a receptor for Agrin and forms a complex with MuSK. Cell 135:334-342.
- Kim S, Burette A, Chung HS, Kwon SK, Woo J, Lee HW, Kim K, Kim H, Weinberg RJ, Kim E (2006) NGL family PSD-95-interacting adhesion molecules regulate excitatory synapse formation. Nat Neurosci 9:1294-1301.
- Kirov G, Grozeva D, Norton N, Ivanov D, Mantripragada KK, Holmans P, Craddock N, Owen MJ, O'Donovan MC (2009) Support for the involvement of large copy number variants in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 18:1497-1503.
- Kirov G, Gumus D, Chen W, Norton N, Georgieva L, Sari M, O'Donovan MC, Erdogan F, Owen MJ, Ropers HH, Ullmann R (2008) Comparative genome

hybridization suggests a role for NRXN1 and APBA2 in schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 17:458-465.

- Kiselyov VV, Skladchikova G, Hinsby AM, Jensen PH, Kulahin N, Soroka V, Pedersen N, Tsetlin V, Poulsen FM, Berezin V, Bock E (2003) Structural basis for a direct interaction between FGFR1 and NCAM and evidence for a regulatory role of ATP. Structure 11:691-701.
- Ko J, Kim E (2007) Leucine-rich repeat proteins of synapses. J Neurosci Res 85:2824-2832.
- Ko J, Fuccillo MV, Malenka RC, Sudhof TC (2009) LRRTM2 functions as a neurexin ligand in promoting excitatory synapse formation. Neuron 64:791-798.
- Ko J, Soler-Llavina GJ, Fuccillo MV, Malenka RC, Sudhof TC (2011) Neuroligins/LRRTMs prevent activity- and Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent synapse elimination in cultured neurons. J Cell Biol 194:323-334.
- Ko J, Kim S, Chung HS, Kim K, Han K, Kim H, Jun H, Kaang BK, Kim E (2006) SALM synaptic cell adhesion-like molecules regulate the differentiation of excitatory synapses. Neuron 50:233-245.
- Kobe B, Deisenhofer J (1993) Crystal structure of porcine ribonuclease inhibitor, a protein with leucine-rich repeats. Nature 366:751-756.
- Kobe B, Deisenhofer J (1995) A structural basis of the interactions between leucine-rich repeats and protein ligands. Nature 374:183-186.
- Kobe B, Kajava AV (2001) The leucine-rich repeat as a protein recognition motif. Current opinion in structural biology 11:725-732.
- Koehnke J, Jin X, Trbovic N, Katsamba PS, Brasch J, Ahlsen G, Scheiffele P, Honig B, Palmer AG, 3rd, Shapiro L (2008) Crystal structures of beta-neurexin 1 and betaneurexin 2 ectodomains and dynamics of splice insertion sequence 4. Structure 16:410-421.
- Kölliker R (1863) Handbuch der Gewebelehre des Menschen für Aertze und Studirende, Fourth Edition. Leipzig: Engelmann.
- Komuro H, Yacubova E (2003) Recent advances in cerebellar granule cell migration. Cell Mol Life Sci 60:1084-1098.
- Kondo I, Mori Y, Kuwajima K (1991) Weaver syndrome in two Japanese children. Am J Med Genet 41:221-224.
- Krasnoperov VG, Bittner MA, Beavis R, Kuang Y, Salnikow KV, Chepurny OG, Little AR, Plotnikov AN, Wu D, Holz RW, Petrenko AG (1997) alpha-Latrotoxin stimulates exocytosis by the interaction with a neuronal G-protein-coupled receptor. Neuron 18:925-937.
- Kraszewski K, Mundigl O, Daniell L, Verderio C, Matteoli M, De Camilli P (1995) Synaptic vesicle dynamics in living cultured hippocampal neurons visualized with CY3-conjugated antibodies directed against the lumenal domain of synaptotagmin. J Neurosci 15:4328-4342.
- Kretz O, Fester L, Wehrenberg U, Zhou L, Brauckmann S, Zhao S, Prange-Kiel J, Naumann T, Jarry H, Frotscher M, Rune GM (2004) Hippocampal synapses depend on hippocampal estrogen synthesis. J Neurosci 24:5913-5921.
- Krylova O, Herreros J, Cleverley KE, Ehler E, Henriquez JP, Hughes SM, Salinas PC (2002) WNT-3, expressed by motoneurons, regulates terminal arborization of neurotrophin-3-responsive spinal sensory neurons. Neuron 35:1043-1056.

- Kucukdereli H, Allen NJ, Lee AT, Feng A, Ozlu MI, Conatser LM, Chakraborty C, Workman G, Weaver M, Sage EH, Barres BA, Eroglu C (2011) Control of excitatory CNS synaptogenesis by astrocyte-secreted proteins Hevin and SPARC. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:E440-449.
- Kuja-Panula J, Kiiltomaki M, Yamashiro T, Rouhiainen A, Rauvala H (2003) AMIGO, a transmembrane protein implicated in axon tract development, defines a novel protein family with leucine-rich repeats. J Cell Biol 160:963-973.
- Kummer TT, Misgeld T, Lichtman JW, Sanes JR (2004) Nerve-independent formation of a topologically complex postsynaptic apparatus. J Cell Biol 164:1077-1087.
- Kurihara H, Hashimoto K, Kano M, Takayama C, Sakimura K, Mishina M, Inoue Y, Watanabe M (1997) Impaired parallel fiber-->Purkinje cell synapse stabilization during cerebellar development of mutant mice lacking the glutamate receptor delta2 subunit. J Neurosci 17:9613-9623.
- Kwon SK, Woo J, Kim SY, Kim H, Kim E (2010) Trans-synaptic adhesions between netrin-G ligand-3 (NGL-3) and receptor tyrosine phosphatases LAR, proteintyrosine phosphatase delta (PTPdelta), and PTPsigma via specific domains regulate excitatory synapse formation. J Biol Chem 285:13966-13978.
- Lacy SE, Bonnemann CG, Buzney EA, Kunkel LM (1999) Identification of FLRT1, FLRT2, and FLRT3: a novel family of transmembrane leucine-rich repeat proteins. Genomics 62:417-426.
- Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Meyer J, Borkhardt A, Tuschl T (2003) New microRNAs from mouse and human. RNA 9:175-179.
- Lai KO, Ip NY (2009) Synapse development and plasticity: roles of ephrin/Eph receptor signaling. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19:275-283.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, Valentin F, Wallace IM, Wilm A, Lopez R, Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Higgins DG (2007) Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. Bioinformatics 23:2947-2948.
- Lauren J, Airaksinen MS, Saarma M, Timmusk T (2003) A novel gene family encoding leucine-rich repeat transmembrane proteins differentially expressed in the nervous system. Genomics 81:411-421.
- Lazarov NE (2002) Comparative analysis of the chemical neuroanatomy of the mammalian trigeminal ganglion and mesencephalic trigeminal nucleus. Prog Neurobiol 66:19-59.
- Lee H, Dean C, Isacoff E (2010) Alternative splicing of neuroligin regulates the rate of presynaptic differentiation. J Neurosci 30:11435-11446.
- Lee KF, Simon H, Chen H, Bates B, Hung MC, Hauser C (1995) Requirement for neuregulin receptor erbB2 in neural and cardiac development. Nature 378:394-398.
- Lee SJ, Uemura T, Yoshida T, Mishina M (2012) GluRdelta2 assembles four neurexins into trans-synaptic triad to trigger synapse formation. J Neurosci 32:4688-4701.
- Lelianova VG, Davletov BA, Sterling A, Rahman MA, Grishin EV, Totty NF, Ushkaryov YA (1997) Alpha-latrotoxin receptor, latrophilin, is a novel member of the secretin family of G protein-coupled receptors. J Biol Chem 272:21504-21508.

- Leone DP, Srinivasan K, Chen B, Alcamo E, McConnell SK (2008) The determination of projection neuron identity in the developing cerebral cortex. Curr Opin Neurobiol 18:28-35.
- Levi S, Grady RM, Henry MD, Campbell KP, Sanes JR, Craig AM (2002) Dystroglycan is selectively associated with inhibitory GABAergic synapses but is dispensable for their differentiation. J Neurosci 22:4274-4285.
- Lin JC, Ho WH, Gurney A, Rosenthal A (2003) The netrin-G1 ligand NGL-1 promotes the outgrowth of thalamocortical axons. Nat Neurosci 6:1270-1276.
- Linhoff MW, Lauren J, Cassidy RM, Dobie FA, Takahashi H, Nygaard HB, Airaksinen MS, Strittmatter SM, Craig AM (2009) An unbiased expression screen for synaptogenic proteins identifies the LRRTM protein family as synaptic organizers. Neuron 61:734-749.
- Liu P, Wakamiya M, Shea MJ, Albrecht U, Behringer RR, Bradley A (1999) Requirement for Wnt3 in vertebrate axis formation. Nat Genet 22:361-365.
- Loat CS, Haworth CM, Plomin R, Craig IW (2008) A model incorporating potential skewed X-inactivation in MZ girls suggests that X-linked QTLs exist for several social behaviours including autism spectrum disorder. Ann Hum Genet 72:742-751.
- Lohmann C, Wong RO (2001) Cell-type specific dendritic contacts between retinal ganglion cells during development. J Neurobiol 48:150-162.
- Lopez-Munoz F, Alamo C (2009) Historical evolution of the neurotransmission concept. J Neural Transm 116:515-533.
- Lucas FR, Salinas PC (1997) WNT-7a induces axonal remodeling and increases synapsin I levels in cerebellar neurons. Dev Biol 192:31-44.
- Mah W, Ko J, Nam J, Han K, Chung WS, Kim E (2010) Selected SALM (synaptic adhesion-like molecule) family proteins regulate synapse formation. J Neurosci 30:5559-5568.
- Major RH (1961) GALEN as a neurologist. World Neurol 2:372-380.
- Mandolesi G, Autuori E, Cesa R, Premoselli F, Cesare P, Strata P (2009) GluRdelta2 expression in the mature cerebellum of hotfoot mice promotes parallel fiber synaptogenesis and axonal competition. PLoS One 4:e5243.
- Marco EJ, Skuse DH (2006) Autism-lessons from the X chromosome. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 1:183-193.
- Marques MJ, Conchello JA, Lichtman JW (2000) From plaque to pretzel: fold formation and acetylcholine receptor loss at the developing neuromuscular junction. J Neurosci 20:3663-3675.
- Marteyn A, Maury Y, Gauthier MM, Lecuyer C, Vernet R, Denis JA, Pietu G, Peschanski M, Martinat C (2011) Mutant human embryonic stem cells reveal neurite and synapse formation defects in type 1 myotonic dystrophy. Cell stem cell 8:434-444.
- Mataix-Cols D, Rauch SL, Manzo PA, Jenike MA, Baer L (1999) Use of factor-analyzed symptom dimensions to predict outcome with serotonin reuptake inhibitors and placebo in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 156:1409-1416.
- Matsuda K, Miura E, Miyazaki T, Kakegawa W, Emi K, Narumi S, Fukazawa Y, Ito-Ishida A, Kondo T, Shigemoto R, Watanabe M, Yuzaki M (2010) Cbln1 is a

ligand for an orphan glutamate receptor delta2, a bidirectional synapse organizer. Science 328:363-368.

- Matsumoto Y, Katayama K, Okamoto T, Yamada K, Takashima N, Nagao S, Aruga J (2011) Impaired auditory-vestibular functions and behavioral abnormalities of Slitrk6-deficient mice. PLoS One 6:e16497.
- Matsushima N, Tachi N, Kuroki Y, Enkhbayar P, Osaki M, Kamiya M, Kretsinger RH (2005) Structural analysis of leucine-rich-repeat variants in proteins associated with human diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 62:2771-2791.
- Mauch DH, Nagler K, Schumacher S, Goritz C, Muller EC, Otto A, Pfrieger FW (2001) CNS synaptogenesis promoted by glia-derived cholesterol. Science 294:1354-1357.
- McMahan UJ (1990) The agrin hypothesis. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 55:407-418.
- Menzies L, Chamberlain SR, Laird AR, Thelen SM, Sahakian BJ, Bullmore ET (2008) Integrating evidence from neuroimaging and neuropsychological studies of obsessive-compulsive disorder: the orbitofronto-striatal model revisited. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32:525-549.
- Meyer D, Birchmeier C (1995) Multiple essential functions of neuregulin in development. Nature 378:386-390.
- Milde T, Shmelkov SV, Jensen KK, Zlotchenko G, Petit I, Rafii S (2007) A novel family of slitrk genes is expressed on hematopoietic stem cells and leukemias. Leukemia 21:824-827.
- Miranda DM, Wigg K, Kabia EM, Feng Y, Sandor P, Barr CL (2008) Association of SLITRK1 to Gilles de la Tourette Syndrome. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet.
- Miska EA, Alvarez-Saavedra E, Townsend M, Yoshii A, Sestan N, Rakic P, Constantine-Paton M, Horvitz HR (2004) Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in the developing mammalian brain. Genome Biol 5:R68.
- Missler M, Sudhof TC (1998a) Neurexophilins form a conserved family of neuropeptidelike glycoproteins. J Neurosci 18:3630-3638.
- Missler M, Sudhof TC (1998b) Neurexins: three genes and 1001 products. Trends Genet 14:20-26.
- Missler M, Sudhof TC, Biederer T (2012) Synaptic Cell Adhesion. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.
- Missler M, Zhang W, Rohlmann A, Kattenstroth G, Hammer RE, Gottmann K, Sudhof TC (2003) Alpha-neurexins couple Ca2+ channels to synaptic vesicle exocytosis. Nature 423:939-948.
- Miura E, Iijima T, Yuzaki M, Watanabe M (2006) Distinct expression of Cbln family mRNAs in developing and adult mouse brains. Eur J Neurosci 24:750-760.
- Miura E, Matsuda K, Morgan JI, Yuzaki M, Watanabe M (2009) Cbln1 accumulates and colocalizes with Cbln3 and GluRdelta2 at parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapses in the mouse cerebellum. Eur J Neurosci 29:693-706.
- Miyahara M, Nakanishi H, Takahashi K, Satoh-Horikawa K, Tachibana K, Takai Y (2000) Interaction of nectin with afadin is necessary for its clustering at cell-cell contact sites but not for its cis dimerization or trans interaction. J Biol Chem 275:613-618.

- Mizoguchi A, Nakanishi H, Kimura K, Matsubara K, Ozaki-Kuroda K, Katata T, Honda T, Kiyohara Y, Heo K, Higashi M, Tsutsumi T, Sonoda S, Ide C, Takai Y (2002) Nectin: an adhesion molecule involved in formation of synapses. J Cell Biol 156:555-565.
- Moessner R, Marshall CR, Sutcliffe JS, Skaug J, Pinto D, Vincent J, Zwaigenbaum L, Fernandez B, Roberts W, Szatmari P, Scherer SW (2007) Contribution of SHANK3 mutations to autism spectrum disorder. Am J Hum Genet 81:1289-1297.
- Molyneaux BJ, Arlotta P, Menezes JR, Macklis JD (2007) Neuronal subtype specification in the cerebral cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:427-437.
- Moore SA, Saito F, Chen J, Michele DE, Henry MD, Messing A, Cohn RD, Ross-Barta SE, Westra S, Williamson RA, Hoshi T, Campbell KP (2002) Deletion of brain dystroglycan recapitulates aspects of congenital muscular dystrophy. Nature 418:422-425.
- Morimura N, Inoue T, Katayama K, Aruga J (2006) Comparative analysis of structure, expression and PSD95-binding capacity of Lrfn, a novel family of neuronal transmembrane proteins. Gene 380:72-83.
- Morrow EM et al. (2008) Identifying autism loci and genes by tracing recent shared ancestry. Science 321:218-223.
- Muller D, Mendez P, Deroo M, Klauser P, Steen S, Poglia L (2010) Role of NCAM in spine dynamics and synaptogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol 663:245-256.
- Munno DW, Syed NI (2003) Synaptogenesis in the CNS: an odyssey from wiring together to firing together. J Physiol 552:1-11.
- Murai KK, Nguyen LN, Irie F, Yamaguchi Y, Pasquale EB (2003) Control of hippocampal dendritic spine morphology through ephrin-A3/EphA4 signaling. Nat Neurosci 6:153-160.
- Muslin AJ, Xing H (2000) 14-3-3 proteins: regulation of subcellular localization by molecular interference. Cell Signal 12:703-709.
- Nagler K, Mauch DH, Pfrieger FW (2001) Glia-derived signals induce synapse formation in neurones of the rat central nervous system. J Physiol 533:665-679.
- Nakashiba T, Ikeda T, Nishimura S, Tashiro K, Honjo T, Culotti JG, Itohara S (2000) Netrin-G1: a novel glycosyl phosphatidylinositol-linked mammalian netrin that is functionally divergent from classical netrins. J Neurosci 20:6540-6550.
- Nam CI, Chen L (2005) Postsynaptic assembly induced by neurexin-neuroligin interaction and neurotransmitter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:6137-6142.
- Need AC et al. (2009) A genome-wide investigation of SNPs and CNVs in schizophrenia. PLoS Genet 5:e1000373.
- Ng AC, Eisenberg JM, Heath RJ, Huett A, Robinson CM, Nau GJ, Xavier RJ (2011) Human leucine-rich repeat proteins: a genome-wide bioinformatic categorization and functional analysis in innate immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 Suppl 1:4631-4638.
- Ngo ST, Cole RN, Sunn N, Phillips WD, Noakes PG (2012) Neuregulin-1 Potentiates Agrin-Induced Acetylcholine Receptor Clustering via Muscle Specific Kinase Phosphorylation. J Cell Sci.
- Nguyen-Ba-Charvet KT, Chedotal A (2002) Role of Slit proteins in the vertebrate brain. J Physiol Paris 96:91-98.

- Nguyen T, Sudhof TC (1997) Binding properties of neuroligin 1 and neurexin 1beta reveal function as heterophilic cell adhesion molecules. J Biol Chem 272:26032-26039.
- Nishimura-Akiyoshi S, Niimi K, Nakashiba T, Itohara S (2007) Axonal netrin-Gs transneuronally determine lamina-specific subdendritic segments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:14801-14806.
- Nishimura K, Yoshihara F, Tojima T, Ooashi N, Yoon W, Mikoshiba K, Bennett V, Kamiguchi H (2003) L1-dependent neuritogenesis involves ankyrinB that mediates L1-CAM coupling with retrograde actin flow. J Cell Biol 163:1077-1088.
- Nollet F, Kools P, van Roy F (2000) Phylogenetic analysis of the cadherin superfamily allows identification of six major subfamilies besides several solitary members. J Mol Biol 299:551-572.
- Novak CE, Keuthen NJ, Stewart SE, Pauls DL (2009) A twin concordance study of trichotillomania. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 150B:944-949.
- O'Brien R, Xu D, Mi R, Tang X, Hopf C, Worley P (2002) Synaptically targeted narp plays an essential role in the aggregation of AMPA receptors at excitatory synapses in cultured spinal neurons. J Neurosci 22:4487-4498.
- O'Brien RJ, Xu D, Petralia RS, Steward O, Huganir RL, Worley P (1999) Synaptic clustering of AMPA receptors by the extracellular immediate-early gene product Narp. Neuron 23:309-323.
- O'Sullivan ML, de Wit J, Savas JN, Comoletti D, Otto-Hitt S, Yates JR, 3rd, Ghosh A (2012) FLRT proteins are endogenous latrophilin ligands and regulate excitatory synapse development. Neuron 73:903-910.
- Obermeier A, Halfter H, Wiesmuller KH, Jung G, Schlessinger J, Ullrich A (1993) Tyrosine 785 is a major determinant of Trk--substrate interaction. EMBO J 12:933-941.
- Obst-Pernberg K, Redies C (1999) Cadherins and synaptic specificity. J Neurosci Res 58:130-138.
- Ohtsuki T, Horiuchi Y, Koga M, Ishiguro H, Inada T, Iwata N, Ozaki N, Ujike H, Watanabe Y, Someya T, Arinami T (2008) Association of polymorphisms in the haplotype block spanning the alternatively spliced exons of the NTNG1 gene at 1p13.3 with schizophrenia in Japanese populations. Neurosci Lett 435:194-197.
- Ono K, Tomasiewicz H, Magnuson T, Rutishauser U (1994) N-CAM mutation inhibits tangential neuronal migration and is phenocopied by enzymatic removal of polysialic acid. Neuron 13:595-609.
- Ornitz DM, Itoh N (2001) Fibroblast growth factors. Genome Biol 2:REVIEWS3005.
- Pagnamenta AT, Khan H, Walker S, Gerrelli D, Wing K, Bonaglia MC, Giorda R, Berney T, Mani E, Molteni M, Pinto D, Le Couteur A, Hallmayer J, Sutcliffe JS, Szatmari P, Paterson AD, Scherer SW, Vieland VJ, Monaco AP (2011) Rare familial 16q21 microdeletions under a linkage peak implicate cadherin 8 (CDH8) in susceptibility to autism and learning disability. J Med Genet 48:48-54.
- Pauls DL (2003) An update on the genetics of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. J Psychosom Res 55:7-12.
- Pauls DL, Cohen DJ, Heimbuch R, Detlor J, Kidd KK (1981) Familial pattern and transmission of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome and multiple tics. Arch Gen Psychiatry 38:1091-1093.

- Pavlowsky A, Gianfelice A, Pallotto M, Zanchi A, Vara H, Khelfaoui M, Valnegri P, Rezai X, Bassani S, Brambilla D, Kumpost J, Blahos J, Roux MJ, Humeau Y, Chelly J, Passafaro M, Giustetto M, Billuart P, Sala C (2010) A postsynaptic signaling pathway that may account for the cognitive defect due to IL1RAPL1 mutation. Curr Biol 20:103-115.
- Peca J, Feliciano C, Ting JT, Wang W, Wells MF, Venkatraman TN, Lascola CD, Fu Z, Feng G (2011) Shank3 mutant mice display autistic-like behaviours and striatal dysfunction. Nature 472:437-442.
- Pellow S, Chopin P, File SE, Briley M (1985) Validation of open:closed arm entries in an elevated plus-maze as a measure of anxiety in the rat. J Neurosci Methods 14:149-167.
- Peng J, Kim MJ, Cheng D, Duong DM, Gygi SP, Sheng M (2004) Semiquantitative proteomic analysis of rat forebrain postsynaptic density fractions by mass spectrometry. J Biol Chem 279:21003-21011.
- Perez P, Coll PM, Hempstead BL, Martin-Zanca D, Chao MV (1995) NGF binding to the trk tyrosine kinase receptor requires the extracellular immunoglobulin-like domains. Mol Cell Neurosci 6:97-105.
- Petrenko AG, Ullrich B, Missler M, Krasnoperov V, Rosahl TW, Sudhof TC (1996) Structure and evolution of neurexophilin. J Neurosci 16:4360-4369.
- Petrenko AG, Lazaryeva VD, Geppert M, Tarasyuk TA, Moomaw C, Khokhlatchev AV, Ushkaryov YA, Slaughter C, Nasimov IV, Sudhof TC (1993) Polypeptide composition of the alpha-latrotoxin receptor. High affinity binding protein consists of a family of related high molecular weight polypeptides complexed to a low molecular weight protein. J Biol Chem 268:1860-1867.
- Pfrieger FW, Barres BA (1996) New views on synapse-glia interactions. Curr Opin Neurobiol 6:615-621.
- Phillips GR, Tanaka H, Frank M, Elste A, Fidler L, Benson DL, Colman DR (2003) Gamma-protocadherins are targeted to subsets of synapses and intracellular organelles in neurons. J Neurosci 23:5096-5104.
- Phillips GR, Huang JK, Wang Y, Tanaka H, Shapiro L, Zhang W, Shan WS, Arndt K, Frank M, Gordon RE, Gawinowicz MA, Zhao Y, Colman DR (2001) The presynaptic particle web: ultrastructure, composition, dissolution, and reconstitution. Neuron 32:63-77.
- Pisani A, Bernardi G, Ding J, Surmeier DJ (2007) Re-emergence of striatal cholinergic interneurons in movement disorders. Trends Neurosci 30:545-553.
- Piton A et al. (2010a) Systematic resequencing of X-chromosome synaptic genes in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry.
- Piton A et al. (2010b) Systematic resequencing of X-chromosome synaptic genes in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 16:867-880.
- Piton A et al. (2011) Systematic resequencing of X-chromosome synaptic genes in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 16:867-880.
- Pletcher MT, Nobukuni T, Fukuhara H, Kuramochi M, Maruyama T, Sekiya T, Sussan T, Isomura M, Murakami Y, Reeves RH (2001) Identification of tumor suppressor candidate genes by physical and sequence mapping of the TSLC1 region of human chromosome 11q23. Gene 273:181-189.
- Poulopoulos A, Aramuni G, Meyer G, Soykan T, Hoon M, Papadopoulos T, Zhang M, Paarmann I, Fuchs C, Harvey K, Jedlicka P, Schwarzacher SW, Betz H, Harvey RJ, Brose N, Zhang W, Varoqueaux F (2009) Neuroligin 2 drives postsynaptic assembly at perisomatic inhibitory synapses through gephyrin and collybistin. Neuron 63:628-642.
- Prange O, Wong TP, Gerrow K, Wang YT, El-Husseini A (2004) A balance between excitatory and inhibitory synapses is controlled by PSD-95 and neuroligin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:13915-13920.
- Pregelj P (2011) Gene environment interactions in bipolar disorder. Psychiatr Danub 23 Suppl 1:S91-93.
- Pulido R, Serra-Pages C, Tang M, Streuli M (1995) The LAR/PTP delta/PTP sigma subfamily of transmembrane protein-tyrosine-phosphatases: multiple human LAR, PTP delta, and PTP sigma isoforms are expressed in a tissue-specific manner and associate with the LAR-interacting protein LIP.1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11686-11690.
- Ratner N, Mahler H (1983) Isolation of postsynaptic densities retaining their membrane attachment. Neuroscience 9:631-644.
- Reber M, Hindges R, Lemke G (2007) Eph receptors and ephrin ligands in axon guidance. Adv Exp Med Biol 621:32-49.
- Redies C (2000) Cadherins in the central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 61:611-648.
- Redies C, Vanhalst K, Roy F (2005) delta-Protocadherins: unique structures and functions. Cell Mol Life Sci 62:2840-2852.
- Reissner C, Klose M, Fairless R, Missler M (2008) Mutational analysis of the neurexin/neuroligin complex reveals essential and regulatory components. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:15124-15129.
- Reymond N, Fabre S, Lecocq E, Adelaide J, Dubreuil P, Lopez M (2001) Nectin4/PRR4, a new afadin-associated member of the nectin family that transinteracts with nectin1/PRR1 through V domain interaction. J Biol Chem 276:43205-43215.
- Rice J, Reich T, Andreasen NC, Endicott J, Van Eerdewegh M, Fishman R, Hirschfeld RM, Klerman GL (1987) The familial transmission of bipolar illness. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:441-447.
- Riedel G, Micheau J (2001) Function of the hippocampus in memory formation: desperately seeking resolution. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 25:835-853.
- Risold P (2004) The septal region. In: The rat nervous system (Paxinos G, ed), pp 605-632. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Robbins EM, Krupp AJ, Perez de Arce K, Ghosh AK, Fogel AI, Boucard A, Sudhof TC, Stein V, Biederer T (2010) SynCAM 1 adhesion dynamically regulates synapse number and impacts plasticity and learning. Neuron 68:894-906.
- Robinson M, Parsons Perez MC, Tebar L, Palmer J, Patel A, Marks D, Sheasby A, De Felipe C, Coffin R, Livesey FJ, Hunt SP (2004) FLRT3 is expressed in sensory neurons after peripheral nerve injury and regulates neurite outgrowth. Mol Cell Neurosci 27:202-214.
- Rothwell NJ, Luheshi GN (2000) Interleukin 1 in the brain: biology, pathology and therapeutic target. Trends Neurosci 23:618-625.

- Rujescu D et al. (2009) Disruption of the neurexin 1 gene is associated with schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 18:988-996.
- Rydel RE, Greene LA (1987) Acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors promote stable neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation in cultures of PC12 cells. J Neurosci 7:3639-3653.
- Sahores M, Gibb A, Salinas PC (2010) Frizzled-5, a receptor for the synaptic organizer Wnt7a, regulates activity-mediated synaptogenesis. Development 137:2215-2225.
- Sandrock AW, Jr., Dryer SE, Rosen KM, Gozani SN, Kramer R, Theill LE, Fischbach GD (1997) Maintenance of acetylcholine receptor number by neuregulins at the neuromuscular junction in vivo. Science 276:599-603.
- Sanes JR, Jessel TM (2000) The Formation and Regeneration of Synapses. In: Principles of Neural Science, Fourth Edition, pp 1087-1114: McGraw-Hill.
- Sara Y, Biederer T, Atasoy D, Chubykin A, Mozhayeva MG, Sudhof TC, Kavalali ET (2005) Selective capability of SynCAM and neuroligin for functional synapse assembly. J Neurosci 25:260-270.
- Sasaki M, Kleinman HK, Huber H, Deutzmann R, Yamada Y (1988) Laminin, a multidomain protein. The A chain has a unique globular domain and homology with the basement membrane proteoglycan and the laminin B chains. J Biol Chem 263:16536-16544.
- Satoh-Horikawa K, Nakanishi H, Takahashi K, Miyahara M, Nishimura M, Tachibana K, Mizoguchi A, Takai Y (2000) Nectin-3, a new member of immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecules that shows homophilic and heterophilic cell-cell adhesion activities. J Biol Chem 275:10291-10299.
- Schaeren-Wiemers N, Gerfin-Moser A (1993) A single protocol to detect transcripts of various types and expression levels in neural tissue and cultured cells: in situ hybridization using digoxigenin-labelled cRNA probes. Histochemistry 100:431-440.
- Scharf JM, Moorjani P, Fagerness J, Platko JV, Illmann C, Galloway B, Jenike E, Stewart SE, Pauls DL (2008) Lack of association between SLITRK1var321 and Tourette syndrome in a large family-based sample. Neurology 70:1495-1496.
- Scheiffele P (2003) Cell-cell signaling during synapse formation in the CNS. Annu Rev Neurosci 26:485-508.
- Scheiffele P, Fan J, Choih J, Fetter R, Serafini T (2000) Neuroligin expressed in nonneuronal cells triggers presynaptic development in contacting axons. Cell 101:657-669.
- Schlicker E, Gothert M (1998) Interactions between the presynaptic alpha2-autoreceptor and presynaptic inhibitory heteroreceptors on noradrenergic neurones. Brain Res Bull 47:129-132.
- Schlimgen AK, Helms JA, Vogel H, Perin MS (1995) Neuronal pentraxin, a secreted protein with homology to acute phase proteins of the immune system. Neuron 14:519-526.
- Schmidt N, Akaaboune M, Gajendran N, Martinez-Pena YVI, Wakefield S, Thurnheer R, Brenner HR (2011) Neuregulin/ErbB regulate neuromuscular junction development by phosphorylation of alpha-dystrobrevin. J Cell Biol 195:1171-1184.

- Seabold GK, Wang PY, Chang K, Wang CY, Wang YX, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ (2008) The SALM family of adhesion-like molecules forms heteromeric and homomeric complexes. J Biol Chem 283:8395-8405.
- Shapiro L, Fannon AM, Kwong PD, Thompson A, Lehmann MS, Grubel G, Legrand JF, Als-Nielsen J, Colman DR, Hendrickson WA (1995) Structural basis of cellcell adhesion by cadherins. Nature 374:327-337.
- Sheckler LR, Henry L, Sugita S, Sudhof TC, Rudenko G (2006) Crystal structure of the second LNS/LG domain from neurexin 1alpha: Ca2+ binding and the effects of alternative splicing. J Biol Chem 281:22896-22905.
- Shen KC, Kuczynska DA, Wu IJ, Murray BH, Sheckler LR, Rudenko G (2008) Regulation of neurexin 1beta tertiary structure and ligand binding through alternative splicing. Structure 16:422-431.
- Shepherd GM, Chen WR, Willhite D, Migliore M, Greer CA (2007) The olfactory granule cell: from classical enigma to central role in olfactory processing. Brain Res Rev 55:373-382.
- Sherrington C, Foster M (1897) The Central Nervous System. In: A Text Book of Physiology, Seventh edition Edition, p 60. London: Macmillan.
- Shi L, Butt B, Ip FC, Dai Y, Jiang L, Yung WH, Greenberg ME, Fu AK, Ip NY (2010) Ephexin1 is required for structural maturation and neurotransmission at the neuromuscular junction. Neuron 65:204-216.
- Shipman SL, Schnell E, Hirai T, Chen BS, Roche KW, Nicoll RA (2011) Functional dependence of neuroligin on a new non-PDZ intracellular domain. Nat Neurosci 14:718-726.
- Shmelkov SV, Visser JW, Belyavsky AV (2001) Two-dimensional gene expression fingerprinting. Anal Biochem 290:26-35.
- Shmelkov SV, Hormigo A, Jing D, Proenca CC, Bath KG, Milde T, Shmelkov E, Kushner JS, Baljevic M, Dincheva I, Murphy AJ, Valenzuela DM, Gale NW, Yancopoulos GD, Ninan I, Lee FS, Rafii S (2010) Slitrk5 deficiency impairs corticostriatal circuitry and leads to obsessive-compulsive-like behaviors in mice. Nat Med 16:598-602, 591p following 602.
- Sia GM, Beique JC, Rumbaugh G, Cho R, Worley PF, Huganir RL (2007) Interaction of the N-terminal domain of the AMPA receptor GluR4 subunit with the neuronal pentraxin NP1 mediates GluR4 synaptic recruitment. Neuron 55:87-102.
- Siddiqui TJ, Pancaroglu R, Kang Y, Rooyakkers A, Craig AM (2010) LRRTMs and neuroligins bind neurexins with a differential code to cooperate in glutamate synapse development. J Neurosci 30:7495-7506.
- Smith EN et al. (2009) Genome-wide association study of bipolar disorder in European American and African American individuals. Mol Psychiatry 14:755-763.
- Soler-Llavina GJ, Fuccillo MV, Ko J, Sudhof TC, Malenka RC (2011) The neurexin ligands, neuroligins and leucine-rich repeat transmembrane proteins, perform convergent and divergent synaptic functions in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:16502-16509.
- Song HJ, Stevens CF, Gage FH (2002) Neural stem cells from adult hippocampus develop essential properties of functional CNS neurons. Nat Neurosci 5:438-445.

- Song JY, Ichtchenko K, Sudhof TC, Brose N (1999) Neuroligin 1 is a postsynaptic celladhesion molecule of excitatory synapses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:1100-1105.
- Song Y, Panzer JA, Wyatt RM, Balice-Gordon RJ (2006) Formation and plasticity of neuromuscular synaptic connections. Int Anesthesiol Clin 44:145-178.
- Sperry RW (1963) Chemoaffinity in the Orderly Growth of Nerve Fiber Patterns and Connections. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 50:703-710.
- Stagi M, Fogel AI, Biederer T (2010) SynCAM 1 participates in axo-dendritic contact assembly and shapes neuronal growth cones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:7568-7573.
- Stan A, Pielarski KN, Brigadski T, Wittenmayer N, Fedorchenko O, Gohla A, Lessmann V, Dresbach T, Gottmann K (2010) Essential cooperation of N-cadherin and neuroligin-1 in the transsynaptic control of vesicle accumulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:11116-11121.
- Stillman AA, Krsnik Z, Sun J, Rasin MR, State MW, Sestan N, Louvi A (2009) Developmentally regulated and evolutionarily conserved expression of SLITRK1 in brain circuits implicated in Tourette syndrome. J Comp Neurol 513:21-37.
- Strous RD, Shoenfeld Y (2006) Schizophrenia, autoimmunity and immune system dysregulation: a comprehensive model updated and revisited. Journal of autoimmunity 27:71-80.
- Sudhof TC (2008) Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. Nature 455:903-911.
- Sugita S, Ichtchenko K, Khvotchev M, Sudhof TC (1998) alpha-Latrotoxin receptor CIRL/latrophilin 1 (CL1) defines an unusual family of ubiquitous G-proteinlinked receptors. G-protein coupling not required for triggering exocytosis. J Biol Chem 273:32715-32724.
- Sugita S, Saito F, Tang J, Satz J, Campbell K, Sudhof TC (2001) A stoichiometric complex of neurexins and dystroglycan in brain. J Cell Biol 154:435-445.
- Swain JE, Scahill L, Lombroso PJ, King RA, Leckman JF (2007) Tourette syndrome and tic disorders: a decade of progress. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 46:947-968.
- Sylvie J, Ellen C, Kris V (2011) The role of Wnt in cell signaling and cell adhesion during early vertebrate development. Front Biosci 17:2352-2366.
- Sytnyk V, Leshchyns'ka I, Delling M, Dityateva G, Dityatev A, Schachner M (2002) Neural cell adhesion molecule promotes accumulation of TGN organelles at sites of neuron-to-neuron contacts. J Cell Biol 159:649-661.
- Szatmari P et al. (2007) Mapping autism risk loci using genetic linkage and chromosomal rearrangements. Nat Genet 39:319-328.
- Tabuchi K, Sudhof TC (2002) Structure and evolution of neurexin genes: insight into the mechanism of alternative splicing. Genomics 79:849-859.
- Tachibana K, Nakanishi H, Mandai K, Ozaki K, Ikeda W, Yamamoto Y, Nagafuchi A, Tsukita S, Takai Y (2000) Two cell adhesion molecules, nectin and cadherin, interact through their cytoplasmic domain-associated proteins. J Cell Biol 150:1161-1176.

- Takahashi H, Arstikaitis P, Prasad T, Bartlett TE, Wang YT, Murphy TH, Craig AM (2011) Postsynaptic TrkC and presynaptic PTPsigma function as a bidirectional excitatory synaptic organizing complex. Neuron 69:287-303.
- Takahashi H, Katayama K, Sohya K, Miyamoto H, Prasad T, Matsumoto Y, Ota M, Yasuda H, Tsumoto T, Aruga J, Craig AM (2012) Selective control of inhibitory synapse development by Slitrk3-PTPdelta trans-synaptic interaction. Nat Neurosci 15:389-398, S381-382.
- Takahashi K, Nakanishi H, Miyahara M, Mandai K, Satoh K, Satoh A, Nishioka H, Aoki J, Nomoto A, Mizoguchi A, Takai Y (1999) Nectin/PRR: an immunoglobulinlike cell adhesion molecule recruited to cadherin-based adherens junctions through interaction with Afadin, a PDZ domain-containing protein. J Cell Biol 145:539-549.
- Takasu MA, Dalva MB, Zigmond RE, Greenberg ME (2002) Modulation of NMDA receptor-dependent calcium influx and gene expression through EphB receptors. Science 295:491-495.
- Takeuchi T, Miyazaki T, Watanabe M, Mori H, Sakimura K, Mishina M (2005) Control of synaptic connection by glutamate receptor delta2 in the adult cerebellum. J Neurosci 25:2146-2156.
- Talebizadeh Z, Lam DY, Theodoro MF, Bittel DC, Lushington GH, Butler MG (2006) Novel splice isoforms for NLGN3 and NLGN4 with possible implications in autism. J Med Genet 43:e21.
- Tang J, Landmesser L, Rutishauser U (1992) Polysialic acid influences specific pathfinding by avian motoneurons. Neuron 8:1031-1044.
- Taniguchi H, Gollan L, Scholl FG, Mahadomrongkul V, Dobler E, Limthong N, Peck M, Aoki C, Scheiffele P (2007) Silencing of neuroligin function by postsynaptic neurexins. J Neurosci 27:2815-2824.
- Terauchi A, Johnson-Venkatesh EM, Toth AB, Javed D, Sutton MA, Umemori H (2010) Distinct FGFs promote differentiation of excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Nature 465:783-787.
- Thomas LA, Akins MR, Biederer T (2008) Expression and adhesion profiles of SynCAM molecules indicate distinct neuronal functions. J Comp Neurol 510:47-67.
- Togashi H, Abe K, Mizoguchi A, Takaoka K, Chisaka O, Takeichi M (2002) Cadherin regulates dendritic spine morphogenesis. Neuron 35:77-89.
- Togashi H, Miyoshi J, Honda T, Sakisaka T, Takai Y, Takeichi M (2006) Interneurite affinity is regulated by heterophilic nectin interactions in concert with the cadherin machinery. J Cell Biol 174:141-151.
- Treit D, Menard J, Royan C (1993) Anxiogenic stimuli in the elevated plus-maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 44:463-469.
- TSAICG (2007) Genome scan for Tourette disorder in affected-sibling-pair and multigenerational families. Am J Hum Genet 80:265-272.
- Tsui CC, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins NA, Barnes C, Worley PF (1996) Narp, a novel member of the pentraxin family, promotes neurite outgrowth and is dynamically regulated by neuronal activity. J Neurosci 16:2463-2478.
- Turk J (2011) Fragile X syndrome: lifespan developmental implications for those without as well as with intellectual disability. Curr Opin Psychiatry 24:387-397.

- Uemura T, Mishina M (2008) The amino-terminal domain of glutamate receptor delta2 triggers presynaptic differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 377:1315-1319.
- Uemura T, Lee SJ, Yasumura M, Takeuchi T, Yoshida T, Ra M, Taguchi R, Sakimura K, Mishina M (2010) Trans-synaptic interaction of GluRdelta2 and Neurexin through Cbln1 mediates synapse formation in the cerebellum. Cell 141:1068-1079.
- Ullian EM, Christopherson KS, Barres BA (2004a) Role for glia in synaptogenesis. Glia 47:209-216.
- Ullian EM, Sapperstein SK, Christopherson KS, Barres BA (2001) Control of synapse number by glia. Science 291:657-661.
- Ullian EM, Harris BT, Wu A, Chan JR, Barres BA (2004b) Schwann cells and astrocytes induce synapse formation by spinal motor neurons in culture. Mol Cell Neurosci 25:241-251.
- Ullrich B, Ushkaryov YA, Sudhof TC (1995) Cartography of neurexins: more than 1000 isoforms generated by alternative splicing and expressed in distinct subsets of neurons. Neuron 14:497-507.
- Umemori H, Linhoff MW, Ornitz DM, Sanes JR (2004) FGF22 and its close relatives are presynaptic organizing molecules in the mammalian brain. Cell 118:257-270.
- Urase K, Soyama A, Fujita E, Momoi T (2001) Expression of RA175 mRNA, a new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, in developing mouse brain. Neuroreport 12:3217-3221.
- Ushkaryov YA, Sudhof TC (1993) Neurexin III alpha: extensive alternative splicing generates membrane-bound and soluble forms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:6410-6414.
- Ushkaryov YA, Petrenko AG, Geppert M, Sudhof TC (1992) Neurexins: synaptic cell surface proteins related to the alpha-latrotoxin receptor and laminin. Science 257:50-56.
- Ushkaryov YA, Hata Y, Ichtchenko K, Moomaw C, Afendis S, Slaughter CA, Sudhof TC (1994) Conserved domain structure of beta-neurexins. Unusual cleaved signal sequences in receptor-like neuronal cell-surface proteins. J Biol Chem 269:11987-11992.
- Valenzuela DM, Stitt TN, DiStefano PS, Rojas E, Mattsson K, Compton DL, Nunez L, Park JS, Stark JL, Gies DR, et al. (1995) Receptor tyrosine kinase specific for the skeletal muscle lineage: expression in embryonic muscle, at the neuromuscular junction, and after injury. Neuron 15:573-584.
- Valnegri P, Montrasio C, Brambilla D, Ko J, Passafaro M, Sala C (2011) The X-linked intellectual disability protein IL1RAPL1 regulates excitatory synapse formation by binding PTPdelta and RhoGAP2. Hum Mol Genet 20:4797-4809.
- van den Pol AN, Spencer DD (2000) Differential neurite growth on astrocyte substrates: interspecies facilitation in green fluorescent protein-transfected rat and human neurons. Neuroscience 95:603-616.
- van Heusden GP (2005) 14-3-3 proteins: regulators of numerous eukaryotic proteins. IUBMB Life 57:623-629.
- Varoqueaux F, Jamain S, Brose N (2004) Neuroligin 2 is exclusively localized to inhibitory synapses. Eur J Cell Biol 83:449-456.

- Varoqueaux F, Aramuni G, Rawson RL, Mohrmann R, Missler M, Gottmann K, Zhang W, Sudhof TC, Brose N (2006) Neuroligins determine synapse maturation and function. Neuron 51:741-754.
- Verkerk AJ, Cath DC, van der Linde HC, Both J, Heutink P, Breedveld G, Aulchenko YS, Oostra BA (2006) Genetic and clinical analysis of a large Dutch Gilles de la Tourette family. Mol Psychiatry 11:954-964.
- Waites CL, Garner CC (2011) Presynaptic function in health and disease. Trends Neurosci 34:326-337.
- Waites CL, Craig AM, Garner CC (2005) Mechanisms of vertebrate synaptogenesis. Annu Rev Neurosci 28:251-274.
- Wakayama T, Ohashi K, Mizuno K, Iseki S (2001) Cloning and characterization of a novel mouse immunoglobulin superfamily gene expressed in early spermatogenic cells. Mol Reprod Dev 60:158-164.
- Walkup JT, LaBuda MC, Singer HS, Brown J, Riddle MA, Hurko O (1996) Family study and segregation analysis of Tourette syndrome: evidence for a mixed model of inheritance. Am J Hum Genet 59:684-693.
- Walsh T et al. (2008) Rare structural variants disrupt multiple genes in neurodevelopmental pathways in schizophrenia. Science 320:539-543.
- Wang CY, Chang K, Petralia RS, Wang YX, Seabold GK, Wenthold RJ (2006) A novel family of adhesion-like molecules that interacts with the NMDA receptor. J Neurosci 26:2174-2183.
- Wang K et al. (2009) Common genetic variants on 5p14.1 associate with autism spectrum disorders. Nature 459:528-533.
- Wang PY, Seabold GK, Wenthold RJ (2008) Synaptic adhesion-like molecules (SALMs) promote neurite outgrowth. Mol Cell Neurosci 39:83-94.
- Wang X, Su H, Bradley A (2002a) Molecular mechanisms governing Pcdh-gamma gene expression: evidence for a multiple promoter and cis-alternative splicing model. Genes Dev 16:1890-1905.
- Wang X, Weiner JA, Levi S, Craig AM, Bradley A, Sanes JR (2002b) Gamma protocadherins are required for survival of spinal interneurons. Neuron 36:843-854.
- Wang X, McCoy PA, Rodriguiz RM, Pan Y, Je HS, Roberts AC, Kim CJ, Berrios J, Colvin JS, Bousquet-Moore D, Lorenzo I, Wu G, Weinberg RJ, Ehlers MD, Philpot BD, Beaudet AL, Wetsel WC, Jiang YH (2011) Synaptic dysfunction and abnormal behaviors in mice lacking major isoforms of Shank3. Hum Mol Genet 20:3093-3108.
- Weatherbee SD, Anderson KV, Niswander LA (2006) LDL-receptor-related protein 4 is crucial for formation of the neuromuscular junction. Development 133:4993-5000.
- Wendland JR, Kruse MR, Murphy DL (2006) Functional SLITRK1 var321, varCDfs and SLC6A4 G56A variants and susceptibility to obsessive-compulsive disorder. Mol Psychiatry 11:802-804.
- Weston C, Gordon C, Teressa G, Hod E, Ren XD, Prives J (2003) Cooperative regulation by Rac and Rho of agrin-induced acetylcholine receptor clustering in muscle cells. J Biol Chem 278:6450-6455.

- Whiteside SP, Port JD, Abramowitz JS (2004) A meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res 132:69-79.
- Whitford KL, Marillat V, Stein E, Goodman CS, Tessier-Lavigne M, Chedotal A, Ghosh A (2002) Regulation of cortical dendrite development by Slit-Robo interactions. Neuron 33:47-61.
- Woo J, Kwon SK, Choi S, Kim S, Lee JR, Dunah AW, Sheng M, Kim E (2009) Transsynaptic adhesion between NGL-3 and LAR regulates the formation of excitatory synapses. Nat Neurosci 12:428-437.
- Wright GJ, Washbourne P (2010) Neurexins, Neuroligins and LRRTMs: synaptic adhesion getting fishy. J Neurochem.
- Wright GJ, Washbourne P (2011) Neurexins, neuroligins and LRRTMs: synaptic adhesion getting fishy. J Neurochem 117:765-778.
- Wu Q, Maniatis T (1999) A striking organization of a large family of human neural cadherin-like cell adhesion genes. Cell 97:779-790.
- Xu B, Woodroffe A, Rodriguez-Murillo L, Roos JL, van Rensburg EJ, Abecasis GR, Gogos JA, Karayiorgou M (2009) Elucidating the genetic architecture of familial schizophrenia using rare copy number variant and linkage scans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:16746-16751.
- Xu D, Hopf C, Reddy R, Cho RW, Guo L, Lanahan A, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ, O'Brien RJ, Worley P (2003) Narp and NP1 form heterocomplexes that function in developmental and activity-dependent synaptic plasticity. Neuron 39:513-528.
- Yagi T, Takeichi M (2000) Cadherin superfamily genes: functions, genomic organization, and neurologic diversity. Genes Dev 14:1169-1180.
- Yamagishi S, Hampel F, Hata K, Del Toro D, Schwark M, Kvachnina E, Bastmeyer M, Yamashita T, Tarabykin V, Klein R, Egea J (2011) FLRT2 and FLRT3 act as repulsive guidance cues for Unc5-positive neurons. EMBO J 30:2920-2933.
- Yamamoto N, Inui K, Matsuyama Y, Harada A, Hanamura K, Murakami F, Ruthazer ES, Rutishauser U, Seki T (2000) Inhibitory mechanism by polysialic acid for lamina-specific branch formation of thalamocortical axons. J Neurosci 20:9145-9151.
- Yan J, Feng J, Schroer R, Li W, Skinner C, Schwartz CE, Cook EH, Jr., Sommer SS (2008) Analysis of the neuroligin 4Y gene in patients with autism. Psychiatr Genet 18:204-207.
- Yang M, Bozdagi O, Scattoni ML, Wohr M, Roullet FI, Katz AM, Abrams DN, Kalikhman D, Simon H, Woldeyohannes L, Zhang JY, Harris MJ, Saxena R, Silverman JL, Buxbaum JD, Crawley JN (2012) Reduced excitatory neurotransmission and mild autism-relevant phenotypes in adolescent Shank3 null mutant mice. J Neurosci 32:6525-6541.
- Yankova M, Hart SA, Woolley CS (2001) Estrogen increases synaptic connectivity between single presynaptic inputs and multiple postsynaptic CA1 pyramidal cells: a serial electron-microscopic study. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:3525-3530.
- Yoshida T, Mishina M (2008) Zebrafish orthologue of mental retardation protein IL1RAPL1 regulates presynaptic differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 39:218-228.
- Yoshida T, Yasumura M, Uemura T, Lee SJ, Ra M, Taguchi R, Iwakura Y, Mishina M (2011) IL-1 receptor accessory protein-like 1 associated with mental retardation

and autism mediates synapse formation by trans-synaptic interaction with protein tyrosine phosphatase delta. J Neurosci 31:13485-13499.

- Yoshida T, Shiroshima T, Lee SJ, Yasumura M, Uemura T, Chen X, Iwakura Y, Mishina M (2012) Interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein organizes neuronal synaptogenesis as a cell adhesion molecule. J Neurosci 32:2588-2600.
- Zhang B, Luo S, Wang Q, Suzuki T, Xiong WC, Mei L (2008a) LRP4 serves as a coreceptor of agrin. Neuron 60:285-297.
- Zhang C, Atasoy D, Arac D, Yang X, Fucillo MV, Robison AJ, Ko J, Brunger AT, Sudhof TC (2010) Neurexins physically and functionally interact with GABA(A) receptors. Neuron 66:403-416.
- Zhang Q, Wang J, Fan S, Wang L, Cao L, Tang K, Peng C, Li Z, Li W, Gan K, Liu Z, Li X, Shen S, Li G (2005a) Expression and functional characterization of LRRC4, a novel brain-specific member of the LRR superfamily. FEBS Lett 579:3674-3682.
- Zhang W, Rohlmann A, Sargsyan V, Aramuni G, Hammer RE, Sudhof TC, Missler M (2005b) Extracellular domains of alpha-neurexins participate in regulating synaptic transmission by selectively affecting N- and P/Q-type Ca2+ channels. J Neurosci 25:4330-4342.
- Zhang W, Rajan I, Savelieva KV, Wang CY, Vogel P, Kelly M, Xu N, Hasson B, Jarman W, Lanthorn TH (2008b) Netrin-G2 and netrin-G2 ligand are both required for normal auditory responsiveness. Genes, brain, and behavior 7:385-392.
- Zhen M, Jin Y (1999) The liprin protein SYD-2 regulates the differentiation of presynaptic termini in C. elegans. Nature 401:371-375.
- Zhiling Y, Fujita E, Tanabe Y, Yamagata T, Momoi T, Momoi MY (2008) Mutations in the gene encoding CADM1 are associated with autism spectrum disorder. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 377:926-929.
- Zimprich A, Hatala K, Riederer F, Stogmann E, Aschauer HN, Stamenkovic M (2008) Sequence analysis of the complete SLITRK1 gene in Austrian patients with Tourette's disorder. Psychiatr Genet 18:308-309.
- Zucchi I, Jones J, Affer M, Montagna C, Redolfi E, Susani L, Vezzoni P, Parvari R, Schlessinger D, Whyte MP, Mumm S (1999) Transcription map of Xq27: candidates for several X-linked diseases. Genomics 57:209-218.
- Zuchner S, Cuccaro ML, Tran-Viet KN, Cope H, Krishnan RR, Pericak-Vance MA, Wright HH, Ashley-Koch A (2006) SLITRK1 mutations in trichotillomania. Mol Psychiatry 11:887-889.